
Page 1 of 1 

 

AGENDA 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION MEETING 
WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 23, 2024 

5:30 PM AT CITY HALL, 220 CLAY STREET 

 

 
 
Call to Order and Roll Call 

Approval of Minutes 

1. Planning and Zoning Commission Regular Meeting Minutes for October 9, 2024 

Public Comments 

Old Business 

2. Rezoning – 2.68 acres located south of 1st Street and 350 ft. east of Winding Ridge Estates 
from A-1 Agriculture to R-P Planned Residence (RZ24-003) 
Petitioner: ME Associates, Owner; VJ Engineering, Project Engineer 
Previous discussion: October 9, 2024 
Recommendation: Discuss and provide direction 
P&Z Action: Discuss and provide direction; continue the hearing to November 6 

3. R-P District Master Plan Amendment – Meadow Ridge (MP24-004x) 
Petitioner: ME Associates, Owner; VJ Engineering, Project Engineer  
Previous discussion: October 9, 2024 
Recommendation: Discuss and provide direction 
P&Z Action: Discuss and provide direction; continue to November 6 (cannot be approved before the 
previous rezoning item) 

New Business 

4. Petition to Renew the College Hill Self Supporting Municipal Improvement District (SSMID) 
Location: College Hill Business District  
Applicant: College Hill Partnership 
Previous discussion: None 
Recommendation: Recommend Approval 
P&Z Action: Review and make a recommendation to City Council 

Commission Updates 

Adjournment 

Reminders: 

*   November 6 and November 20 - Planning & Zoning Commission Meetings 
*   November 4 and November 18 - City Council Meetings 

1



 1 

Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning Commission 
Regular Meeting 
October 9, 2024 

Cedar Falls, Iowa 
 

MINUTES 
 

The Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning Commission met in regular session on October 9, 2024 at 5:30 
p.m. at City Hall. The following Commission members were present: Alberhasky, Grybovych, Hartley, 
Henderson, Johnson, Moser, Sorensen and Stalnaker. Watkins was absent. Karen Howard, Planning 
and Community Services Manager, Thomas Weintraut, Planner III, Jaydevsinh Atodaria, Planner II, 
and Chris Sevy, Planner II were also present.  
 
1.) Chair Hartley noted the Minutes from the September 25, 2024 regular meeting are presented. 

Alberhasky made a motion to approve the Minutes as presented. Sorensen seconded the 
motion. The motion was approved unanimously with 8 ayes (Alberhasky, Grybovych, Hartley, 
Henderson, Johnson, Moser, Sorensen and Stalnaker), and 0 nays.  

 
 Ms. Howard clarified a typographical error in the agenda, noting that the public hearing date 

for item number five should be October 23 instead of October 9. 
 
2.) The first item of business was the vacation of a utility easement at 1907 Valley High Drive 

(VAC24-002). Chair Hartley introduced the item and Mr. Sevy provided background 
information. He explained that the property owner would like to vacate a five-foot-wide utility 
easement that divides their property at 1907 Valley High Drive. They would like to construct a 
raised deck over the utility easement. He discussed the factors that need to be considered, 
including whether the easement is needed for public use, whether it is needed for access to 
other easements and utility lines and if there are utilities within the easement that will need to 
be retained. As the criteria is met for this request, staff recommends approval. 

 
 Sorensen made a motion to approve the item. Grybovych seconded the motion. The motion 

was approved unanimously with 8 ayes (Alberhasky, Grybovych, Hartley, Henderson, 
Johnson, Moser, Sorensen and Stalnaker), and 0 nays. 

 
3.) The next item for consideration by the Commission was a PC-2 District Site Plan Amendment 

for 924 West Viking Road (SP24-00x). Chair Hartley introduced the item and Mr. Atodaria 
provided background information. He explained that it is proposed to amend the PC-2 district 
site plan to allow an already constructed retaining wall to remain on-site and bring the site into 
compliance with City Code requirements. During the construction, a 9 ft. high retaining wall 
was constructed to create a level soccer field, as there was not enough room to create a 
gradual slope. A minimum 42-inch guardrail/fence will be added 21 feet north of the retaining 
wall to comply with building code, as well as the addition of Austrian pine trees between the 
fence and retaining wall for a more substantial buffer. 

 
 Staff recommends approval of the proposed PC-2 site plan amendment subject to any 

comments or direction from the Commission. 
 
 Alberhasky made a motion to approve the item. Sorensen seconded the motion. The motion 

was approved unanimously with 8 ayes (Alberhasky, Grybovych, Hartley, Henderson, 
Johnson, Moser, Sorensen and Stalnaker), and 0 nays. 

 
4.) The next item for consideration by the Commission was and R-P District Master Plan 

Amendment and Site Plan for the Cedar Falls Bible Conference Building Addition (SP24-003). 

2

Item 1.



 2 

Chair Hartley introduced the item and Mr. Atodaria provided background information. He 
explained that the proposal is to amend the RP Master plan to reflect existing development 
and a proposed new building addition, as well as approve a site plan for a new event center. 
He explained that the property was originally part of the Riverview Park subdivision that was 
platted in 1920. In 1987 it was rezoned from R-2 to RP with a Master Plan and a 
Developmental Procedures Agreement. Many of the anticipated changes on the Master Plan 
have not been realized and the site has remained mostly unchanged. Any significant future 
development on the campus will require another amendment of the Master Plan and a detailed 
site plan review. Mr. Atodaria discussed the proposed master plan that shows existing 
development on campus and the proposed new building addition. 

 
 Mr. Atodaria discussed the proposed building addition, as well as the parking requirements, 

the stormwater detention facility and the proposed building design. Staff recommends approval 
subject to any comments or direction by the Commission. Johnson asked about the parking 
and the walking distances, and Moser asked about the ability to accommodate large groups.  

 
Dan Levi, Levi Architecture, explained that it is an unusual site and that while there are two 
events each year that draw large numbers of people, typically that is not the case. For the 
large events, the parking will be extended throughout some of the greenspace and graveled 
areas. Typical usage entails people renting out the cabins, which have parking with each unit. 
However, when there are larger events there is a cart that shuttles people to the event center 
who are parked further away.   

 
 Cody Haman, 625 Baker Drive, spoke about the parking during the larger events and how 

people park on both sides of the road on North Division and South Park, making it nearly 
impossible to traverse those roads. He stated that some of those problems could be alleviated 
by adding no parking signs.  

 
 Moser asked if it should be a recommendation to have public safety direct traffic. Ms. Howard 

stated that as a private entity, this is something that Riverview Ministries should take into 
account and reach out to the City to coordinate the necessary traffic control measures during 
the large events.  

 
 Sorensen made a motion to approve the item. Alberhasky seconded the motion. The motion 

was approved unanimously with 8 ayes (Alberhasky, Grybovych, Hartley, Henderson, 
Johnson, Moser, Sorensen and Stalnaker), and 0 nays. 

 
5.) The next item for consideration by the Commission was a rezoning request for 2.68 acres 

located south of 1st Street and 350 ft. east of Winding Ridge Estates from A-1 Agriculture to R-
P Planned Residence (RZ24-003). Chair Hartley introduced the item and Mr. Weintraut 
provided background information. He explained that the property is currently zoned A-1 
Agriculture. The Future Land Use Map shows the area as a Medium Density Residential. The 
site is in an area that has access to public service, however a subdivision would be required to 
extend the water and sewer into the development site. The rezoning site does not have access 
to a public street, so a subdivision would be required to establish right-of-way for the extension 
of Lake Ridge Drive to the south property line.  

 
 An easement plat and agreement will need to be prepared and agreed upon for the area 

where the extension of Lake Ridge Drive is to be extended before the rezoning can be set for 
a public hearing. A final draft of a developmental procedures agreement for the R-P District, 
including provisions for the construction of Lake Ridge Drive, will need to be prepared and 
agreed upon before the rezoning can be set for public hearing as well. A subdivision will need 
to be required to divide the R-P portion of the property from the A-1 portion to the north, to 

3

Item 1.



 3 

establish Lake Ridge Drive and the necessary utilities to support the development of the 
Meadow Ridge development. 

 
 Staff recommends gathering any comments from the Commission and setting a date for public 

hearing for the rezoning request at the next Commission meeting on October 23, 2024. 
 
 Mr. Weintraut spoke then about the R-P District Master Plan Amendment and for Meadow 

Ridge (MP24-004x), explaining that the proposal is to amend the plan to allow for commercial 
at the north end of the property and build seven multi-unit buildings on the site. He discussed 
the proposed setbacks, buffers, and the gazebos amenities that will be placed in the area. He 
noted the wetland areas and stream corridor on the site. He noted that the applicant has 
received a Army Corps of Engineers permit to mitigate for the loss of wetlands and stream 
corridor that will be caused by the development. He also showed a rendering of what the 
buildings will look like. Mr. Weintraut then discussed the next steps necessary to develop the 
property. A subdivision will be required to combine the property with the property rezoned from 
the A-1 to R-P to the north and establish the right-of-way for Lake Ridge Drive, which must be 
constructed from 1st Street to the southern boundary of the property prior to development of 
the subject property. Detailed site plans will also be required prior to development on the R-P 
site and must be reviewed and approved by the Commission and City Council. 

 
 Staff recommends gathering comments from the Commission and continuing the discussion at 

the next Planning and Zoning meeting on October 23, 2024, the recommended date for the 
public hearing for the rezoning from A-1 Agriculture to R-P Planned Residential. Mr. Weintraut 
answered Commission questions.  

 
 Wendell Lupkes, VJ Engineering, spoke as the project engineer and noted that their company 

has been affiliated with this project since 1996. He explained the three different kinds of 
wetlands on the property and that they are all being addressed. He spoke about the section of 
the City’s subdivision code that protects wetlands but also offers an opportunity to mitigate 
them if they are deemed of lesser quality. He also discussed chronological wetland 
delineations and displayed a rendering showing how the wetland areas had reduced in size 
over the years. He explained how this is an unusual case and why it may call for exceptions 
and allowance for mitigation.  

 
 Tom Nagle, 328 Winding Ridge Road, stated he would like to see a copy of the 2020 traffic 

study and asked about whether the pandemic could have an effect on the numbers. There was 
also a question about the school district and whether the school boundaries may be shifted to 
accommodate schools to avoid overcrowding. Nagle also asked about the wetlands and noted 
concerns with runoff, as well as the water assessment at Birdsall Creek. Nagle asked if the 
density is potentially too much.  

 
 Taner Tuken, 218 Winding Ridge Road, provided perspective on the density between the 

current neighborhood and the proposed neighborhood and feels there should be a better 
transition between high and low density. He asked a question about how the density is 
calculated. Ms. Howard explained.  

 
 Mark Boss, 810 Juanita Avenue, noted concerns with water runoff and worries about sediment 

in their neighborhood lake. Lupkes explained that there will be a detention basin that will 
detain runoff from Lake Ridge Drive and the development site. The runoff from south of the 
property will continue to run through as usual as they are not allowed to touch the stream, 
except where they have permission to cross it per the Army Corps permit.  

 
 Genevieve Shafer, 602 Oak Park Boulevard, stated concerns with stormwater runoff. Shafer 

also noted concerns with the crossings on 1st Street and how pedestrians and students will be 

4

Item 1.



 4 

affected by additional traffic. Shafer also asked about a housing needs assessment to 
determine if that much added housing is needed.  

 
 Pete Rhee, 3105 Northridge, echoed what the previous commenters voiced and added that his 

concern with the aesthetics and their effect on the neighborhood. Rhee asked about the rent 
level of the proposed housing and details of the buffer on the west side of the property.  

 
 Cameron Lee, 220 Winding Ridge Road, stated concerns about the water and elevation 

change, and a three story building overlooking his yard. 
 
 Atul Patel, 307 Winding Ridge Road, feels there is a loss of quality of life and too much density 

and loss of community aesthetics and noted that there needs to be better transition between 
the neighborhoods.  

 
 Lupkes shared final comments, noting that the RP zoning has been in place since 2003 and 

the area has always been set aside for this type of development and the current property 
owners have relied on the zoning for that area when they purchased their properties. 

 
 Hartley made a motion to set a public hearing for the rezoning. Alberhasky seconded the 

motion. The motion was approved unanimously with 8 ayes (Alberhasky, Grybovych, Hartley, 
Henderson, Johnson, Moser, Sorensen and Stalnaker), and 0 nays. 

 
6.) Ms. Howard noted that the November and December meetings have been changed to the first 

and third Wednesdays to accommodate holidays. 
 
7.) As there were no further comments, Sorensen made a motion to adjourn. Alberhasky  

seconded the motion. The motion was approved unanimously with 8 ayes (Alberhasky, 
Grybovych, Hartley, Henderson, Johnson, Moser, Sorensen and Stalnaker), and 0 nays. 

 
The meeting adjourned at 7:05 p.m. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
Karen Howard       Joanne Goodrich  
Community Services Manager    Administrative Assistant 
 

5

Item 1.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
             TO: Planning & Zoning Commission 

 FROM: Thom Weintraut, AICP, Planner III 

 DATE: October 23, 2024 

 SUBJECT: Rezoning Request, W 1st Street (RZ24-003)   
 

 
REQUEST: 
 

Rezone property from A-1 Agriculture District to R-P Planned Residence 
District. 
 

PETITIONER: 
 

ME Associates, Applicant & Owner; VJ Engineering, Project Engineer 
 

LOCATION: 
 

South side of W 1st Street, 350 feet east of Winding Ridge Estates  
 

 

 
 
PROPOSAL 
The proposal is to rezone a 2.68 acres parcel owned by ME Associates located 350 feet east 
of Winding Ridge Estates and 450 feet south of W 1st Street from A-1 Agriculture District to    
R-P Planned Residence District. 
 
BACKGROUND 
The property was annexed into Cedar Falls in 1971 and was zoned to A-1 Agriculture District 
by default. In 2005, Thunder Ridge Development Corporation purchased the property from the 
Fluidyne Corporation. The current owners, ME Associates, have owned the property since 
2019. 
 
The property to the south and west of this parcel owned by ME Associates has been zoned   
R-P Planned Residence District since 1994. ME Associates would like to rezone the portion of 
the property labeled as “site” on the next page from A-1 Agriculture to R-P and incorporate it 
with the adjacent R-P property for development. This proposal is tied to a request for an 
amendment to an approved R-P Master Plan for Meadow Ridge, which is described in a 
separate staff report under case number MP24-004.  
 
 
                      
 

6

Item 2.



ANALYSIS 
 
CURRENT ZONING 
The purpose of the A-1 Agriculture 
District is to act as a “holding zone” 
in areas of the city that are 
undeveloped and not served by 
essential municipal services. 
 
PROPOSED ZONING 
The purpose of the R-P Planned 
Residence District is to permit 
integrated multi-use residential 
neighborhoods and to provide for 
orderly planned growth of residential 
developments on larger tracts of 
land. It is also intended that such R-
P Planned Districts be designed 
with recognized principals of civic 
design, land use planning and 
landscape architecture. An R-P 
District requires approval of a 
master plan. The R-P Plan will be discussed in a separate staff report under Case #MP24-004.  
 
 
COMPLIANCE WITH THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
The Future Land Use Map in the 2012 Comprehensive Plan identifies this parcel as “Medium 
Density Residential,” a designation that emphasizes a mixture of housing types. It indicates 
that limited multi-family development may be permitted with special review and criteria, such 
as through a planned development, such as the Planned Residential District. Residential 
density typically ranges between 4 to 12 units per acre.  
 
If the rezoning to R-P is approved and the R-P Master Plan amendment is approved the 
proposed project will have 11.2 units per acre, which is less than the current approved R-P 
plan density of 14.4 units per acre. Staff notes that the original R-P District was approved in 
1994 long before the 2012 Comprehensive Plan was adopted and prior to development of the 
single family neighborhood to the west.   
 
ACCESS TO PUBLIC SERVICES 
The property is in a developed area of the city and has access to public services; however, 
public sewer is only available to the northwest corner of the property along W 1st Street. Water 
and sewer lines will be constructed as part of the Lake View Drive extension. A subdivision is 
the next step in the development process and will be required to establish the street corridor 
and the right-of-way for the installation of public sewer and water. It will also be required to 
separate the R-P zoned property from the remaining portion of the A-1 parcel. The developer 
has provided plans for the extension of the utilities as part of the street extension. To support 
the rezoning of this property and to provide for adequate utilities, the developer proposes 
establishing an easement in favor of the City of Cedar Falls that will encompass the land 
necessary for the right-of-way for the extension of Lake Ridge Drive and associated utilities.  
 

7

Item 2.



ACCESS TO ADEQUATE STREET NETWORK 

The larger R-P property fronts on the south side of W 1st Street, but there is no direct access 
proposed to 1st Street. The parcel to be rezoned does not have access to a public street. The 
developer has provided plans for the construction of an extension of Lake Ridge Drive to serve 
this development; however, the proposed alignment of the street is split between this R-P zoned 
property and the undeveloped property to the east. As mentioned above, a subdivision will be 
required to establish adequate right-of-way for the street extension. To ensure that that 
adequate ROW is set aside for construction of this roadway to support the rezoning of this 
property to R-P, the applicant proposes to establish an easement in favor of the City of Cedar 
Falls. Development of the R-P land will be contingent on the developer constructing this street 
extension. 

PUBLIC NOTICE 
City staff mailed letters to the surrounding property owners notifying them of the rezoning 
request on September 17 and 19, 2024.  
 
TECHNICAL COMMENTS 
 

1. A subdivision will be required to divide the R-P portion of the property from the A-1 
portion to the north and to combine it with the R-P property to the west.  

2. An easement plat and agreement will need to be prepared and agreed upon for the area 
where the extension of Lake Ridge Drive is to be extended before the rezoning can be 
set for a public hearing at City Council. 

3. A final draft of a developmental procedures agreement for the R-P District, including 
provisions for the construction of Lake Ridge Drive, will need to be prepared and agreed 
upon before the rezoning can be set for a public hearing at City Council. 

 
Cedar Falls Utilities 
 
Water, electric, gas, and communications utility services are available in accordance with the 
service policies of CFU. The developer is responsible for the construction of a properly sized 
water system throughout the proposed addition from the existing 12” water main on W 1st 
Street and the existing 8” water main on Whitetail Drive.  The water system within the property 
will be privately owned and maintained while the water main along Lake Ridge Drive will be 
publicly owned and maintained.  Included in the installation are valves, fire hydrants and water 
service stubs for the new lots. The developer will need to make refundable investments for the 
installation of the electric and gas utilities to and throughout the addition. For a ten-year period 
after the installation, CFU will refund a portion of the refundable investment based upon the 
number of new service connections to the electric and gas distribution system.  There is no 
interest paid on the refundable investment and the total refund will not exceed the original 
investment amount. Total refund of the electric refundable investment is unlikely due to the 
large cost increases in electrical equipment.  CFU will install the communication utility to serve 
the addition. See attached Developer Information Sheet for detailed information regarding utility 
installations. 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Due to several outstanding questions from the Planning and Zoning Commission and the 
public regarding the site layout, stormwater management, and the wetland mitigation process, 

8

Item 2.



associated with the rezoning and the associated RP Master Plan amendment, staff 
recommends gathering additional information and continuing the public hearing to the next 
meeting or to a future date certain.  
 
OUTSTANDING QUESTIONS 
 
Below is the list of comments and concerns regarding the RP Master Plan Amendment. 
 
The Planning and Zoning Commission and public requested an opportunity to review the traffic 
study and documentation related to the Army Corps of Engineers permit that allows for 
mitigating for the disturbance of a portion of the wetlands and stream corridor. In addition, 
there were several questions and comments from the Planning and Zoning Commission and 
the public that should be further addressed by the applicant. Since the rezoning to R-P 
includes approval of an associated master plan, any outstanding questions related to the 
master plan should be addressed to the satisfaction of the Planning and Zoning Commission 
prior to making a recommendation on the rezoning. These questions include:  

 Does the new high school have an effect on traffic patterns that should be taken into 
account with the traffic study? 

 Were the wetlands deemed to be a lesser quality?  

 Will the reduction in wetlands impact the water quality and the flow of water from the 
upstream area? 

 Will the large amount of impervious surface impact the water quality of the watershed? 

 Can greater details be provided for the landscaping within the buffer areas?  

 Can more details on the change in grade and placement of the buildings along the 
Winding Ridge Estates be provided? 

 
 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
Introduction 
10/9/2024 

Chair Hartley introduced the item and Mr. Weintraut provided background 
information. He explained that the property is currently zoned A-1 Agriculture. 
The Future Land Use Map shows the area as a Medium Density Residential. The 
site is in an area that has access to public service, however a subdivision would 
be required to extend the water and sewer into the development site. The 
rezoning site does not have access to a public street, so a subdivision would be 
required to establish right-of-way for the extension of Lake Ridge Drive to the 
south property line.  
 
 An easement plat and agreement will need to be prepared and agreed upon for 
the area where the extension of Lake Ridge Drive is to be extended before the 
rezoning can be set for a public hearing. A final draft of a developmental 
procedures agreement for the R-P District, including provisions for the 
construction of Lake Ridge Drive, will need to be prepared and agreed upon 
before the rezoning can be set for public hearing as well. A subdivision will need 
to be required to divide the R-P portion of the property from the A-1 portion to the 
north, to establish Lake Ridge Drive and the necessary utilities to support the 
development of the Meadow Ridge development. 
 

9

Item 2.



 Staff recommends gathering any comments from the Commission and setting a 
date for public hearing for the rezoning request at the next Commission meeting 
on October 23, 2024. 
 

Attachments: Location Map 
  Rezoning request letter 
  Legal Description 
  Rezoning Exhibit 
  Public Correspondence 

   

10

Item 2.



Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning Commission

October 23, 2024

Location 

Map

Meadow Ridge Rezoning and R-P 

Master Plan Amendment

W 1st

R-1

R-P

A-1 
to
R-P

R-1

A-1

S-1

R-P

11

Item 2.



12

Item 2.



A-1 to R-P Rezone  

Legal Description 

The East 300 feet of the North 724 feet of the NW 1/4 of the NE 1/4 of 

Section No. 10, Township 89 North, Range 14 West of the 5th P.M., In 

Cedar Falls, Black Hawk County, Iowa, except the North 335 feet thereof. 

13

Item 2.



14

Item 2.



15

Item 2.



16

Item 2.



17

Item 2.



18

Item 2.



19

Item 2.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
             TO: Planning & Zoning Commission 

 FROM: Thom Weintraut, AICP, Planner III 

 DATE: October 23, 2024 

 SUBJECT: R-P District Master Plan Amendment for Meadow Ridge (MP24-004x)  
 

 
REQUEST: 
 

To Amend the Planned Residence District (R-P) Master Plan for Meadow 
Ridge. 
 

PETITIONER: 
 

ME Associates LLC, Applicant & Owner; VJ Engineering, Project Engineer 
 

LOCATION: 
 

South side of W 1st Street, east of Winding Ridge Estates  
 

 

 
PROPOSAL 
The proposal is to amend an R-P Master Plan that was approved August 8, 1994. The 
amendment includes adding 2.68 acres to the R-P Master Plan (see RZ24-003), reconfiguring 
the layout of the site to better address the environmental features, and allowing for a future 
professional or medical office use to the area abutting W 1st Street.  The project will require the 
extension of Lake Ridge Drive from W 1st Street to the southern property line to provide 
adequate street access.   
 
BACKGROUND 
The property was annexed into Cedar Falls in 1971. In 1979, the property was rezoned to S-1 
Shopping Center District along with the area to the east (Thunder Ridge) up to Magnolia Drive. 
In 1992, the Dial Companies and Thunder Ridge Limited Partnership submitted plans for a 
major shopping mall on the property to the east and a 216-unit multi-family residential plan for 
this area.  The Planning and Zoning Commission approved the plan, but the proposal did not 
receive City Council approval due to unsuccessful attempts to structure an acceptable 
developmental procedures agreement. 
 
In 1996, a request to rezone this parcel to R-P Planned Resident District was approved for 
Lake View Apartments (since renamed to Meadow Ridge Development) containing 9 three-
story buildings with a total of 216 units on 15 acres. The access to the site was to be provided 
by an extension of what was then known as Lakeview Drive from the south property boundary 
to the entrance and there was no access to be provided from W 1st Street. A copy of that plan 
is shown below and larger copy of the of the 1994 R-P Site Plan is attached with the packet. 

20

Item 3.



 

 
 
In 2019, ME Associates, LLC acquired this property along with the remaining holdings of 
Thunder Ridge Development, LLC which included the Fluidyne properties. In 2021, ME 
Associates, LLC, brought forth a proposal to rezone the S-1 Shopping Center District property 
and the former Fluidyne properties to PC-2 Planned Commercial District. This request was 
never approved by City Council due to issues associated with the Lake Ridge Drive extension 
and the phasing of the development. 
 
ANALYSIS 
The  R-P Master 
Plan, approved in  
1994, included 
216 dwelling units 
within 8 multi-unit 
buildings with a 
density of 14.4 
units/acre. The 
proposed 
amendment to 
the master plan 
includes 207 
dwelling units 
within 7 buildings, 
with a total 
density of  11.2 
units/acres, a 
reduction in both 
units and density.  

21

Item 3.



 
 
 
This plan amendment incorporates an office use located at the northwest corner of the 
development. The R-P Planned Residence District allows no more than 15 percent of a 
planned residence district to be used for commercial purposes. The proposal shows an area of 
2.33 acres or 13.3 percent of the development. In addition, no permit for a commercial building 
can be issued until 25 percent of the district has been developed for residential use. The 
commercial site will be accessed from a private street that will be internal to the proposed 
development and will align with a proposed future extension of Whitetail Drive. Staff notes that 
this private street extension should be built to SUDAS standards and include sidewalks on 
both sides of the street, since it will carry traffic for both the multi-family development and 
commercial development. The plan shows a conceptual footprint for an office building with 
associated parking area located toward the eastern edge of the development leaving the 
western half as undisturbed wetland and natural area.  This will provide a buffer between the 
office building and Winding Ridge Estates.  When a more detailed site plan is submitted for 
development of the commercial building, a significant buffer should be maintained with 
adequate landscaping to screen parking areas and commercial activity.  
 
The purpose of the R-P Planned Residence District is to permit integrated multiuse residential 
neighborhoods and to provide for orderly planned growth of residential developments on larger 
tracts of land. It is also intended that such the R-P Planned Districts be designed with 
recognized principals of civic design, land use planning and landscape architecture. The 
following analysis compares the revised plan to the previously approved plan with regard to 
protection of sensitive environmental areas, stormwater management, traffic and pedestrian 
circulation, and proposed amenity space to support the future residents of the development.  
 
Residential Density and Perimeter Setback Requirements 
The R-P Planned Residence District uses the R-4 Residence District for development 
standards such as density and setbacks. The R-4 Residence District standards require a 
minimum of 850 square feet or lot area per unit. This proposal is well below the maximum 
density allowed in the R-D District.  
 
In addition, the 2012 Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map show this property as 
Medium Density Residential which limits the density to no more than 12 units per acre. The 
proposal has a density of 11.2 units. The previous R-P Plan, approved in 1994, approved a 
density of 14.7 units per acre. 
 
The R-P District also requires a buffer of open space or screening based on the required yards 
in the R-4 District. These buffers shall not contain any structures or hard surfaces.  Below are 
the buffer standards: 

 20 feet for front yards - W 1st Street and Lake Ridge Drive.  

 15 feet for side yards – property to the south. 

 35 feet for rear yards – Winding Ridge Estates. 
 

The developer meets the minimum buffers as required. Staff notes that the previously 
approved R-P plan indicates a 15-foot buffer around the entire site.  
 
 

22

Item 3.



Sensitive Environmental Areas 
There are delineated wetland areas shown on the site plan that will be impacted by the 
development and stormwater facilities. The U. S. Army Corps of Engineers have reviewed and 
approved a mitigation plan for 1.8 acres of wetland and 0.06 acres of stream area that will be 
removed so the land can be developed. The mitigation plan requires the developer to purchase 
1.8 acres of wetland credits and 1,481 stream credits from an approved wetland and stream 
mitigation bank in the service area of the impacts. Even though the wetlands will be removed, 
a stream channel will be maintained as a natural drainageway through the property. When the 
subdivision plat and detailed site plans are submitted for review, this stream channel and an 
appropriate buffer must be identified with details on how this area will be protected over time 
through a conservation easement.  In addition, any remaining wetlands must be set aside in a 
separate tract and measures for protection established through a conservation easement.  
 
Stormwater Management 
The areas shown on the master plan are preliminary calculations based on the proposed 
design. A detailed stormwater management plan must be provided with the preliminary plat, 
and if any major changes to the site layout are required to meet the stormwater regulations, 
the master plan will need to be amended again with review and approval by Planning and 
Zoning and City Council. 
 
Traffic and Pedestrian Circulation 
Development of the property requires the 
construction of Lake Ridge Drive from W 1st 
Street to the southern boundary of the 
development site to provide adequate public 
street access. The developmental procedures 
agreement required for the R-P District Plan 
will address the necessary platting and 
construction of the road infrastructure 
necessary to support this development. The 
developer has not decided on whether the 
development will be completed in phases. 
Regardless, a preliminary and final plat and 
construction of Lake Ridge Drive to the 
southern boundary of the site and extension 
of associated utilities will be required prior to 
approval of any building permits for 
development on the R-P site.  The timing of 
these processes and construction of the 
street will be included in the developmental 
procedures agreement.   
 
The access to the development will be provided by three private drives that connect to Lake 
Ridge Drive. There are two internal access drives that will cross the stream channel. These 
crossings are included in the stream mitigation plan. In addition to the above-mentioned 
access points there is a single parking lot with the entrance connecting to Lake Ridge Drive.  
 
An internal network of sidewalks will be required throughout the site to provide access for 
pedestrians to and between buildings, to parking areas, to amenities and connections to public 
sidewalks. The developer has provided a preliminary plan for sidewalks, but it is not complete 

23

Item 3.



as details like entrances to buildings and specific routes will not be determined until detailed 
building and site plans are submitted.  Staff notes some issues with how the sidewalks are 
currently shown, but these can be addressed at site plan review.  For example, sidewalks are 
on the perimeter of the building sites and not providing clear pedestrian crossings to and 
between the buildings. For instance, on the image to the right, there is a sidewalk shown along 
the north side of the south entrance from Lake Ridge Drive, but there is no clear pedestrian 
connection to the building site to the west. There is also no sidewalk shown along the north 
side of the private drive. All sidewalks and paths will need to conform with ADA standards and 
will be reviewed with the site plan(s). 
 
Open Space and Amenities 
The proposal shows landscape buffering along the west side of the site that abuts Winding 
Ridge Estates. The number of plantings appears to be adequate; however, no specific details 
have been provided on the plantings. Staff would recommend that the buffer opposite of the 
parking areas and garages be planted with evergreen trees to provide both privacy and noise 
reduction for those areas. The area where the proposed office use is shown will have buffering 
provided by the undisturbed wetland area. Robust landscaping in the buffer along the southern 
boundary of the site should also be provided, since the area to the south is platted but not yet 
developed for lower density residential buildings (1-4 dwelling units per building).  
 
Character of the Development 
The proposal features three-story buildings, which are designed with a mixture of brick, EIFS, 
and cement board siding for cladding and accents with metal awnings and canopies and flat 
roofs. The building has alternating bays that project where balconies are located and at the 
main entrances. The developer has provided architectural renderings of the proposed buildings 
which are included in your packet. One of those renderings is shown below. The detailed 
building designs will be reviewed with the site plans, which will require P&Z and Council review 
and approval.   

 
  
Summary  
The proposed amendments to the approved R-P plan include a reconfiguration of the layout of 
the buildings and the drives in order to better address the environmentally sensitive areas of 
the site.  The amended plan is reduced in overall residential density and the wider buffer areas 
and enhanced landscaping will provide a good transition between the lower density residential 
areas to the west and south.  Once Lake Ridge Drive is constructed, the site will have good 
access to public streets. If the area to the east is developed with neighborhood-serving 

24

Item 3.



commercial uses as anticipated, the future residents of this development will have goods and 
services within walking distance. The recently completed housing needs study indicates a 
need for a variety of housing types throughout the community to meet current and future 
needs. Construction of Lake Ridge Drive will open up possibilities for additional development 
to the south and east.   
 
Staff notes that the amended R-P Master Plan cannot be approved until the rezoning of that 
portion of the proposed development still zoned as A-1 Agriculture District is approved. 
 
PUBLIC NOTICE 
City staff mailed letters to the surrounding property owners on September 17 and 19, 2024, 
notifying them of the R-P Master Plan amendment request.  
 
TECHNICAL COMMENTS 
Many of the technical issues will be addressed with the subdivision platting process and the 
developmental procedures agreement, while others are items that will need to be shown in 
more detail on the site plans when they are submitted for review. Again, this amendment to the 
R-P Master Plan is contingent on approval of the rezoning, which is detailed in a separate staff 
report under case #RZ24-003. Conditions of approval that will need to be addressed in the 
developmental procedures agreement, include: 
 

1. A subdivision will be required to combine this property with the property rezoned from 
the A-1 to R-P (RZ24-003) to the north and to establish the ROW for Lake Ridge Drive, 
which must be constructed from 1st Street to the southern boundary of the property prior 
to development of the subject property.  

 
2. The existing water and sewer lines will need to be reconstructed during the Lake Ridge 

Drive construction and new easements will need to be established.  The existing utilities 
will need to be disconnected and removed from the existing easements (see additional 
comments by CFU). This should include the details on the timing of the infrastructure 
connections.  
 

3. Detailed site plans will be required prior to development on the R-P site and must be 
reviewed and approved by the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council.  
 
 

The following are comments from CFU. 
  

Cedar Falls Utilities (CFU) has reviewed the RP amendment for Meadow Ridge and has 
no objections. There are existing water, electric, gas, and communication utilities that will 
need to be relocated at Developer expense to facilitate the connection of Lake Ridge 
Drive to W 1st Street. 12’ water mains will need to be installed on Lake Ridge, the stubs 
laying west for the new development, and the water connecting to the existing 12’ main at 
the west side of Thunder Ridge. Valving and hydrant locations will be finalized with the 
submitted construction plans. 
 
Water, electric, gas, and communications utility services are available in accordance with 
the service policies of CFU. The developer is responsible for the construction of a 
properly sized water system throughout the proposed addition from the existing 12” water 
main on W 1st Street and the existing 8” water main on Whitetail Drive. The water system 

25

Item 3.



within the property will be privately owned and maintained while the water main along 
Lake Ridge Drive will be publicly owned and maintained. Included in the installation are 
valves, fire hydrants and water service stubs for the new lots. The developer will need to 
make refundable investments for the installation of the electric and gas utilities to and 
throughout the addition. For a ten-year period after the installation, CFU will refund a 
portion of the refundable investment based upon the number of new service connections 
to the electric and gas distribution system. There is no interest paid on the refundable 
investment and the total refund will not exceed the original investment amount. Total 
refund of the electric refundable investment is unlikely due to the large cost increases in 
electrical equipment. CFU will install the communication utility to serve the addition.  

  
OUTSTANDING QUESTIONS 
At the October 9th meeting, the Planning and Zoning Commission and public requested an 
opportunity to review the traffic study and documentation related to the Army Corps of 
Engineers permit that allows for mitigating for the disturbance of a portion of the wetlands and 
stream corridors. This documentation was shared in this meeting packet (October 23, 2024). In 
addition, there were several questions and comments from the Planning and Zoning 
Commission and the public that should be further addressed by the applicant.  

 Does the new high school have an effect on traffic patterns that should be taken into 
account with the traffic study? 

 Were the wetlands deemed to be a lesser quality?  

 Will the reduction in wetlands impact the water quality and the flow of water from the 
upstream area? 

 Will the large amount of impervious surface impact the water quality of the watershed? 

 Can greater details be provided for the landscaping within the buffer areas?  

 Can more details on the change in grade and placement of the buildings along the 
Winding Ridge Estates be provided? 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Due to several outstanding questions from the Planning and Zoning Commission and the 
public regarding the site layout, stormwater management, and the wetland mitigation process, 
staff recommends gathering more information and continuing the discussion to the next 
meeting or to a future date certain. 
 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
Introduction 
10/9/2024 

Mr. Weintraut spoke then about the R-P District Master Plan Amendment and for 
Meadow Ridge (MP24-004x), explaining that the proposal is to amend the plan 
to allow for commercial at the north end of the property and build seven units on 
the site. He discussed the proposed setbacks, buffers, and the gazebos 
amenities that will be placed in the area. He noted the wetland areas on the site 
and showed a rendering of what the buildings will look like. Mr. Weintraut then 
discussed the next steps necessary to develop the property. A subdivision will 
be required to combine the property with the property rezoned from the A-1 to R-
P to the north and establish the right-of-way for Lake Ridge Drive, which must be 
constructed from 1st Street to the southern boundary of the property prior to 
development of the subject property. Detailed site plans will also be required 
prior to development on the R-P site and must be reviewed and approved by the 
Commission and City Council. 
 

26

Item 3.



 Staff recommends gathering comments from the Commission and continuing the 
discussion at the next Planning and Zoning meeting on October 23, 2024, the 
recommended date for the public hearing for the rezoning from A-1 Agriculture 
to R-P Planned Residential. Mr. Weintraut answered Commission questions and 
then gave the public to comment and ask questions. 
 
 Wendell Lupkes, VJ Engineering, spoke as the project engineer and noted that 
their company has been affiliated with this project since 1996. He explained the 
three different kinds of wetlands on the property and that they are all being 
addressed. He spoke about the section of the code that protects wetlands but 
also offers an occasional chance to mitigate them. He also discussed 
chronological wetland delineations and displayed a rendering showing the 
different stages at different times. He explained how this is an unusual case and 
why it may call for exceptions.  
 
 Tom Nagle, 328 Winding Ridge Road, stated he would like to see a copy of the 
2020 traffic study and asked about whether the pandemic could have an effect 
on the numbers. There was also a question about the school district and 
whether the school boundaries may be shifted to accommodate schools to avoid 
overcrowding. Nagle also asked about the wetlands and noted concerns with 
runoff, as well as the water assessment at Birdsall Creek. Nagle asked if the 
density is potentially too much.  
 
 Taner Tuken, 218 Winding Ridge Road, provided perspective on the density 
between the current neighborhood and the proposed neighborhood and feels 
there should be a better transition between high and low density. Ms. Howard 
explained how density is calculated and how the density was calculated for that 
area. 
 
 Mark Boss, 810 Juanita Avenue, noted concerns with water runoff and worries 
about sediment in their neighborhood lake. Lupkes explained that there will be a 
detention basin that will detain runoff from Lake Ridge Drive and the 
development site. The runoff from south of the property will continue to run 
through as usual as they are not allowed to touch the stream.  
 
 Genevieve Shafer, 602 Oak Park Boulevard, stated concerns with stormwater 
runoff. Shafer also noted concerns with the crossings on 1st Street and how 
pedestrians and students will be affected by additional traffic. Shafer also asked 
about a housing needs assessment to determine if that much added housing is 
needed.  
 
 Pete Rhee, 3105 Northridge, echoed what the previous commenters voiced and 
added that his concern with the aesthetics and their effect on the neighborhood. 
Rhee asked about the rent level of the proposed housing and details of the 
buffer on the west side of the property.  
 
 Cameron Lee, 220 Winding Ridge Road, stated concerns about the water and 
elevation change, and a three story building overlooking his yard. 
 

27

Item 3.



 Atul Patel, 307 Winding Ridge Road, feels there is a loss of quality of life and too 
much density and loss of community aesthetics and noted that there needs to be 
better transition between the neighborhoods.  
 
 Lupkes shared final comments, noting that the RP zoning has been in place 
since 2003 and the area has always been set aside for this type of development 
and the current property owners could have looked at the zoning for that area 
when they purchased their properties. 
 
 Hartley made a motion to set a public hearing for the rezoning. Alberhasky 
seconded the motion. The motion was approved unanimously with 8 ayes 
(Alberhasky, Grybovych, Hartley, Henderson, Johnson, Moser, Sorensen and 
Stalnaker), and 0 nays. 

 
Attachments: Location Map 
  Master Plan amendment request letter 
  1994 approved Master Plan 
  R-P Revised Master Plan 
  Preliminary Architecture Drawings 
  Chronological Wetlands Delineation 
  USACE Regional Permit  
  Thunder Ridge Traffic Report 
  Threatened and Endangered Species Review 
  Public Correspondence  
 

   

28

Item 3.



Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning Commission

October 23, 2024

Location 

Map

Meadow Ridge Rezoning and R-P 

Master Plan Amendment

W 1st

R-1

R-P

A-1 
to
R-P

R-1

A-1

S-1

R-P

29

Item 3.



VJ Engineering 
1501 Technology Pkwy., Suite 100 

Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
ph: (319) 266-5829  fax: (319) 266-5160 

 
     

      engineering – surveying 
 

July 26, 2024 
 
Planning and Zoning Commission 
City of Cedar Falls 
 
 
Re: Major R-P Site Plan Amendment 
 
 
To Whom it may concern: 
 
 
On behalf of the owners of the property west of future Lake Ridge Drive, and east of the 
Winding Ridges Estates First Addition, and south of W. 1st Street, we would like to propose 
a major revision of the approved 1994 R-P plan.  
 
In this R-P Site Plan Amendment, the boundary of the 1994 R-P district is changed, as well 
as the building sizes and circulation. These changes were necessary to comply with the 
changes in regulations and requirements over the past 30 years. As part of the submittal, 
we have a new site plan showing the revised layout of buildings on the site, the revised 
boundary, now pulled back south from W. 1st Street to provide a straight north line of the  
R-P district. This adjustment was due to both the difficulty of making a connection to W. 1st 
Street, as originally planned, and to avoid impacts to the stream which bisects the property. 
The wetlands have been delineated multiple times over the years, and with each 
delineation they have been shrinking in coverage area. For that reason, we have applied 
for and received a Regional Permit from the Corps of Engineers to purchase wetland 
credits to mitigate the “lesser-quality” wetlands off-site. We will discuss in more detail the 
information regarding the causes of the wetland hydrology related to leaking sanitary sewer 
lines, their repair in 2013, and impacts of those repairs causing reductions in impact area. 
 
Included in this submittal are a number of reports, studies, permits, plans, renderings, and 
a draft agreement for the extension of Lake Ridge to the southern line of the owner’s 
property. They include the following: 
 

1) Original 1994 R-P Resolution, Site Plan, Development Agreement 
2) R-P Site Plan Amendment Site Plan 
3) Traffic Impact Study - by Traffic Impact Group, LLC – June 26, 2020 
4) Meadow Ridge Environmental Report – by Terracon – Sept. 26, 2023 
5) Phase 1 Cultural Resources Investigation – by Bear Creek – Sept 29, 2023 
6) Revised R-P Site Layout with Wetland Impact – by VJ Engineering – July 1, 2024 
7) Regional Permit - Corps of Engineers - USACE Permit # is CEMVR-RD-2023-614 
8) Preliminary Plans for Lake Ridge extension with utilities 
9) Renderings and architectural drawings for apartments 
10)  Draft Developmental Procedures Agreement for the extension of Lake Ridge Drive 

 
 

30

Item 3.



 

 

 
 
The R-P Site Plan Amendment was developed utilizing the original plan approved by the 
City of Cedar Falls in 1994. Understandably, a number of things have changed over the last 
30 years since the original plan was approved. Not least among them is the federal and city 
regulations concerning wetlands. Cedar Falls proactively protects wetlands, with an 
allowance for mitigation when the wetlands are determined to be of "lesser quality" or to be 
"less critical". The wetlands delineated on the R-P site plan are definitely “lesser quality”, as 
illustrated on the Chronological Wetlands Delineation Exhibit. The wetlands have been 
delineated numerous times over the years, by various environmental firms, under the 
direction of various predecessors in title to the current owners. In addition, as part of the 
Thunder Ridge Senior housing project in 2012, the City required replacement of 
approximately 300’ of public sanitary sewer prior to approval of that project. The next 
wetland delineation was in 2014 and showed a significant reduction in wetland area. That 
reduction in wetland area, along with the email from the City regarding sewerage overflows, 
caused us to test a theory that the sewer line was impacting the wetlands, and had the 
groundwater tested for caffeine. The result showed caffeine, not a naturally occurring 
element in groundwater, was present at all locations tested. This means that the wetland 
area was in part due to the leaking and overflowing sanitary sewer line. Most of that 1970’s 
sewer line is still in service but is proposed to replaced as part of the Lake Ridge extension. 
 
The Corps of Engineers has been familiar with this property since at least 2011, with the 
same permitting official(s) for this development. In addition to the wetland delineation, we 
were required to conduct an archeological investigation and an endangered species 
evaluation, both of which are included in this submittal. The Corps has issued a Regional 
Permit for this project, which allows us to provide mitigation for disturbed wetlands in a 
wetlands bank by purchasing credits. In addition, it sets requirements for protection of the 
stream not impacted by the project and limits tree removal to avoid disturbance of the long-
eared bat habitat. 
 
This R-P project provides the catalyst for the extension of Lake Ridge Drive from W. 1st 
Street to the owner’s south property line. There is a draft Developmental Procedures 
Agreement addressing said extension. As a part of the preliminary work prior to this 
submittal, we have been in contact with Cedar Falls Utilities regarding the relocation 
(lowering) of the water main, electric, gas, and communications lines near the Lake Ridge 
and W. 1st Street intersection. We have also submitted preliminary road plans to the Cedar 
Falls Engineering department for their review and comment. And we have sent the layout to 
the Cedar Falls Fire Department, and have their approval of the layout submitted. Also, this 
project is within the area designated as medium density residential on the Future Land Use 
Map. 
 
It has been a long path since the 1994 R-P approval by the City of Cedar Falls. There have 
been several changes in ownership, changes in the local and federal regulations regarding 
wetlands, and obviously changes in City administration and the Planning & Zoning 
Commission. We are ready to answer any questions regarding this site plan amendment, 
and look forward to productive conversations toward the end goal of providing this 
residential development for the benefit of all of Cedar Falls. 
 
Wendell Lupkes, P.L.S 
VJ Engineering 

31

Item 3.



32

Item 3.



33

Item 3.



DEVELOPER

AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT CORP.
SPRINGVILLE, UTAH

801.489.9535
PACKER MORLEY

Meadow Ridge
A NEW APARTMENT COMPLEX

ARCHITECT

HARRIS ARCHITECTURE
OREM, UTAH
801.377.6303

BRETT HARRIS (801.367.8840)

LANDSCAPE STRUCTURAL ENGINEER MECH. & ELEC. ENGINEERCIVIL ENGINEER

BUILDINGS 'A'  & 'B' CEDAR FALLS, IOWA

VJ ENGINEERING
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA

319.266.5829

GENERAL CONTRACTOR

M-13 CONSTRUCTION
SPRINGVILLE, UTAH

801.489.3215

T.B.D. T.B.D. T.B.D.

A0.1

C
O

VE
R

 S
H

EE
T 

PL
OT

 D
AT

E:
 7/1

1/2
02

4   
 \\H

ar
ris

_S
yn

olo
gy

\D
ata

\A
CA

DF
ile

\M
13

\A
PA

RT
ME

NT
 B

UI
LD

IN
GS

\C
ED

AR
 F

AL
LS

 IO
W

A\
CF

I-B
LD

G-
A_

A-
01

-1
-L

1.d
wg

TH
ES

E 
D

R
AW

IN
G

S 
O

R
 A

N
Y 

PA
R

TS
 T

H
ER

EO
F,

 A
S 

IN
ST

R
U

M
EN

TS
 O

F 
SE

R
VI

C
E,

 R
EM

AI
N

 T
H

E 
PR

O
PE

R
TY

 O
F 

TH
E 

AR
C

H
IT

EC
TS

 A
N

D
 M

AY
 N

O
T 

BE
 R

EP
R

O
D

U
C

ED
 O

R
 U

SE
D

 O
N

 O
TH

ER
 W

O
R

K 
W

IT
H

O
U

T 
TH

EI
R

 W
R

IT
TE

N
 C

O
N

SE
N

T
REVISIONS

35
20

 N
 U

NI
VE

RS
IT

Y 
AV

EN
UE

 #2
00

, P
RO

VO
 U

T 
84

60
4  

   8
01

-3
77

-6
30

3  
   W

W
W

.H
AR

RI
S-

AR
CH

IT
EC

TU
RE

.C
OM

DRAWN BY

CEDAR FALLS IOWA

ME
AD

OW
 R

ID
GE

 A
PA

RT
ME

NT
S

A 
NE

W
 P

RO
JE

CT
 F

OR
 A

CD
/M

13

BKH

JUNE 2024

AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT CORP.

34

Item 3.



103  ENTRY
 

112  ENTRY
 

110  ENTRY
 

108  MECH
 

101  FS
  

113  STOR.
 

114  STOR.
 

102  ELECT.
 

106  CORRIDOR
 

107  CORRIDOR
 

111  CORRIDOR
 

109  STAIR
 

105  STAIR
 

104  STOR.
 

33 UNIT - LEVEL 1 - FLOOR PLAN (LEVEL 2 & 3 SIMILAR)1

A1.1

33
 U

N
IT

-L
EV

EL
 1

 F
LO

O
R

 P
LA

N

PL
OT

 D
AT

E:
 7/1

1/2
02

4   
 \\H

ar
ris

_S
yn

olo
gy

\D
ata

\A
CA

DF
ile

\M
13

\A
PA

RT
ME

NT
 B

UI
LD

IN
GS

\C
ED

AR
 F

AL
LS

 IO
W

A\
CF

I-B
LD

G-
A_

A-
01

-1
-L

1.d
wg

TH
ES

E 
D

R
AW

IN
G

S 
O

R
 A

N
Y 

PA
R

TS
 T

H
ER

EO
F,

 A
S 

IN
ST

R
U

M
EN

TS
 O

F 
SE

R
VI

C
E,

 R
EM

AI
N

 T
H

E 
PR

O
PE

R
TY

 O
F 

TH
E 

AR
C

H
IT

EC
TS

 A
N

D
 M

AY
 N

O
T 

BE
 R

EP
R

O
D

U
C

ED
 O

R
 U

SE
D

 O
N

 O
TH

ER
 W

O
R

K 
W

IT
H

O
U

T 
TH

EI
R

 W
R

IT
TE

N
 C

O
N

SE
N

T
REVISIONS

35
20

 N
 U

NI
VE

RS
IT

Y 
AV

EN
UE

 #2
00

, P
RO

VO
 U

T 
84

60
4  

   8
01

-3
77

-6
30

3  
   W

W
W

.H
AR

RI
S-

AR
CH

IT
EC

TU
RE

.C
OM

DRAWN BY

CEDAR FALLS IOWA

ME
AD

OW
 R

ID
GE

 A
PA

RT
ME

NT
S

A 
NE

W
 P

RO
JE

CT
 F

OR
 A

CD
/M

13

BKH

JUNE 2024

AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT CORP.

35

Item 3.

AutoCAD SHX Text
QUEEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
QUEEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
QUEEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
QUEEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
QUEEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
QUEEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
QUEEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
QUEEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
QUEEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
QUEEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
QUEEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
QUEEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
QUEEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
QUEEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
QUEEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
QUEEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNIT 109

AutoCAD SHX Text
568 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VERSION 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE ENLARGED UNIT PLANS FOR DIMENSIONS & NOTES

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNIT 103

AutoCAD SHX Text
726 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VERSION 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE ENLARGED UNIT PLANS FOR DIMENSIONS & NOTES

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNIT 104

AutoCAD SHX Text
870 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VERSION 5

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE ENLARGED UNIT PLANS FOR DIMENSIONS & NOTES

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNIT 102

AutoCAD SHX Text
870 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VERSION 4

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE ENLARGED UNIT PLANS FOR DIMENSIONS & NOTES

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNIT 101

AutoCAD SHX Text
870 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VERSION 4

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE ENLARGED UNIT PLANS FOR DIMENSIONS & NOTES

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNIT 112

AutoCAD SHX Text
1,165 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VERSION 7

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE ENLARGED UNIT PLANS FOR DIMENSIONS & NOTES

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNIT 111

AutoCAD SHX Text
870 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VERSION 4

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE ENLARGED UNIT PLANS FOR DIMENSIONS & NOTES

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNIT 108

AutoCAD SHX Text
739 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VERSION 3

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE ENLARGED UNIT PLANS FOR DIMENSIONS & NOTES

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNIT 106

AutoCAD SHX Text
739 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VERSION 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE ENLARGED UNIT PLANS FOR DIMENSIONS & NOTES

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROX. METER LOCATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
PORCH W/

AutoCAD SHX Text
BALCONIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
ABOVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNIT 105

AutoCAD SHX Text
739 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VERSION 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE ENLARGED UNIT PLANS FOR DIMENSIONS & NOTES

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNIT 107

AutoCAD SHX Text
739 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VERSION 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE ENLARGED UNIT PLANS FOR DIMENSIONS & NOTES

AutoCAD SHX Text
PORCH W/

AutoCAD SHX Text
BALCONIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
ABOVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PORCH W/

AutoCAD SHX Text
BALCONIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
ABOVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PORCH W/

AutoCAD SHX Text
BALCONIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
ABOVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PORCH W/

AutoCAD SHX Text
BALCONIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
ABOVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
F2,B1,W1,C1

AutoCAD SHX Text
F2,B1,W1,C1

AutoCAD SHX Text
F2,B1,W1,C1

AutoCAD SHX Text
F1,B1,W1,C1

AutoCAD SHX Text
F1,B1,W1,C1

AutoCAD SHX Text
F1,B1,W1,C1

AutoCAD SHX Text
F1,B1,W1,C1

AutoCAD SHX Text
F1,B1,W1,C1

AutoCAD SHX Text
F2,B1,W1,C1

AutoCAD SHX Text
F2,B1,W1,C1

AutoCAD SHX Text
F2,B1,W1,C1

AutoCAD SHX Text
F2,B1,W1,C1

AutoCAD SHX Text
F2,B1,W1,C1

AutoCAD SHX Text
133

AutoCAD SHX Text
134

AutoCAD SHX Text
132

AutoCAD SHX Text
130

AutoCAD SHX Text
128

AutoCAD SHX Text
126

AutoCAD SHX Text
118

AutoCAD SHX Text
125

AutoCAD SHX Text
124

AutoCAD SHX Text
120

AutoCAD SHX Text
114

AutoCAD SHX Text
116

AutoCAD SHX Text
112

AutoCAD SHX Text
110

AutoCAD SHX Text
109

AutoCAD SHX Text
106

AutoCAD SHX Text
104

AutoCAD SHX Text
102

AutoCAD SHX Text
103

AutoCAD SHX Text
122

AutoCAD SHX Text
123

AutoCAD SHX Text
108

AutoCAD SHX Text
101

AutoCAD SHX Text
131

AutoCAD SHX Text
121

AutoCAD SHX Text
117

AutoCAD SHX Text
113

AutoCAD SHX Text
107

AutoCAD SHX Text
129

AutoCAD SHX Text
127

AutoCAD SHX Text
119

AutoCAD SHX Text
115

AutoCAD SHX Text
111

AutoCAD SHX Text
105

AutoCAD SHX Text
WT8

AutoCAD SHX Text
WT8

AutoCAD SHX Text
WT8

AutoCAD SHX Text
WT8

AutoCAD SHX Text
WT8

AutoCAD SHX Text
WT8

AutoCAD SHX Text
WT8

AutoCAD SHX Text
WT8

AutoCAD SHX Text
WT8

AutoCAD SHX Text
WT8

AutoCAD SHX Text
WT8

AutoCAD SHX Text
WT8

AutoCAD SHX Text
WT8

AutoCAD SHX Text
WT8

AutoCAD SHX Text
WT8

AutoCAD SHX Text
WT8

AutoCAD SHX Text
WT8

AutoCAD SHX Text
WT8

AutoCAD SHX Text
WT8

AutoCAD SHX Text
WT8

AutoCAD SHX Text
WT8

AutoCAD SHX Text
WT8

AutoCAD SHX Text
WT6

AutoCAD SHX Text
WT6

AutoCAD SHX Text
WT6

AutoCAD SHX Text
WT6

AutoCAD SHX Text
WT6

AutoCAD SHX Text
WT6

AutoCAD SHX Text
WT6

AutoCAD SHX Text
WT6

AutoCAD SHX Text
WT6

AutoCAD SHX Text
WT6

AutoCAD SHX Text
WT5

AutoCAD SHX Text
WT5

AutoCAD SHX Text
WT5

AutoCAD SHX Text
WT5

AutoCAD SHX Text
WT8

AutoCAD SHX Text
WT8

AutoCAD SHX Text
WT6

AutoCAD SHX Text
WT6

AutoCAD SHX Text
WT6

AutoCAD SHX Text
WT6

AutoCAD SHX Text
WT6

AutoCAD SHX Text
WT6

AutoCAD SHX Text
WT6

AutoCAD SHX Text
WT6

AutoCAD SHX Text
F1,B1,W1,C1

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
TYPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ACCESSIBILITY

AutoCAD SHX Text
ANSI A117.1-2021

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
TYPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ACCESSIBILITY

AutoCAD SHX Text
ANSI A117.1-2021

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
TYPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ACCESSIBILITY

AutoCAD SHX Text
ANSI A117.1-2021

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINE OF CANOPY ABOVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINE OF CANOPY ABOVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINE OF CANOPY ABOVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINE OF CANOPY ABOVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINE OF CANOPY ABOVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINE OF CANOPY ABOVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINE OF CANOPY ABOVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINE OF CANOPY ABOVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINE OF CANOPY ABOVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:1/8" = 1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEVEL 1 FLOOR PLAN ELEV. 100'-0" (DATUM) SEE CROSS SECTIONS SEE CIVIL DRAWINGS FOR EXTERIOR GRADES, CURBS, SIDEWALKS, AND OTHER SIMILAR SITE ELEMENTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
APARTMENTS: (11 UNITS) 8,895 SF 8,895 SF ACCESSORY: 261 SF 261 SF COMMON CORRIDOR & STAIRS:  2,313 SF 2,313 SF TOTAL FLOOR AREA:  11,485 SF 11,485 SF + PRIVATE PATIO: (8) . SF . SF + COVERED ENTRY: (4)  . SF . SF TOTAL COVERED AREA  13,119 SF13,119 SF



FRONT ELEVATION

REAR ELEVATION

RIGHT SIDE ELEVATION LEFT SIDE ELEVATION
A1.2

33
 U

N
IT

 E
LE

VA
TI

O
N

S

PL
OT

 D
AT

E:
 7/1

1/2
02

4   
 \\H

ar
ris

_S
yn

olo
gy

\D
ata

\A
CA

DF
ile

\M
13

\A
PA

RT
ME

NT
 B

UI
LD

IN
GS

\C
ED

AR
 F

AL
LS

 IO
W

A\
CF

I-B
LD

G-
A_

A-
01

-1
-L

1.d
wg

TH
ES

E 
D

R
AW

IN
G

S 
O

R
 A

N
Y 

PA
R

TS
 T

H
ER

EO
F,

 A
S 

IN
ST

R
U

M
EN

TS
 O

F 
SE

R
VI

C
E,

 R
EM

AI
N

 T
H

E 
PR

O
PE

R
TY

 O
F 

TH
E 

AR
C

H
IT

EC
TS

 A
N

D
 M

AY
 N

O
T 

BE
 R

EP
R

O
D

U
C

ED
 O

R
 U

SE
D

 O
N

 O
TH

ER
 W

O
R

K 
W

IT
H

O
U

T 
TH

EI
R

 W
R

IT
TE

N
 C

O
N

SE
N

T
REVISIONS

35
20

 N
 U

NI
VE

RS
IT

Y 
AV

EN
UE

 #2
00

, P
RO

VO
 U

T 
84

60
4  

   8
01

-3
77

-6
30

3  
   W

W
W

.H
AR

RI
S-

AR
CH

IT
EC

TU
RE

.C
OM

DRAWN BY

CEDAR FALLS IOWA

ME
AD

OW
 R

ID
GE

 A
PA

RT
ME

NT
S

A 
NE

W
 P

RO
JE

CT
 F

OR
 A

CD
/M

13

BKH

JUNE 2024

AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT CORP.

36

Item 3.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VINYL WINDOWS

AutoCAD SHX Text
METAL BALCONIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRICK

AutoCAD SHX Text
CEMENT BOARD SIDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EIFS SYSTEM

AutoCAD SHX Text
METAL PANELS

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALUMINUM STOREFRONT

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT NAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
SPANDREL

AutoCAD SHX Text
SPANDREL

AutoCAD SHX Text
PREFINISHED ALUM CAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
METAL CANOPIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
AND RAILINGS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CEMENT BOARD SIDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVEAL PANEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIRST FLOOR LEVEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
SECOND FLOOR LEVEL 

AutoCAD SHX Text
THIRD FLOOR LEVEL 

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP OF PARAPET 

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEVATION 100'-0" 

AutoCAD SHX Text
 ELEVATION 110'-9.1/8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
 ELEVATION 121'-5"

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEVATION 137'-10.1/2"

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRADE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: 1/8" = 1'

AutoCAD SHX Text
VINYL WINDOWS

AutoCAD SHX Text
METAL BALCONIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRICK

AutoCAD SHX Text
CEMENT BOARD SIDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EIFS SYSTEM

AutoCAD SHX Text
PREFINISHED ALUM CAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
METAL CANOPIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
AND RAILINGS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CEMENT BOARD SIDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVEAL PANEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIRST FLOOR LEVEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
SECOND FLOOR LEVEL 

AutoCAD SHX Text
THIRD FLOOR LEVEL 

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP OF PARAPET 

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEVATION 100'-0" 

AutoCAD SHX Text
 ELEVATION 110'-9.1/8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
 ELEVATION 121'-5"

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEVATION 137'-10.1/2"

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRADE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: 1/8" = 1'

AutoCAD SHX Text
VINYL WINDOWS

AutoCAD SHX Text
METAL BALCONIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRICK

AutoCAD SHX Text
CEMENT BOARD SIDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EIFS SYSTEM

AutoCAD SHX Text
PREFINISHED ALUM CAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
METAL CANOPIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
AND RAILINGS

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALUMINUM STOREFRONT

AutoCAD SHX Text
METAL PANELS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CEMENT BOARD SIDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVEAL PANEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIRST FLOOR LEVEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
SECOND FLOOR LEVEL 

AutoCAD SHX Text
THIRD FLOOR LEVEL 

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP OF PARAPET 

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEVATION 100'-0" 

AutoCAD SHX Text
 ELEVATION 110'-9.1/8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
 ELEVATION 121'-5"

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEVATION 137'-10.1/2"

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRADE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: 1/8" = 1'

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALUMINUM STOREFRONT

AutoCAD SHX Text
VINYL WINDOWS

AutoCAD SHX Text
METAL BALCONIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRICK

AutoCAD SHX Text
CEMENT BOARD SIDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EIFS SYSTEM

AutoCAD SHX Text
PREFINISHED ALUM CAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
METAL CANOPIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
AND RAILINGS

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIRST FLOOR LEVEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
SECOND FLOOR LEVEL 

AutoCAD SHX Text
THIRD FLOOR LEVEL 

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP OF PARAPET 

AutoCAD SHX Text
CEMENT BOARD SIDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVEAL PANEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEVATION 100'-0" 

AutoCAD SHX Text
 ELEVATION 110'-9.1/8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
 ELEVATION 121'-5"

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEVATION 137'-10.1/2"

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRADE

AutoCAD SHX Text
METAL PANELS

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: 1/8" = 1'

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEVEL 1 FLOOR PLAN ELEV. 100'-0" (DATUM) SEE CROSS SECTIONS SEE CIVIL DRAWINGS FOR EXTERIOR GRADES, CURBS, SIDEWALKS, AND OTHER SIMILAR SITE ELEMENTS



103  ENTRY
 

112  ENTRY
 

110  ENTRY
 

108  MECH
 101  FS

  

114  STOR.
 102 ELECT.

 

106  CORRIDOR
 

111  CORRIDOR
 

109  STAIR
 

105  STAIR
 

104  STOR.
 

2 2

21

11

2

113  FS
  

21 UNIT - LEVEL 1 - FLOOR PLAN (LEVEL 2 & 3 SIMILAR)1

A1.3

21
 U

N
IT

 - 
LE

VE
L 

1 
FL

O
O

R
 P

LA
N

PL
OT

 D
AT

E:
 7/1

1/2
02

4   
 \\H

ar
ris

_S
yn

olo
gy

\D
ata

\A
CA

DF
ile

\M
13

\A
PA

RT
ME

NT
 B

UI
LD

IN
GS

\C
ED

AR
 F

AL
LS

 IO
W

A\
CF

I-B
LD

G-
A_

A-
01

-1
-L

1.d
wg

TH
ES

E 
D

R
AW

IN
G

S 
O

R
 A

N
Y 

PA
R

TS
 T

H
ER

EO
F,

 A
S 

IN
ST

R
U

M
EN

TS
 O

F 
SE

R
VI

C
E,

 R
EM

AI
N

 T
H

E 
PR

O
PE

R
TY

 O
F 

TH
E 

AR
C

H
IT

EC
TS

 A
N

D
 M

AY
 N

O
T 

BE
 R

EP
R

O
D

U
C

ED
 O

R
 U

SE
D

 O
N

 O
TH

ER
 W

O
R

K 
W

IT
H

O
U

T 
TH

EI
R

 W
R

IT
TE

N
 C

O
N

SE
N

T
REVISIONS

35
20

 N
 U

NI
VE

RS
IT

Y 
AV

EN
UE

 #2
00

, P
RO

VO
 U

T 
84

60
4  

   8
01

-3
77

-6
30

3  
   W

W
W

.H
AR

RI
S-

AR
CH

IT
EC

TU
RE

.C
OM

DRAWN BY

CEDAR FALLS IOWA

ME
AD

OW
 R

ID
GE

 A
PA

RT
ME

NT
S

A 
NE

W
 P

RO
JE

CT
 F

OR
 A

CD
/M

13

BKH

JUNE 2024

AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT CORP.

37

Item 3.

AutoCAD SHX Text
QUEEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
QUEEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
QUEEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
QUEEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
QUEEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
QUEEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
QUEEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
QUEEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
QUEEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
QUEEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
QUEEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNIT 103

AutoCAD SHX Text
726 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VERSION 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE ENLARGED UNIT PLANS FOR DIMENSIONS & NOTES

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNIT 104

AutoCAD SHX Text
870 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VERSION 5

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE ENLARGED UNIT PLANS FOR DIMENSIONS & NOTES

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNIT 102

AutoCAD SHX Text
870 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VERSION 4

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE ENLARGED UNIT PLANS FOR DIMENSIONS & NOTES

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNIT 101

AutoCAD SHX Text
870 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VERSION 4

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE ENLARGED UNIT PLANS FOR DIMENSIONS & NOTES

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNIT 107

AutoCAD SHX Text
870 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VERSION 4

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE ENLARGED UNIT PLANS FOR DIMENSIONS & NOTES

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROX. METER LOCATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
PORCH W/

AutoCAD SHX Text
BALCONIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
ABOVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNIT 105

AutoCAD SHX Text
739 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VERSION 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE ENLARGED UNIT PLANS FOR DIMENSIONS & NOTES

AutoCAD SHX Text
PORCH W/

AutoCAD SHX Text
BALCONIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
ABOVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PORCH W/

AutoCAD SHX Text
BALCONIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
ABOVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
F2,B1,W1,C1

AutoCAD SHX Text
F2,B1,W1,C1

AutoCAD SHX Text
F2,B1,W1,C1

AutoCAD SHX Text
F1,B1,W1,C1

AutoCAD SHX Text
F1,B1,W1,C1

AutoCAD SHX Text
F1,B1,W1,C1

AutoCAD SHX Text
 F1,B1,W1,C1

AutoCAD SHX Text
F2,B1,W1,C1

AutoCAD SHX Text
F2,B1,W1,C1

AutoCAD SHX Text
F2,B1,W1,C1

AutoCAD SHX Text
F2,B1,W1,C1

AutoCAD SHX Text
F1,B1,W1,C1

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
TYPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ACCESSIBILITY

AutoCAD SHX Text
ANSI A117.1-2021

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINE OF CANOPY ABOVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINE OF CANOPY ABOVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINE OF CANOPY ABOVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNIT 106

AutoCAD SHX Text
870 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VERSION 4

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE ENLARGED UNIT PLANS FOR DIMENSIONS & NOTES

AutoCAD SHX Text
PORCH W/

AutoCAD SHX Text
BALCONIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
ABOVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PORCH W/

AutoCAD SHX Text
CANOPIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
ABOVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PORCH W/

AutoCAD SHX Text
CANOPIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
ABOVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PORCH W/

AutoCAD SHX Text
CANOPIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
ABOVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
F1,B1,W1,C1

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROX. METER LOCATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:1/8" = 1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEVEL 1 FLOOR PLAN ELEV. 100'-0" (DATUM) SEE CROSS SECTIONS SEE CIVIL DRAWINGS FOR EXTERIOR GRADES, CURBS, SIDEWALKS, AND OTHER SIMILAR SITE ELEMENTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
APARTMENTS: (7 UNITS PER FLOOR) 5,815 SF 5,815 SF ACCESSORY: 261 SF 261 SF COMMON CORRIDOR & STAIRS:  2,027 SF 2,027 SF TOTAL FLOOR AREA:  7,842 SF7,842 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOTAL APARTMENTS: (21 UNITS; 7 PER FLOOR) 17,445 SF 17,445 SF TOTAL ACCESSORY:                             783 SF                 783 SF 783 SF TOTAL COMMON CORRIDOR & STAIRS:            6,081 SF           6,081 SF 6,081 SF BUILDING TOTAL FLOOR AREA:                 24,309 SF               24,309 SF24,309 SF



FRONT ELEVATION

REAR ELEVATION

RIGHT SIDE ELEVATION LEFT SIDE ELEVATION
A1.4

21
 U

N
IT

 - 
EL

EV
AT

IO
N

S

PL
OT

 D
AT

E:
 7/1

1/2
02

4   
 \\H

ar
ris

_S
yn

olo
gy

\D
ata

\A
CA

DF
ile

\M
13

\A
PA

RT
ME

NT
 B

UI
LD

IN
GS

\C
ED

AR
 F

AL
LS

 IO
W

A\
CF

I-B
LD

G-
A_

A-
01

-1
-L

1.d
wg

TH
ES

E 
D

R
AW

IN
G

S 
O

R
 A

N
Y 

PA
R

TS
 T

H
ER

EO
F,

 A
S 

IN
ST

R
U

M
EN

TS
 O

F 
SE

R
VI

C
E,

 R
EM

AI
N

 T
H

E 
PR

O
PE

R
TY

 O
F 

TH
E 

AR
C

H
IT

EC
TS

 A
N

D
 M

AY
 N

O
T 

BE
 R

EP
R

O
D

U
C

ED
 O

R
 U

SE
D

 O
N

 O
TH

ER
 W

O
R

K 
W

IT
H

O
U

T 
TH

EI
R

 W
R

IT
TE

N
 C

O
N

SE
N

T
REVISIONS

35
20

 N
 U

NI
VE

RS
IT

Y 
AV

EN
UE

 #2
00

, P
RO

VO
 U

T 
84

60
4  

   8
01

-3
77

-6
30

3  
   W

W
W

.H
AR

RI
S-

AR
CH

IT
EC

TU
RE

.C
OM

DRAWN BY

CEDAR FALLS IOWA

ME
AD

OW
 R

ID
GE

 A
PA

RT
ME

NT
S

A 
NE

W
 P

RO
JE

CT
 F

OR
 A

CD
/M

13

BKH

JUNE 2024

AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT CORP.

38

Item 3.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT NAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
SPANDREL

AutoCAD SHX Text
SPANDREL

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALUMINUM STOREFRONT

AutoCAD SHX Text
METAL PANELS

AutoCAD SHX Text
VINYL WINDOWS

AutoCAD SHX Text
METAL BALCONIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRICK

AutoCAD SHX Text
CEMENT BOARD SIDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EIFS SYSTEM

AutoCAD SHX Text
PREFINISHED ALUM CAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
METAL CANOPIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
AND RAILINGS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CEMENT BOARD SIDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVEAL PANEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIRST FLOOR LEVEL 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SECOND FLOOR LEVEL 

AutoCAD SHX Text
THIRD FLOOR LEVEL 

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP OF PARAPET

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEVATION 137'-10.1/2"

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEVATION 100'-0" 

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEVATION 110'-9.1/8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEVATION 121'-5"

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRADE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: 1/8" = 1'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIRST FLOOR LEVEL 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SECOND FLOOR LEVEL 

AutoCAD SHX Text
THIRD FLOOR LEVEL 

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP OF PARAPET

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEVATION 137'-10.1/2"

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEVATION 100'-0" 

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEVATION 110'-9.1/8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEVATION 121'-5"

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRADE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: 1/8" = 1'

AutoCAD SHX Text
VINYL WINDOWS

AutoCAD SHX Text
METAL BALCONIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRICK

AutoCAD SHX Text
CEMENT BOARD SIDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EIFS SYSTEM

AutoCAD SHX Text
PREFINISHED ALUM CAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
METAL CANOPIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
AND RAILINGS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CEMENT BOARD SIDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVEAL PANEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALUMINUM STOREFRONT

AutoCAD SHX Text
METAL PANELS

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIRST FLOOR LEVEL 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SECOND FLOOR LEVEL 

AutoCAD SHX Text
THIRD FLOOR LEVEL 

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP OF PARAPET

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEVATION 137'-10.1/2"

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEVATION 100'-0" 

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEVATION 110'-9.1/8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEVATION 121'-5"

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRADE

AutoCAD SHX Text
METAL BALCONIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRICK

AutoCAD SHX Text
CEMENT BOARD SIDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EIFS SYSTEM

AutoCAD SHX Text
PREFINISHED ALUM CAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
METAL CANOPIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
AND RAILINGS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CEMENT BOARD SIDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVEAL PANEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: 1/8" = 1'

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALUMINUM STOREFRONT

AutoCAD SHX Text
METAL PANELS

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIRST FLOOR LEVEL 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SECOND FLOOR LEVEL 

AutoCAD SHX Text
THIRD FLOOR LEVEL 

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP OF PARAPET

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEVATION 137'-10.1/2"

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEVATION 100'-0" 

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEVATION 110'-9.1/8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEVATION 121'-5"

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRADE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: 1/8" = 1'

AutoCAD SHX Text
VINYL WINDOWS

AutoCAD SHX Text
METAL BALCONIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRICK

AutoCAD SHX Text
CEMENT BOARD SIDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EIFS SYSTEM

AutoCAD SHX Text
PREFINISHED ALUM CAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
METAL CANOPIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
AND RAILINGS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CEMENT BOARD SIDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVEAL PANEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEVEL 1 FLOOR PLAN ELEV. 100'-0" (DATUM) SEE CROSS SECTIONS SEE CIVIL DRAWINGS FOR EXTERIOR GRADES, CURBS, SIDEWALKS, AND OTHER SIMILAR SITE ELEMENTS



   UNIT FLOOR PLANS (BOTH BLDGS.)   
SCALE:  1/4" = 1'-0"   33 UNIT FLOOR PLANS   A1.5

33
 &

 2
1 

U
N

IT
 P

LA
N

S

PL
OT

 D
AT

E:
 7/1

1/2
02

4   
 \\H

ar
ris

_S
yn

olo
gy

\D
ata

\A
CA

DF
ile

\M
13

\A
PA

RT
ME

NT
 B

UI
LD

IN
GS

\C
ED

AR
 F

AL
LS

 IO
W

A\
CF

I-B
LD

G-
A_

A-
01

-1
-L

1.d
wg

TH
ES

E 
D

R
AW

IN
G

S 
O

R
 A

N
Y 

PA
R

TS
 T

H
ER

EO
F,

 A
S 

IN
ST

R
U

M
EN

TS
 O

F 
SE

R
VI

C
E,

 R
EM

AI
N

 T
H

E 
PR

O
PE

R
TY

 O
F 

TH
E 

AR
C

H
IT

EC
TS

 A
N

D
 M

AY
 N

O
T 

BE
 R

EP
R

O
D

U
C

ED
 O

R
 U

SE
D

 O
N

 O
TH

ER
 W

O
R

K 
W

IT
H

O
U

T 
TH

EI
R

 W
R

IT
TE

N
 C

O
N

SE
N

T
REVISIONS

35
20

 N
 U

NI
VE

RS
IT

Y 
AV

EN
UE

 #2
00

, P
RO

VO
 U

T 
84

60
4  

   8
01

-3
77

-6
30

3  
   W

W
W

.H
AR

RI
S-

AR
CH

IT
EC

TU
RE

.C
OM

DRAWN BY

CEDAR FALLS IOWA

ME
AD

OW
 R

ID
GE

 A
PA

RT
ME

NT
S

A 
NE

W
 P

RO
JE

CT
 F

OR
 A

CD
/M

13

BKH

JUNE 2024

AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT CORP.

39

Item 3.

AutoCAD SHX Text
STUDIO UNIT

AutoCAD SHX Text
568 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERIOR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
596 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXTERIOR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uBATH

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uMECH

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uKITCHEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uLIVING

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UBEDROOM

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uENTRY

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uCLOSET

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uLAUNDRY

AutoCAD SHX Text
QUEEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UBEDROOM

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uBATH

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uKITCHEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uLIVING

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uMECH

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uCLOSET

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%ULNDRY

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UW.I.C.

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uENTRY

AutoCAD SHX Text
2 BEDROOM-2 BATH UNIT

AutoCAD SHX Text
870 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERIOR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
915 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXTERIOR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uMECH

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uKITCHEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uLIVING

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uBEDROOM

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UBEDROOM

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uENTRY

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uCLOSET

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%ULNDRY

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uCLOSET

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uBATH

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uBATH

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uCLOSET

AutoCAD SHX Text
3 BEDROOM-2 BATH UNIT

AutoCAD SHX Text
1,165 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERIOR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
1,221 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXTERIOR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uBATH

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uMECH

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uKITCHEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uLIVING

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UBEDROOM

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uENTRY

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UBEDROOM

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UBEDROOM

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uCLOSET

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uCLOSET

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uCLOSET

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uCLOSET

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uLAUNDRY

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uBATH

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEVEL 1 

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 BED

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEVEL 1 

AutoCAD SHX Text
2 BED

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 BED

AutoCAD SHX Text
15 UNIT(S) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
3 BED

AutoCAD SHX Text
3 UNIT(S) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEVEL 1 

AutoCAD SHX Text
3 BED

AutoCAD SHX Text
2 BED

AutoCAD SHX Text
12 UNIT(S) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOTAL UNITS FOR BUILDNG A

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%%

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUILDING A 

AutoCAD SHX Text
51 BR

AutoCAD SHX Text
5 UNIT(S) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
4 UNIT(S) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 UNIT(S) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
5 BR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
8 BR

AutoCAD SHX Text
3 BR

AutoCAD SHX Text
11 UNIT(S) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
17 BR

AutoCAD SHX Text
720 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
767 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
1165 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
1221 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
33  UNITS

AutoCAD SHX Text
870 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
915 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
33 UNITS - 12,234 sf/level  

AutoCAD SHX Text
45.4%%%

AutoCAD SHX Text
36.6%%%

AutoCAD SHX Text
9%%%

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEVEL 

AutoCAD SHX Text
TYPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNITS

AutoCAD SHX Text
# OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNIT

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEDS

AutoCAD SHX Text
# OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
FEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
SQUARE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
SQUARE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXTERIOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERIOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEVEL 1 

AutoCAD SHX Text
STUDIO

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 UNIT(S) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 BR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
568 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
596 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
STUDIO

AutoCAD SHX Text
3 UNIT(S) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
9%%%

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEVEL 1 

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 BED

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEVEL 1 

AutoCAD SHX Text
2 BED

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEVEL 1 

AutoCAD SHX Text
3 BED

AutoCAD SHX Text
5 UNIT(S) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
4 UNIT(S) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 UNIT(S) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
5 BR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
8 BR

AutoCAD SHX Text
3 BR

AutoCAD SHX Text
11 UNIT(S) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
17 BR

AutoCAD SHX Text
720 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
767 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
1165 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
1221 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
870 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
915 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEVEL 1 

AutoCAD SHX Text
STUDIO

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 UNIT(S) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 BR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
568 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
596 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEVEL 1 

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 BED

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEVEL 1 

AutoCAD SHX Text
2 BED

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEVEL 1 

AutoCAD SHX Text
3 BED

AutoCAD SHX Text
5 UNIT(S) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
4 UNIT(S) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 UNIT(S) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
5 BR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
8 BR

AutoCAD SHX Text
3 BR

AutoCAD SHX Text
11 UNIT(S) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
17 BR

AutoCAD SHX Text
720 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
767 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
1165 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
1221 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
870 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
915 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEVEL 1 

AutoCAD SHX Text
STUDIO

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 UNIT(S) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 BR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
568 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
596 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEVEL 1 

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 BED

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEVEL 1 

AutoCAD SHX Text
2 BED

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 BED

AutoCAD SHX Text
9 UNIT(S) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
2 BED

AutoCAD SHX Text
12 UNIT(S) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOTAL UNITS FOR BUILDNG A

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%%

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUILDING B 

AutoCAD SHX Text
33 BR

AutoCAD SHX Text
3 UNIT(S) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
4 UNIT(S) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
3 BR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
8 BR

AutoCAD SHX Text
7 UNIT(S) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
11 BR

AutoCAD SHX Text
720 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
767 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
21  UNITS

AutoCAD SHX Text
870 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
915 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
21 UNITS - 7,842 sf/level  

AutoCAD SHX Text
42.9%%%

AutoCAD SHX Text
57.1%%%

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEVEL 

AutoCAD SHX Text
TYPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNITS

AutoCAD SHX Text
# OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNIT

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEDS

AutoCAD SHX Text
# OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
FEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
SQUARE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
SQUARE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXTERIOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERIOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEVEL 1 

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 BED

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEVEL 1 

AutoCAD SHX Text
2 BED

AutoCAD SHX Text
3 UNIT(S) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
4 UNIT(S) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
3 BR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
8 BR

AutoCAD SHX Text
7 UNIT(S) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
11 BR

AutoCAD SHX Text
720 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
767 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
870 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
915 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEVEL 1 

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 BED

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEVEL 1 

AutoCAD SHX Text
2 BED

AutoCAD SHX Text
3 UNIT(S) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
4 UNIT(S) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
3 BR 

AutoCAD SHX Text
8 BR

AutoCAD SHX Text
7 UNIT(S) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
11 BR

AutoCAD SHX Text
720 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
767 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
870 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
915 SF



40

Item 3.



DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY 
CORPS OF ENGINEERS, ROCK ISLAND DISTRICT 

PO BOX 2004 CLOCK TOWER BUILDING 
ROCK ISLAND, ILLINOIS  61204-2004 

June 17, 2024 
 
Regulatory Division 
 
SUBJECT: CEMVR-RD-2023-614 
 
 
Mr. Packer Morley 
ME Associates, LLC 
775 West 1200 N. Suite 100 
Springville, Utah 84663 
 
Dear Mr. Morley: 
 

Our office has reviewed your application received April 26, 2023, concerning the 
proposed residential development to include multiple multi-family units, road 
infrastructure and 2 culverted crossings, utilities, a stormwater detention basin and 
parking lots located in Section 3, Township 89 North, Range 14 West, Black Hawk 
County, Iowa. This project will result in the loss of 1.81 acres of wetland (1.21 emergent 
and 0.59 forested) and 356 feet of stream loss.   
 

Your project is authorized under Department of the Army, Section 404, Regional 
Permit No. 48 - Residential Developments (Iowa; CEMVR-RD-2022-0884), provided 
you meet the terms and conditions included in the permit. A copy of this permit can be 
found on the Rock Island District Regulatory Webpage at: 
https://www.mvr.usace.army.mil/Missions/Regulatory/Permits/. The Iowa Department of 
Natural Resources (IADNR) has also issued Section 401 Water Quality Certification 
with conditions for this Regional Permit. 

 
The Corps has made a determination of may affect, not likely to adversely affect on 

federally threatened and endangered species and/or critical habitat under Section 7 of 
the Endangered Species Act. In accordance with Section 106 of the National Historic 
Preservation Act, the Corps has made a determination of no effect to historic properties. 
The decisions regarding these actions are based on information found in the 
administrative record, which document the District’s decision-making process, the basis 
for the decision, and the final decision. Special conditions associated with this permit 
will be listed below and must also be adhered to. 
 

Your permit includes the following special condition(s): 
 

1) This project will result in the loss of 1.81 acres of wetland (1.21 emergent and 
0.59 forested wetland) and 0.06 acres of streams (356 feet). To compensate for 

41

Item 3.



 
 
 

- 2 - 
 
 
 
 

this loss, the permittee will purchase 1.21 acres of emergent wetland credit and 
0.59 acres of forested wetland credit and 1481 stream credits from an approved 
wetland and stream mitigation ban in the service area of the impacts. The 
permittee will provide a copy of the proof of purchase prior to placing fill material 
into the Waters of the U.S. 
 
2) To protect the Northern Long-eared Bat tree removal shall not be completed 
between April 1 and September 30. 
 

Please contact our office if the project plans change and there are different impacts 
caused by dredged or fill material into Corps’ regulated waters. This may require 
modification of your Department of the Army Section 404 authorization. 
 

This authorization does not eliminate the requirement that you must still obtain other 
applicable Federal, state, and local permits. If you have not already coordinated your 
project with the IADNR, please contact them by telephone 866/849-0321 to determine if 
a floodplain development permit is required for your project. You should also contact 
Casey Laskowski, in writing or telephone 515/330-6432 to determine if a sovereign 
lands construction permit is required or if this project may adversely impact Iowa 
threatened or endangered species or their habitat.   

 
You are required to complete and return the enclosed “Completed Work 

Certification” form upon completion of your project. A representative of this office may 
make periodic inspections of the authorized work.   

 
A preliminary jurisdictional determination was completed for this project. This is not 

an appealable action. 
 

The Rock Island District Regulatory Division is committed to providing quality and 
timely service to our customers. In an effort to improve customer service, please take a 
moment to complete our Customer Service Survey found on our web site at 
https://regulatory.ops.usace.army.mil/ords/f?p=136:4 (be sure to select "Rock 
Island District" under the area entitled: Which Corps office did you deal with?). 

 
Should you have any questions, please contact me by letter, telephone at 309-215-

5570 or email at Albert.J.Frohlich@usace.army.mil.  
 
Sincerely, 

 
 
 
 

Albert J. Frohlich 
Project Manager,  Western Branch 
Regulatory Division 

42

Item 3.

mailto:Albert.J.Frohlich@usace.army.mil


 
 
 

- 3 - 
 
 
 
 

 
Enclosures 
 
cc: 
Iowa Department of Natural Resources 
Floodplain Management Division 
 
Mr. Will Downey 
Impact 7G 
315 West Cherry Street, Suite 4 
North Liberty, Iowa 52317 
 
 
 

43

Item 3.



 

 
 
 
 

COMPLETED WORK CERTIFICATION 
 
 
 
Permit Number:   CEMVR-RD-2023-614 
 
 
Name of Permittee/Project: ME Associates, LLC 
 
 
County/State:   Black Hawk / Iowa 
 
  
Date of Issuance:   June 17, 2024 
 
 
Upon completion of the activity authorized by this permit and any mitigation required by 
the permit, sign this certification, and return it to the following address: 
 
 
   U.S. Army Engineer District, Rock Island 

ATTN:  Regulatory Division 
   Clock Tower Building 
   Post Office Box 2004 
   Rock Island, Illinois 61204-2004 
 
 
Please note that your permitted activity is subject to a compliance inspection by a U.S. 
Army Corps of Engineers representative. If you fail to comply with this permit, you are 
subject to permit suspension, modification, or revocation. 
 
I hereby certify that the work authorized by the above reference permit has been 
completed in accordance with the terms and conditions of the said permit, and required 
mitigation was completed in accordance with the permit conditions. 
 
 
 
 
____________________________  ____________________________ 
Signature of Permittee    Date 
 
 
 
 
AF 

44

Item 3.



 
 

   
 

 
 

 
    

 
 

    
 
 

   
 
 

  
    
    
 

 
 

 
  

    
 

  
 

   
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
       

  
             

     
    

    
     

   
 

 
    

     
    

 
   

 
  

  
  

 
 

DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY PERMIT 
Regional Permit 48

Fill Material Placed for Residential Developments
In Waters of the United States 

In the State of Iowa 

Permittee: General Public meeting the terms and conditions herein. 

Number: CEMVR-RD-2022-0884 (Regional Permit 48) 

Expiration Date: September 20, 2027 

Issuing Office: U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Rock Island District
Clock Tower Building-P.O. Box 2004
Rock Island, Illinois 61204-2004 

You are authorized to perform work in accordance with the terms and conditions specified 
below. 

NOTE: The term “you” and its derivatives, as used in this permit, means the permittee or any 
future transferee. The term “this office” refers to the appropriate district or division office of the 
Corps of Engineers (Corps) having jurisdiction over the permitted activity, or the appropriate 
official of that office, acting under the authority of the Commanding Officer. 

You are authorized to perform work in accordance with the terms and conditions specified
below. 

The permittee must notify the District Engineer (DE), Rock Island District, for authorization of
this Regional General Permit (RP). 

1. Authorized Work. 
Proposed Limits. 

(a) Activities required for the construction, expansion, modification, or improvement of 
residential developments of a single residence, a multiple unit residential development, or
a residential subdivision, which result in a total loss of up to 2.0 acre of waters of the 
United States, including the loss of up to 1,000 linear feet of stream bed. The loss of 
stream bed plus any other losses of jurisdictional wetlands and waters caused by the 
activity cannot exceed 2.0 acre, which includes no more than 1,000 linear feet of 
stream bed loss. Activities may include, but are not limited to, construction of 
building foundations and building pads and attendant features that are necessary for 
the use of the residence or residential development.  Attendant features include (but 
are not limited to) roads, parking lots, garages, yards, utility lines, storm water 
management facilities, septic fields, and recreational facilities such as playgrounds, 
playing fields, and golf courses (provided the golf course is an integral part of the 
residential development). 

1. For residential subdivisions, the aggregate total aggregate total loss of 
Waters of the United States (WUS) authorized by the RP cannot exceed 2.0 
acre of WUS, including the loss of up to 1,000 linear feet of stream bed. 
This includes any loss of WUS associated with development of individual 
subdivision lots. 

45

Item 3.



 

     
      

   
             

      

  
 

 
 

  
 
 

 
  

 
  

 
  

  
 

   
 

 
   

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

    

  
   

   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(b) The project must be a single and complete project.  The maximum impact 
limitations will be applied on a cumulative basis for activities that are part of a 
larger common plan of development or sale. 

2. Project Location. All waters of the United States in Iowa within the 
regulatory boundaries of the Rock Island District.  This permit may be used on 
tribal lands in the state of Iowa; however, an individual 401 Water Quality 
Certification must be obtained from the Meskwaki Nation - Sac and Fox tribe of 
the Mississippi in Iowa, prior to authorization. 

3. Permit Conditions: 

A. General Conditions: 

1) The permittee must notify the DE, Rock Island District, for authorization of this RP.  
The notification must include detailed drawings and sufficient information to 
determine if the proposed work conforms to the criteria and conditions of the RP, as
well as a mitigation plan (see Section D), if unavoidable stream or wetland impacts
will occur as a part of the project.  Department of the Army (DA) permit application
can be found and submitted on the Iowa Department of Natural Resources PERMT 
website. 

2) The time limit for submittals ends 60 days prior to the expiration of the RP, unless the
RP is modified, reissued, or revoked.  If you find that you need more time to
complete the authorized activity, submit your request for a time extension to this
office for consideration at least one month before that date is reached.  If you 
commence or are under contract to commence this activity before the date the RP is
modified or revoked, you will have twelve months from this date to complete your
activity under the present terms and conditions of this RP. 

3) If the project impacts an Outstanding Iowa Water (OIW), an individual 401 Water
Quality Certification (WQC) must be obtained and permittee shall not begin work on 
the activity until a 401 is issued by the State or waived by the DE, and you have
received notification from this office to proceed. 

4) You must maintain the activity authorized by this permit in good condition and in 
conformance with the terms and conditions of this permit.  You are not relieved of 
this requirement if you abandon the permitted activity, although you may make a
good faith transfer to a third party.  If you sell the property associated by this permit, 
you must obtain the signature of the new owner in the space provided and forward a
copy of the permit to this office to validate the transfer of this authorization.  Should 
you wish to cease to maintain the authorized activity, or should you desire to abandon 
it without a good faith transfer, you must obtain a modification of this permit from 
this office, which may require restoration of the area, 

5) If you discover any previously unknown historic or archaeological remains while
accomplishing the activity authorized by this permit, you must immediately notify 
this office of what you have found.  We will initiate the Federal and state 
coordination required to determine if the remains warrant a recovery effort or if the
site is eligible for listing in the National Register of Historic Places. 

6) You must allow representatives from this office to inspect the authorized activity at 
any time deemed necessary to ensure that it is being or has been accomplished in 
accordance with the terms and conditions of your permit. 

2 
46

Item 3.



 

  
 
 

 
   

 
 

  
   

  
 

  
  

 
  

   
 

   
 

  
   

   
   

   
 

  

  
 

 

 
  

   
 

  
   

 
 

 
 

 
    

 
 

   

 
 

B. Special Conditions: 

1) Riprap, if used for bank stabilization, shall be clean native fieldstone, clean quarry 
rock, or appropriately graded clean broken concrete with all reinforcing rods and/or
wire cut flush with the surface of the concrete. It shall be the permittee's
responsibility to maintain the riprap such that any reinforcement material that 
becomes exposed in the future is removed.  The concrete pieces shall be appropriately 
graded, and no piece shall be larger than 3 feet across the longest flat surface.  No 
riprap shall be placed at a distance greater than 4 feet horizontally from the toe of the 
bank.  Asphalt, broken concrete containing asphalt, petroleum-based material, liquid
concrete, and items such as car bodies are specifically excluded from this
authorization. 

2) This regional permit also authorizes temporary structures, fill, and work necessary to 
construct, expand, modify, or improve residential developments, including 
associated infrastructure and attendant features. Temporary impacts must be the 
minimum necessary to achieve project objectives. 

a. All temporary structures and fill will be removed entirely no later than 30 
days after they are no longer needed for construction activities.   

b. Temporary fill materials cleared vegetative materials, construction debris, and 
other fill not necessary for meeting the project purpose, must be disposed of at
an upland area or licensed landfill as appropriate.  The discharge location 
must be provided to the Corps as part of the application packet. 

c. Temporary fills must consist of materials that will not be eroded by expected 
high flows.  If materials might erode the must be removed prior to high flow 
events. 

d. Areas affected temporarily must be returned to pre-construction contours and
must be re-vegetated with native vegetation if not armored. 

3) Measures must be taken for heavy equipment usage in wetland areas to minimize soil
disturbance and compaction.   

4) Any spoil material excavated, dredged, or otherwise produced, must not be returned to 
the waterway or wetlands but must be deposited in a self-contained area in compliance 
with all state statutes.  Any backfilling must be done with clean material and placed in
a manner to prevent violation of applicable water quality standards. 

5) Construction of stormwater management facilities, including but not limited to 
stormwater detention and retention basins, is authorized; however, the construction of 
a stormwater management facility in a WUS does not change the regulatory 
authority/designation of the basin/stream.  Mitigation for the construction of the basin 
may be required for wetland losses greater than 0.1 acre and/or stream losses greater
than 300 linear feet and/or 0.03 acres of streambed impacts.  Stormwater basins cannot 
be used for compensatory mitigation. 

6) Applicants must identify and notify the Rock Island District, Corps of Engineers of all
impacts to fens, bogs, seeps, or sedge meadows.  Fill that will adversely impact these 
resources are not authorized. 

7) Side slopes of a newly constructed channel will be no steeper than 2:1 and planted to 
permanent, perennial, native vegetation if not armored. 

8) No activity may use unsuitable material (e.g. trash, debris, car bodies, asphalt, liquid 
concrete, etc.).  Material used for construction or discharge must be free from toxic
pollutants in toxic amounts (see section 307 of the Clean Water Act).  If broken 
concrete is used as riprap, all reinforcing rods must be cut flush with the surface of the
concrete, and individual pieces of concrete shall be appropriately graded and not
exceed 3 feet in any dimension. 

3 
47

Item 3.



 

   
  

 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 

 

 
  

   
 

 
 

 

 
  

 
  

   
  

 
 

 
    

  
 

 
  
  

 
 

  

 
 

    
  

   
 

 
 

 
 

 

9) No non-native, invasive or other plant species included on the Corps “Excluded Plant 
List” shall be planted for re-vegetation or stabilization purposes, with the exception of
any species that hold particular cultural or traditional significance to the Meskawki
Nation (the Sac and Fox Tribe of the Mississippi in Iowa).  The plant list can be found 
on the Corps website at: http://www.mvr.usace.army.mil/Missions/Regulatory.aspx. 
To prevent the spread of non-native and/or invasive plant species, the permittee shall
ensure that equipment to be utilized in WUS is cleaned before arriving on site.  Wash 
water shall not be discharged into any wetland, waterway, or any other surface water 
conveyance. 

10) No activity may substantially disrupt the necessary life cycle movements of those
species of aquatic life indigenous to the waterway, including those species that
normally migrate through the area, unless the activity’s primary purpose is to impound 
water. All permanent and temporary crossings of waterbodies shall be suitably 
culverted, bridged, or otherwise designed and constructed to maintain low flows to 
sustain the movement of those aquatic species. 

11) Activities in spawning areas during spawning seasons must be avoided to the
maximum extent practicable. No activity may occur in areas of concentrated shellfish 
populations. 

12) If the activity creates an impoundment of water, adverse effects to the aquatic system
due to accelerating the passage of water, and/or restricting its flow must be minimized
to the maximum extent practicable. 

13) To the maximum extent practicable, the pre-construction course, condition, capacity, 
and location of open waters must be maintained for each activity, including stream
channelization, storm water management activities, and temporary and permanent road 
crossing. The activity must be constructed to withstand expected high flows. The
activity must not restrict or impede the passage of normal or high flows unless the
primary purpose of the activity is to impound water or manage high flows. The activity 
may alter the pre-construction course, condition, capacity, and location of open waters
if it benefits the aquatic environment (e.g. stream restoration or relocation activities. 

14) Activities in WUS that serve as breeding areas for migratory birds must be avoided to 
the maximum extent practicable.   The permittee is responsible for ensuring that an 
action authorized by RP 48 complies with the Migratory Bird Treat Act and the Bald 
and Golden Eagle Protection Act.  The permittee is responsible for contacting the 
appropriate local office of the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service to determine what 
measures, if any, are necessary or appropriate to reduce adverse effects to migratory
birds or eagles, including whether “incidental take” permits are necessary and
available under the Migratory Bird Treaty Act or Bald and Golden Eagle Protection 
Act for a particular activity. 

15) No activity may occur in areas of concentrated shellfish population. 
16) No activity may occur in the proximity of a public water supply intake, except where

the activity is for the repair or improvement of public water supply intake structures or
adjacent bank stabilization. 

17) The activity must comply with applicable Federal Emergency Management Agency-
approved state or local floodplain management requirements. 

18) No activity or its operation may impair reserved tribal rights, including, but not limited 
to, reserved water rights and treaty fishing and hunting rights. 

19) To ensure that all impoundment structures are safely designed, the district engineer
may require non-Federal applicant to demonstrate that the structures comply with 
established state or federal, dam safety criteria or have been designed by qualified 
persons.  The district engineer may also require documentation that the design has
been independently reviewed by similarly qualified persons, and appropriate
modifications made to ensure safety. 

4 
48

Item 3.

http://www.mvr.usace.army.mil/Missions/Regulatory.aspx


 

  
 

 
 

 
  

    
  

 

 
 

 
 

 
  
 

  
  

   
  

 
  

 
 

   
 

 

 
  

 
  

  
  

 
  

 
    

 

     

 
 

 
 

 
  

C. Temporary Impacts/Restoration Requirements: 

1) The permittee is required to replant all temporary construction right-of-way (ROW) 
located within wetlands to the standards stated in the Rock Island District (MVR)
Regulatory Branch Mitigation and Monitoring Guidelines.   

2) Side slopes of a newly constructed channel will be no steeper than 2:1 and planted 
with permanent, perennial, native vegetation if not armored. 

3) If jurisdictional wetlands and/or streams will be excavated within the permit area, the 
permittee must side-cast and stockpile the topsoil (top 10-12 inches), if practicable 
and/or if site conditions allow, that is being removed during the initial construction, in 
order to re-establish the topsoil once construction is complete.  The soil must be 
returned to its original contours and a re-established topsoil shall be present prior to 
the re-planting of vegetation.  This ensures that the organic/hydric soils that were
present prior to construction are returned to their natural condition and can provide
for a fertile habitat to re-plant vegetation and increase the survival rate of any new
habitat. 

D. Mitigation: 

1) If the permanent loss of wetland exceeds 0.10 acres or for stream losses greater than 
300 linear feet and/or 0.03 acres of streambed, compensatory mitigation is required 
and must follow the regulations published in the Federal Register dated April 10, 2008 
under 33 CFR Parts 332 and 40 CFR Part 230 – Subpart J entitled “Compensatory 
Mitigation for Losses of Aquatic Resources,” and any such Corps regulation/guidance
that would supplement these mitigation requirements such as the Rock Island District
Mitigation and Monitoring Guidelines and the MVR Stream Mitigation Policy.     

2) The amount of mitigation required will be determined during review for authorization 
under this permit as per the mitigation rule requirements.  Mitigation must be adequate 
to offset unavoidable impacts or losses to regulated WUS.  For all permanent stream
losses greater than 300 feet and/or 0.03 acres completion of the Iowa Stream
Mitigation Method (ISMM) is required to determine adequate compensatory stream
mitigation.  The Corps has the final approval in determining the appropriate and 
practicable mitigation necessary.  The discharge of fill material into WUS prior to
Corps approval of the mitigation plan is prohibited. 

E. Historic Properties/Archaeological: 

1) Section 106 consultation is not required when the Corps determines that the activity 
does not have the potential to cause effects on historic properties (see 36 CFR
800.3(a)).  In cases where the DE determines that the activity may affect properties
listed, or eligible for listing, in the National Register of Historic Places (National 
Register), the activity is not authorized, until the requirements of Section 106 of the
National Historic Preservation Act (NHPA) are met. 

2) Federal permittees should follow their own procedures for complying with the
requirements of Section 106 of NHPA, permittee’s must provide the DE with the
appropriate documentation to demonstrate compliance with those requirements. 

3) Non-federal permittees must submit information to the DE if the authorized activity
may have the potential to cause effects to any historic properties listed, determined to 
be eligible for listing on, or potentially eligible for listing on the National Register,
including previously unidentified properties.  For such activities, the information 
must state which historic properties may be affected by the proposed work and 
include a vicinity map indicating the location of the historic properties or the potential
for the presence of historic properties.  Assistance regarding information on the
location of or potential for the presence of historic resources can be sought from the
State Historic Preservation Officer (SHPO) or Tribal Historic Preservation Officer 

5 
49

Item 3.



 

  
 

 
 

 
  

  
 

    
 

 
 

 

  
 

   
 

 

   

 
 

 
  
 

  
  
 

 
  

  

  
 

  
  

 
 

  
 

  
  

    
 
 

  
 

(THPO), as appropriate, and the National Register (see 33 CFR 330.4(g)).  The DE 
shall make a reasonable and good faith effort to ensure that appropriate identification 
efforts are carried out, which may include background research, consultation, history 
interviews, sample field investigation, and field survey.  Based on the information 
submitted and these efforts, the DE shall determine whether the proposed activity has
the potential to cause an effect on the historic properties.  Where the non-Federal 
applicant has identified historic properties which the activity may have the potential 
to cause effects, and so notified the Corps, the non-Federal applicant shall not begin
the activity until notified by the DE either that the activity has no potential to cause
effects, or that consultation under Section 106 of the NHPA has been completed. 

4) The DE will notify the prospective permittee within 45 days of receipt of a complete
application whether NHPA Section 106 consultation is required.  Section 106 
consultation is not required when the Corps determines that the activity does not have
the potential to cause effects on historic properties (see 36 CFR 800.3(a)).  If NHPA 
Section 106 consultation is required, the non-Federal applicant cannot begin work 
until Section 106 consultation is completed. 

5) Permittee’s should be aware that section 110k of the NHPA (16 U.S.C. 16 470h-2(k)) 
prevents the Corps from granting a permit or other assistance to an applicant who, 
with intent to avoid the requirements of Section 106 of the NHPA has intentionally 
significantly adversely affected a historic property to which the permit would relate, 
or having legal power to prevent it, allowed such significant adverse effect to occur, 
unless the Corps, after consultation with the Advisory Council on Historic
Preservation (ACHP), determines that circumstances justify granting such assistance
despite the adverse effect created or permitted by the applicant. If circumstances 
justify granting the assistance, the Corps is required to notify the ACHP and provide
documentation specifying the circumstances, explaining the degree of damage to the 
integrity of any historic properties affected, and proposed mitigation.  This 
documentation must include any views obtained from the applicant, SHPO/THPO, 
appropriate Indian tribes if the undertaking occurs on or affects historic properties on 
tribal lands or affects properties of interest to those tribes, and other parties known to 
have a legitimate interest in the impacts to the permitted activity on historic
properties. 

F. Endangered Species: 

1) No activity is authorized under this regional permit which is likely to directly or
indirectly jeopardize the continued existence of a threatened or endangered species or
a species proposed for such designation, as identified under Section 7 of the
Endangered Species Act (ESA), or which will directly or indirectly destroy or
adversely modify the critical habitat of such species.  No activity is authorized under 
this regional permit which “may affect” a listed species or critical habitat, unless
Section 7 consultation addressing the effects of the proposed activity has been 
completed to address the effects of the proposed activity on a listed species or critical
habitat. 

2) Federal permittees and their designated state agencies should follow their own 
procedures for complying with the requirements of the ESA.  Federal permittees must 
provide the Corps with the appropriate documentation to demonstrate compliance
with those requirements.  The Corps will review the documentation and determine
whether it is sufficient to address ESA compliance for the activity, or whether
additional ESA consultation is necessary. 

3) Non-federal permittees must provide the Corps with the appropriate documentation to 
demonstrate compliance with the ESA.  If the authorized activity may have the 
potential to effect any listed species or designated critical habitat might be affected or
is in the vicinity of the project, or is located in designated critical habitat, permittee
shall not begin work on the activity until notified by the DE that the requirements of
the ESA have been satisfied and that the activity is authorized.  For activities that may
affect Federally-listed endangered or threatened species or designated critical habitat, 

6 
50

Item 3.



 

  

  
  

   
  

  
  

 
  

   
 

     
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

the notification must include the name(s) of the endangered or threatened species that
may be affected by the proposed work or that utilize the designated critical habitat 
that may be affected by the proposed work.  The DE will determine whether the 
proposed activity “may affect” or will have “no effect” on listed species and 
designated critical habitat. 

4) Authorization of an activity by this regional general permit does not authorize the
"take" of a threatened or endangered species as defined under the ESA.  In the 
absence of separate authorization (e.g., an ESA Section 10 Permit, a Biological
Opinion with "incidental take" provisions, etc.) from the U.S. Fish and Wildlife
Service (USFWS), both lethal and non-lethal "takes" of protected species are in 
violation of the ESA.  Information on the location of threatened and endangered 
species and their critical habitat can be obtained directly from the USFWS webpage. 

G. Water Quality Certification: By letter dated August 30, 2022, the Iowa Department of
Natural Resources issued General Section 401 water quality certification for this regional
permit. 

The permittee understands and agrees that, if future operations by the United States requires the 
removal, relocation, or other alteration, of the structure or work herein authorized, or if, in the 
opinion of the Secretary of the Army of his authorized representative, said structure or work shall
cause unreasonable obstruction to the free navigation of the navigable waters, the permittee will
be required, upon due notice from the Corps of Engineers, to remove, relocate, or alter the
structural work or obstructions caused thereby, without expense to the United States.  No claim 
shall be made against the United States on account of any such removal or alteration. 

<<<<< END OF SPECIAL CONDITIONS >>>>> 

7 
51

Item 3.



 

 
 

   
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

  
 

  
 

   
  
   

 
 

    
 

 
   

  
    

 
  

  
   
   

 
 

  

 
 

   

 
 

   
  

 
  

  
 

  
 

  
 

Further information: 

1. Congressional Authorities: You have been authorized to undertake the activity 
described above pursuant to: 

(X) Section 10 of the Rivers and Harbors Act of 1899 (33 U.S.C. 403). 
(X) Section 404 of the Clean Water Act (33 U.S.C. 1344). 
(  ) Section 103 of the Marine Protection, Research and Sanctuaries Act of 1972 (33 
U.S.C. 1413). 

2. Limits of this authorization. 

a. This permit does not obviate the need to obtain other Federal, state, or local
authorizations required by law. 

b. This permit does not grant any property rights or exclusive privileges. 
c. This permit does not authorize any injury to the property or rights of others. 
d. This permit does not authorize interference with any existing or proposed Federal

project. 

3. Limits of Federal Liability. In issuing this permit, the Federal Government does not
assume any liability for the following: 

a. Damages to the permitted project or uses thereof as a result of other permitted or
unpermitted activities or from natural causes. 

b. Damages to the permitted project or uses thereof as a result of current or future
activities undertaken by or on behalf of the United States in the public interest. 

c. Damages to persons, property, or to other permitted or unpermitted activities or
structures caused by the activity authorized by this permit. 

d. Design or construction deficiencies associated with the permitted work. 
e. Damage claims associated with any future modification, suspension, or revocation of

this permit. 

4. Reliance on Applicant’s Data. The determination of this office that issuance of this 
permit is not contrary to the public interest was made in reliance on the information you 
provided. 

5. Reevaluation of Permit Decision. This office may reevaluate its decision on this permit 
at any time the circumstances warrant. Circumstances that could require a reevaluation 
include, but are not limited to, the following: 

a. You fail to comply with the terms and conditions of this permit. 
b. The information provided by you in support of your permit application proves to have

been false, incomplete, or inaccurate (See 4 above). 
c. Significant new information surfaces which the issuing office did not consider in 

reaching the original public interest decision. Such a reevaluation may result in a 
determination that it is appropriate to use the suspension, modification and revocation
procedures contained in 33 CFR 325.7 or enforcement procedures such as those
contained in 33 CFR 326.4 and 326.5.  The referenced enforcement procedures
provide for the issuance of an administrative order requiring you to comply with the
terms and conditions of your permit and for the initiation of legal action, where 

8 
52

Item 3.



 

 
 

 
  

  

 
 

  
 

 

  
 

  
 

   

igitally signed by G. 

d L Ward Lenz G. War enz Date: 2022.09.2012:44:10 
-05'00' 

__________________________________ _________________________________ 

appropriate.  You will be required to pay for any corrective measures ordered by this
office and if you fail to comply with such directive, this office may in certain 
situations (such as those specified in 33 CFR 209.170) accomplish the corrective
measures by contract or otherwise and bill you for the cost. 

6. Extensions. General condition 2 establishes a time limit for the completion of the activity
authorized by this permit. Unless there are circumstances requiring either a prompt
completion of the authorized activity or a reevaluation of the public interest decision, the
Corps will normally give favorable consideration to a request for an extension of this
time limit. 

This permit becomes effective when the Federal official, designated to act for the Secretary of
the Army, has signed below 

_________________________________ ____20/Sept/22___________________ 
Ward Lenz Date 
Chief, Rock Island District 
Regulatory Division 

When the structures or work authorized by this permit are still in existence at the time the
property is transferred, the terms and conditions of this permit will continue to be binding on the
new owner(s) of the property. To validate the transfer of this permit and associated liabilities
associated with compliance with its terms and conditions, have the transferee sign and date
below. 

Transferee Date 

9 
53

Item 3.



 

 
 

 
 

   
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

IOWA DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES GOVERNOR KIM REYNOLDS 

LT. GOVERNOR ADAM GREGG 

DIRECTOR KAYLA LYON 

August 30, 2022 

Mr. Ward Lenz 
Rock Island District Corps of Engineers 
Clock Tower Building 
PO Box 2004 
Rock Island, IL  61204-2004 

Subject: Section 401 Water Quality Certification for Regional Permit 48 (Fill Material Placed in Waters of the 
United States for Residential Developments in the State of Iowa) CEMVR-RD-2022-0884 

Dear Mr. Lenz, 

The Iowa Department of Natural Resources (DNR) has examined the information furnished by the Rock Island 
District Corps of Engineers in the July 8, 2022 Joint Public Notice and the draft Regional Permit 48. 

This conditional Section 401 Water Quality Certification is hereby granted for Regional Permit 48 by the DNR 
under the authority of Section 401 of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act (40 C.F.R. Part 121, effective 
September 11, 2020). The DNR certifies RP 48 (CEMVR-RD-2022-0884) because there is reasonable 
expectation that the discharge from the proposed projects will comply with Iowa’s water quality requirements 
with the following conditions: 

(1) During construction and upon completion of the project, actions must be taken to prevent pollution 
affecting public health, fish, shellfish, wildlife, and recreation due to turbidity, pH, nutrients, suspended solids, 
floating debris, visible oil and grease, or other pollutants entering a water of the state. This condition will 
ensure permittees comply with Iowa’s narrative water quality standards found at 567 IAC 61.3(2);  

(2) Equipment used in waters of the state shall be cleaned of all hazardous materials, pesticides, fuels, 
lubricants, oils, hydraulic fluids, or other construction-related, potentially hazardous substances before 
arriving on site. Wash water shall not be discharged into a water of the state. This condition will ensure 
permittees comply with Iowa’s narrative water quality standards found at 567 IAC 61.3(2);  

(3) All cleared vegetative material shall be properly managed in such a manner that it cannot enter a water of 
the state and cause a violation of water quality standards. This condition will ensure permittees comply with 
Iowa’s narrative water quality standards found at 567 IAC 61.3(2);  

(4) All construction debris shall be properly managed in such a manner that it cannot enter a water of the 
state. This condition will ensure permittees comply with Iowa’s narrative water quality standards found at 567 
IAC 61.3(2); 

502 E 9TH ST, DES MOINES IA 50319 
Phone: 515-725-8200 www.IowaDNR.gov Fax: 515-725-8202 

54

Item 3.

www.IowaDNR.gov


 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 

(5) Erosion shall be managed so that sediment is not discharged to a water of the state in a manner that 
causes a violation of water quality standards. This condition will ensure permittees comply with Iowa’s 
narrative water quality standards found at 567 IAC 61.3(2);  

(6) Riprap and temporary crossings shall consist of clean material free of coatings of potentially hazardous 
substances. No asphalt or petroleum-based material shall be used as or included in riprap material placed in 
any water of the state or within the high-water table. This condition will ensure permittees comply with Iowa’s 
narrative water quality standards found at 567 IAC 61.3(2); and  

(7) Stockpiled dredged materials on the shore shall be managed so that sediment is not discharged to a water 
of the state in a manner that causes a violation of water quality standards. This condition will ensure 
permittees comply with Iowa’s narrative water quality standards found at 567 IAC 61.3(2). 

If you have any questions about the certification or any conditions contained therein, please contact me at 
Christine.schwake@dnr.iowa.gov or call (515) 725-8399. 

Sincerely, 
Digitally signed byChristine Christine Schwake 
Date: 2022.08.30Schwake 13:57:32 -05'00' 

Christine Schwake 
Environmental Specialist 

55

Item 3.

https://2022.08.30
mailto:Christine.schwake@dnr.iowa.gov


56

Item 3.



57

Item 3.



-1-

NOTIFICATION OF ADMINISTRATIVE APPEAL OPTIONS AND PROCESS AND 
REQUEST FOR APPEAL 

Applicant: ME Associates, LLC. File Number: 2023-614 Date: 6/17/2024 
Attached is: See Section below 

INITIAL PROFFERED PERMIT (Standard Permit or Letter of permission) A 
PROFFERED PERMIT (Standard Permit or Letter of permission) B 
PERMIT DENIAL WITHOUT PREJUDICE C 
PERMIT DENIAL WITH PREJUDICE D 
APPROVED JURISDICTIONAL DETERMINATION E 

X PRELIMINARY JURISDICTIONAL DETERMINATION F 
SECTION I  
The following identifies your rights and options regarding an administrative appeal of the above 
decision.  Additional information may be found at https://www.usace.army.mil/Missions/Civil-
Works/Regulatory-Program-and-Permits/appeals/ or Corps regulations at 33 CFR Part 331. 

A:  INITIAL PROFFERED PERMIT:  You may accept or object to the permit 

• ACCEPT:  If you received a Standard Permit, you may sign the permit document and return it to
the district engineer for final authorization.  If you received a Letter of Permission (LOP), you may
accept the LOP and your work is authorized.  Your signature on the Standard Permit or
acceptance of the LOP means that you accept the permit in its entirety, and waive all rights to
appeal the permit, including its terms and conditions, and approved jurisdictional determinations
associated with the permit.

• OBJECT:  If you object to the permit (Standard or LOP) because of certain terms and conditions
therein, you may request that the permit be modified accordingly. You must complete Section II of
this form and return the form to the district engineer.  Upon receipt of your letter, the district
engineer will evaluate your objections and may: (a) modify the permit to address all of your
concerns, (b) modify the permit to address some of your objections, or (c) not modify the permit
having determined that the permit should be issued as previously written.  After evaluating your
objections, the district engineer will send you a proffered permit for your reconsideration, as
indicated in Section B below.

B:  PROFFERED PERMIT: You may accept or appeal the permit 

• ACCEPT:  If you received a Standard Permit, you may sign the permit document and return it to
the district engineer for final authorization.  If you received a Letter of Permission (LOP), you may
accept the LOP and your work is authorized.  Your signature on the Standard Permit or
acceptance of the LOP means that you accept the permit in its entirety, and waive all rights to
appeal the permit, including its terms and conditions, and approved jurisdictional determinations
associated with the permit.

• APPEAL:  If you choose to decline the proffered permit (Standard or LOP) because of certain
terms and conditions therein, you may appeal the declined permit under the Corps of Engineers
Administrative Appeal Process by completing Section II of this form and sending the form to the
division engineer.  This form must be received by the division engineer within 60 days of the date
of this notice.

58

Item 3.

https://www.usace.army.mil/Missions/Civil-Works/Regulatory-Program-and-Permits/appeals/
https://www.usace.army.mil/Missions/Civil-Works/Regulatory-Program-and-Permits/appeals/


-2- 
 

C. PERMIT DENIAL WITHOUT PREJUDICE: Not appealable 
You received a permit denial without prejudice because a required Federal, state, and/or local 
authorization and/or certification has been denied for activities which also require a Department of 
the Army permit before final action has been taken on the Army permit application.  The permit denial 
without prejudice is not appealable.  There is no prejudice to the right of the applicant to reinstate 
processing of the Army permit application if subsequent approval is received from the appropriate 
Federal, state, and/or local agency on a previously denied authorization and/or certification. 
 
D:  PERMIT DENIAL WITH PREJUDICE:   You may appeal the permit denial 
You may appeal the denial of a permit under the Corps of Engineers Administrative Appeal Process 
by completing Section II of this form and sending the form to the division engineer.  This form must 
be received by the division engineer within 60 days of the date of this notice. 
 
E:  APPROVED JURISDICTIONAL DETERMINATION:  You may accept or appeal the approved JD 
or provide new information for reconsideration 
 
• ACCEPT:  You do not need to notify the Corps to accept an approved JD.  Failure to notify the 

Corps within 60 days of the date of this notice means that you accept the approved JD in its 
entirety and waive all rights to appeal the approved JD. 

 
• APPEAL:  If you disagree with the approved JD, you may appeal the approved JD under the 

Corps of Engineers Administrative Appeal Process by completing Section II of this form and 
sending the form to the division engineer.  This form must be received by the division engineer 
within 60 days of the date of this notice. 
 

• RECONSIDERATION: You may request that the district engineer reconsider the approved JD by 
submitting new information or data to the district engineer within 60 days of the date of this notice.  
The district will determine whether the information submitted qualifies as new information or data 
that justifies reconsideration of the approved JD.  A reconsideration request does not initiate the 
appeal process. You may submit a request for appeal to the division engineer to preserve your 
appeal rights while the district is determining whether the submitted information qualifies for a 
reconsideration. 
 

F:  PRELIMINARY JURISDICTIONAL DETERMINATION:  Not appealable 
You do not need to respond to the Corps regarding the preliminary JD.  The Preliminary JD is not 
appealable.  If you wish, you may request an approved JD (which may be appealed), by contacting 
the Corps district for further instruction.  Also, you may provide new information for further 
consideration by the Corps to reevaluate the JD. 
 
POINT OF CONTACT FOR QUESTIONS OR INFORMATION: 
If you have questions regarding this decision 
you may contact: 
 
 
Albert Frohlich 
USACE – Rock Island District – Regulatory Division 
P.O. Box 2004 
Rock Island, IL 61204 
(309) 794-5859 

If you have questions regarding the appeal 
process, or to submit your request for appeal, you 
may contact: 
 
Brian Oberlies 
Regulatory Appeals Review Officer 
Mississippi Valley Division  
1400 Walnut St. 
Vicksburg, MS 39180 
(601) 634-5820 
 

59

Item 3.



-3- 
 

 

SECTION II – REQUEST FOR APPEAL or OBJECTIONS TO AN INITIAL PROFFERED PERMIT 
 
REASONS FOR APPEAL OR OBJECTIONS: (Describe your reasons for appealing the decision or 
your objections to an initial proffered permit in clear concise statements. Use additional pages as 
necessary. You may attach additional information to this form to clarify where your reasons or 
objections are addressed in the administrative record.) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION: The appeal is limited to a review of the administrative record, the 
Corps memorandum for the record of the appeal conference or meeting, and any supplemental 
information that the review officer has determined is needed to clarify the administrative record.  
Neither the appellant nor the Corps may add new information or analyses to the record.  However, 
you may provide additional information to clarify the location of information that is already in the 
administrative record. 
 
RIGHT OF ENTRY:  Your signature below grants the right of entry to Corps of Engineers personnel, 
and any government consultants, to conduct investigations of the project site during the course of the 
appeal process.  You will be provided a 15-day notice of any site investigation and will have the 
opportunity to participate in all site investigations. 
 
 
 
_______________________________                                                            
Signature of appellant or agent. 

Date: 

Email address of appellant and/or agent:  Telephone number:  

60

Item 3.



Appendix 2 - PRELIMINARY JURISDICTIONAL DETERMINATION (PJD) FORM 
 

 
1 Districts may establish timeframes for requester to return signed PJD forms. If the requester does not respond within the established time frame, the 
district may presume concurrence and no additional follow up is necessary prior to finalizing an action. 

 
Page 1 of 3 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 

A. REPORT COMPLETION DATE FOR PJD: 16-OCT-2023 
 
B. NAME AND ADDRESS OF PERSON REQUESTING PJD: 

Morley, Packer 
Me Associates, Llc 
775 West 1200 N. Suite 100 
Springville, UT 84663 
 

C. DISTRICT OFFICE, FILE NAME, AND NUMBER: 
MVR, ME Associates, LLC, MVR-2023-00614-RG 
 

D. PROJECT LOCATION(S) AND BACKGROUND INFORMATION:  
(USE THE TABLE BELOW TO DOCUMENT MULTIPLE AQUATIC RESOURCES AND/OR AQUATIC 
RESOURCES AT DIFFERENT SITES) 
 
State: IA      County/parish/borough: Black Hawk County      City: Cedar Falls 
Center coordinates of site (lat/long in degree decimal format):  

Lat.: 42.540345o      Long.: -92.479754o 
Universal Transverse Mercator: 15 

Name of nearest waterbody: West Fork Cedar River 
 

E. REVIEW PERFORMED FOR SITE EVALUATION (CHECK ALL THAT APPLY): 
 Office (Desk) Determination. Date: 10/16/2023 
 Field Determination. Date(s):  

 
 

TABLE OF AQUATIC RESOURCES IN REVIEW AREA WHICH "MAY BE" SUBJECT TO 
REGULATORY JURISDICTION. 

 
Site Number Latitude (decimal 

degrees) 
Longitude 

(decimal degrees) 
Estimated amount 

of aquatic 
resource in review 
area (acreage and 

linear feet, if 
applicable) 

Type of aquatic 
resource (i.e., 

wetland vs. non-
wetland waters) 

Geographic 
authority to which 

the aquatic 
resource "may be" 

subject (i.e., 
Section 404 or 
Section 10/404) 

A 42.540067 -92.480674 0.75 acres Wetland Section 404 
B 42.540388 -92.481918 0.03 acres Wetland Section 404 
C 42.541998 -92.48284 0.12 acres Wetland Section 404 
D 42.539693 -92.481057 0.01 acres Wetland Section 404 
E 42.539951 -92.481589 0.01 acres Wetland Section 404 
F 42.539941 -92.481326 0.01 acres Wetland Section 404 
G 42.539233 -92.48092 0.02 acres Wetland Section 404 
H 42.539384 -92.481392 0.08 acres Wetland Section 404 
I 42.538802 -92.480568 0.07 acres Wetland Section 404 
J 42.539177 -92.478796 0.53 acres Wetland Section 404 
K 42.539177 -92.479223 0.16 acres Wetland Section 404 
L 42.539708 -92.479899 0.39 acres Wetland Section 404 
M 42.53848 -92.480328 0.12 acres Wetland Section 404 
N 42.539037 -92.480827 0.04 acres Wetland Section 404 
O 42.541391 -92.482386 0.09 acres Wetland Section 404 
P 42.54127 -92.481838 0.53 acres Wetland Section 404 
Q 42.540589 -92.481545 0.16 acres Wetland Section 404 

61

Item 3.



Appendix 2 - PRELIMINARY JURISDICTIONAL DETERMINATION (PJD) FORM 
 

 
1 Districts may establish timeframes for requester to return signed PJD forms. If the requester does not respond within the established time frame, the 
district may presume concurrence and no additional follow up is necessary prior to finalizing an action. 

 
Page 2 of 3 

R 42.539921 -92.480986 0.29 acres Wetland Section 404 
S 42.538746 -92.479426 0.1 acres Wetland Section 404 
Stream 1 42.540213 -92.480763 1469 feet Non-wetland waters Section 404 
Stream 2 42.54133 -92.482012 256 feet Non-wetland waters Section 404 

 
 

1) The Corps of Engineers believes that there may be jurisdictional aquatic resources in the review 
area, and the requestor of this PJD is hereby advised of his or her option to request and obtain 
an approved JD (AJD) for that review area based on an informed decision after having discussed 
the various types of JDs and their characteristics and circumstances when they may be 
appropriate. 

2) In any circumstance where a permit applicant obtains an individual permit, or a Nationwide 
General Permit (NWP) or other general permit verification requiring "pre-construction notification" 
(PCN), or requests verification for a non-reporting NWP or other general permit, and the permit 
applicant has not requested an AJD for the activity, the permit applicant is hereby made aware 
that: (1) the permit applicant has elected to seek a permit authorization based on a PJD, which 
does not make an official determination of jurisdictional aquatic resources; (2) the applicant has 
the option to request an AJD before accepting the terms and conditions of the permit 
authorization, and that basing a permit authorization on an AJD could possibly result in less 
compensatory mitigation being required or different special conditions; (3) the applicant has the 
right to request an individual permit rather than accepting the terms and conditions of the NWP 
or other general permit authorization; (4) the applicant can accept a permit authorization and 
thereby agree to comply with all the terms and conditions of that permit, including whatever 
mitigation requirements the Corps has determined to be necessary; (5) undertaking any activity 
in reliance upon the subject permit authorization without requesting an AJD constitutes the 
applicant's acceptance of the use of the PJD; (6) accepting a permit authorization (e.g., signing a 
proffered individual permit) or undertaking any activity in reliance on any form of Corps permit 
authorization based on a PJD constitutes agreement that all aquatic resources in the review area 
affected in any way by that activity will be treated as jurisdictional, and waives any challenge to 
such jurisdiction in any administrative or judicial compliance or enforcement action, or in any 
administrative appeal or in any Federal court; and (7) whether the applicant elects to use either 
an AJD or a PJD, the.JD will be processed as soon as practicable. Further, an AJD, a proffered 
individual permit (and all terms and conditions contained therein), or individual permit denial can 
be administratively appealed pursuant to 33 C.F.R. Part 331. If, during an administrative appeal, 
it becomes appropriate to make an official determination whether geographic jurisdiction exists 
over aquatic resources in the review area, or to provide an official delineation of jurisdictional 
aquatic resources in the review area, the Corps will provide an AJD to accomplish that result, as 
soon as is practicable. This PJD finds that there “may be” waters of the U.S. and/or that there 
“may be” navigable waters of the U.S. on the subject review area, and identifies all aquatic 
features in the review area that could be affected by the proposed activity, based on the following 
information: 

 
SUPPORTING DATA. Data reviewed for PJD (check all that apply)  
 
Checked items should be included in subject file. Appropriately reference sources below where indicated 
for all checked items: 

 
_X_ Maps, plans, plots or plat submitted by or on behalf of the PJD requestor: 
 Map: Page 8 – Figure A – Wetland Delineation Map, included in wetland delineation dated 

9/30/2021. 

62

Item 3.



Appendix 2 - PRELIMINARY JURISDICTIONAL DETERMINATION (PJD) FORM 
 

 
1 Districts may establish timeframes for requester to return signed PJD forms. If the requester does not respond within the established time frame, the 
district may presume concurrence and no additional follow up is necessary prior to finalizing an action. 

 
Page 3 of 3 

___ Data sheets prepared/submitted by or on behalf of the PJD requestor. 
___ Office concurs with data sheets/delineation report. 
___ Office does not concur with data sheets/delineation report. Rationale: ____________________. 

___ Data sheets prepared by the Corps: ____________________________. 
___ Corps navigable waters' study: ____________________________. 
___ U.S. Geological Survey Hydrologic Atlas: ____________________________. 

___ USGS NHD data.  
___ USGS 8 and 12 digit HUC maps. 

_X_ U.S. Geological Survey map(s). Cite scale & quad name: Waterloo, IA 24K, Figure C. 
_X_ Natural Resources Conservation Service Soil Survey. Citation: Figure D – Wetland Delineation. 
___ National wetlands inventory map(s). Cite name: ____________________________. 
___ State/local wetland inventory map(s): ____________________________. 
___ FEMA/FIRM maps: ____________________________ 
___ 100-year Floodplain Elevation is: _______________. (National Geodetic Vertical Datum of 1929) 

___ Photographs: ___ Aerial (Name & Date): ____________________________. 
___ or ___ Other (Name & Date): ____________________________. 

___ Previous determination(s). File no. and date of response letter: __________________________. 
___ Other information (please specify): ____________________________. 

 
IMPORTANT NOTE: The information recorded on this form has not necessarily been verified by 
the Corps and should not be relied upon for later jurisdictional determinations. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
_________________________________  _________________________________ 
Signature and date of Regulatory staff 
member completing PJD 

 Signature and date of person requesting 
PJD (REQUIRED, unless obtaining the 
signature is impracticable)1 

 

63

Item 3.



64

Item 3.



Traffic Impact Study

Thunder Ridge West Second Addition

Cedar Falls, Iowa

ME Associates

7900 International Drive, Suite 300

Bloomington, MN 55425

612.875.2417

26 June 2020

65

Item 3.



66

Item 3.



 

 
 

Thunder Ridge West Second Addition – Cedar Falls 

 Executive Summary 1  

Executive Summary 

 

Project Description  

 

Thunder Ridge West Second Addition is a proposed commercial development in Cedar Falls, Iowa. The 
site is located on the south side of 1st Street (IA 57) between Lake Ridge Drive on the west and 
Magnolia Drive/Oak Park Boulevard on the east. 
 
The development is proposed to consist of 9 lots with a variety of uses including a bank, gas 
station/convenience store, pharmacy, restaurants, general retail strip center, a medical/office 
building, and an assisted living facility. There is also a multifamily housing development planned west 
of the 9 lots with 216 units.  
 
Access to the property will be via extensions of Lake Ridge Drive, White Tail Drive, and Eagle Ridge 
Road into the new development acreage. 
 
The City of Cedar Falls requires a Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) for developments of this zoning 
classification to determine “impacts upon surrounding roadways.” 
 

Trip Generation 

 

The proposed new development is expected to generate 292 entering trips and 192 exiting trips in the 

AM peak hour, and 226 entering and 266 exiting trips in the PM peak hour. This site will also experience 

pass-by and diverted link trips, which have also been included in the driveway analysis. 

 

Turn Lanes/Access Management 

 

The development proposes to utilize three existing roadway connections to 1st Street (IA 57) and 

extend internal roads to provide access to individual lot developments. 

 

Traffic Impacts 

 

Analysis shows that the new development traffic can be accommodated within the existing roadway 

infrastructure with minimal impact. The new development roadways and extensions and existing 

intersections on 1st Street (IA 57) indicate acceptable levels of service for the Full Build 2025 scenario. 

 

Recommended Improvements 

 

The following summarizes recommended improvements: 

 

1st Street (IA 57) & Lake Ridge Drive 
 

• Construct an eastbound right-turn lane on 1st Street (IA 57) and construct a northbound left-
turn lane on Lake Ridge Drive new connection. 

 
1st Street (IA 57) & Eagle Ridge Road 

 

• Stripe the existing northbound approach for a left-turn lane/through-right lane. 

67

Item 3.



 

 

Thunder Ridge West Second Addition – Cedar Falls 

 Page 1 

Table of Contents 

I. Introduction ................................................................................................ 2 

Figure 1 – Site Plan ......................................................................................... 3 

Figure 2 – Vicinity Map .................................................................................... 4 

II. Existing Conditions ..................................................................................... 5 

A.  Existing Roadway Conditions ....................................................................................... 5 

B. Existing/Proposed Intersection Geometry .................................................................... 5 

C. Traffic Volumes .......................................................................................................... 6 

Figure 3 – Existing Traffic Volumes - 2020 ........................................................ 7 

Figure 4 – Adjusted Existing Traffic Volumes .................................................... 8 

III. Methodology .............................................................................................. 9 

A.  Base Assumptions ....................................................................................................... 9 

B.  Background Growth .................................................................................................... 9 

C.  Trip Generation .......................................................................................................... 9 

D. Trip Distribution ....................................................................................................... 12 

Figure 5 – Pass-by/Diverted Link Trips ........................................................... 12 

Figure 6 – Trip Distribution ............................................................................ 14 

Figure 7 – Site Trips ...................................................................................... 15 

Figure 8 – Full Build 2025 Volumes ................................................................. 16 

IV. Turn Lane Analysis ................................................................................... 17 

A.  Right-Turn Lanes ...................................................................................................... 17 

B.  Left-Turn Lanes ........................................................................................................ 17 

V. Capacity Analysis ...................................................................................... 18 

A.  1st Street (IA 57) & Lake Ridge Drive ......................................................................... 18 

B.  1st Street (IA 57) & Eagle Ridge Road ........................................................................ 20 

C.  1st Street (IA 57) & Oak Park Boulevard/Magnolia Drive ............................................. 21 

D. Magnolia Drive & White Tail Drive ............................................................................. 23 

E.  Lake Ridge Drive & White Tail Drive .......................................................................... 24 

F.  Lake Ridge Drive & Eagle Ridge Road ......................................................................... 24 

G. Eagle Ridge Road & White Tail Drive ......................................................................... 25 

VI. Summary and Conclusion ......................................................................... 26 

Appendix ...................................................................................................... 27 

68

Item 3.



 

 

Thunder Ridge West Second Addition – Cedar Falls 

 Page 2 

I. Introduction 

Thunder Ridge West Second Addition is a proposed commercial development in Cedar Falls, 
Iowa. The site is located on the south side of 1st Street (IA 57) between Lake Ridge Drive on 
the west and Magnolia Drive/Oak Park Boulevard on the east. 
 
The development is proposed to consist of 9 lots with a variety of uses including a bank, gas 
station/convenience store, pharmacy, restaurants, general retail strip center, a medical/office 
building, and an assisted living facility. There is also a multifamily housing development 
planned west of the 9 lots with 216 units.  
 
Access to the property will be via an extension of Lake Ridge Drive south approximately 1,300 
feet with connections to the east to a White Tail Drive extension, and an Eagle Ridge Road 
extension. 
 
The City of Cedar Falls requires a Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) for developments of this zoning 
classification to determine “impacts upon surrounding roadways.” 
 
The study area included the following intersections: 
 

• 1st Street (IA 57) & Lake Ridge Drive 

• 1st Street (IA 57) & Eagle Ridge Road 

• 1st Street (IA 57) & Oak Park Boulevard/Magnolia Drive 

• Magnolia Drive & White Tail Drive 

• Lake Ridge Drive & White Tail Drive 

• Lake Ridge Drive & Eagle Ridge Road 

• Eagle Ridge Road & White Tail Drive 
 

The study analyzed the following scenarios: 
 

• 2020 Existing Conditions 

• Full Build 2025 Conditions 
 
The AM peak hour and PM peak hour were analyzed.  
 

Figure 1 shows the most recent site plan.  Figure 2 shows the project vicinity map.  

 

 

 

 

 

  

69

Item 3.



Site Plan

Figure 1

Thunder Ridge West Second Addition – Cedar Falls

Date: 25 June 2020

Lake Ridge Drive & 

Eagle Ridge Road

Lake Ridge Drive & 

White Tail Drive

1st Street (IA 57) & 

Lake Ridge Drive 1st Street (IA 57) & 

Eagle Ridge Road

Magnolia Drive & 

White Tail Drive

Eagle Ridge Road & 

White Tail Drive

70

Item 3.



Vicinity Map

Figure 2

Thunder Ridge West Second Addition – Cedar Falls

Project Location

Date: 23 June 2020

71

Item 3.



 

 

Thunder Ridge West Second Addition – Cedar Falls 

 Page 5 

II. Existing Conditions 

A.  Existing Roadway Conditions 

 
Table 2.1 presents a summary of the existing roadway conditions in the study area. 

 

Table 2.1 – Existing Roadways 

Street Name Functional Class Typical Section 
Posted 
Speed 

AADT 

1st Street (IA 57) Major Arterial 
Four-lane divided 

Two-way Left-Turn 
Lane (TWLTL) 

45 mph 
10,758 E 
7,643 W 

Lake Ridge Drive 
(south extension) 

Collector Two-lane undivided 25 mph - 

Magnolia Drive Collector Two-lane undivided 25 mph 4,828 

Eagle Ridge Road Local street two-lane undivided 25 mph - 

 
B. Existing/Proposed Intersection Geometry 

 
1st Street (IA 57) & Lake Ridge Drive is an unsignalized T-intersection with stop sign control on 
Lake Ridge Drive. The eastbound approach has a left-turn lane and a through lane. The 
westbound approach has a through lane and a right-turn lane. The southbound approach is a 
single lane. This development will add a fourth leg to this intersection on the south side of 1st 
Street (IA 57) to provide a new access roadway for the project. 
 
1st Street (IA 57) & Eagle Ridge Road is unsignalized with stop sign control on Eagle Ridge 
Drive. The eastbound and westbound approaches have a left-turn lane, a through lane, and a 
combination through/right lane. The northbound and southbound approaches consist of a single 
lane. 
 
1st Street (IA 57) & Oak Park Boulevard/Magnolia Drive is signalized with protected/permitted 
left-turn phasing on the eastbound and westbound approaches. The northbound approach has a 
right-turn overlap phase which runs concurrent with the westbound leading left-turn phase. 
The eastbound and westbound approaches have a left-turn lane, a through lane, and a 
combination through/right lane. The northbound approach has a combination left/through lane 
and a right-turn lane. The southbound approach consists of a single lane. 
 
Magnolia Drive & White Tail Drive is unsignalized with stop sign control on White Tail Drive. All 
approaches consist of a single lane. 
 
Lake Ridge Drive & White Tail Drive is a proposed unsignalized intersection with stop sign 
control on White Tail Drive. All approaches will consist of a single lane. 
 
Lake Ridge Drive & Eagle Ridge Road is a proposed unsignalized intersection with stop sign 
control on Eagle Ridge Road. All approaches will consist of a single lane. 
 
 

72

Item 3.



 

 

Thunder Ridge West Second Addition – Cedar Falls 

 Page 6 

Eagle Ridge Road & White Tail Drive is an existing intersection which currently has only a 
westbound approach and a southbound approach. The eastbound and northbound approaches 
will both be extended to connect to the Lake Ridge Drive extension. All approaches consist of a 
single lane. 
 
C. Traffic Volumes 

 
Traffic data collection for study area intersections was performed on May 19, 20, and 21, 2020. 
Figure 3 displays existing traffic volumes - 2020. These volumes can be found in the Appendix.  
 
Due to shut downs which occurred because of coronavirus concerns, traffic volumes counted at 
this time will not be at normal levels. In order to determine an adjustment factor for the 
volumes collected, a comparison was made to intersection turning volumes which were 
collected by the Iowa DOT on July 10, 2017 for the intersection of 1st Street (IA 57) & Oak Park 
Boulevard/Magnolia Drive. This comparison is shown in Table 2.2.  
 

Table 2.2 - Count Comparison - 2017 Iowa DOT vs 2020 

Time SB WB NB EB Total Year 

  LT TH RT LT TH RT LT TH RT LT TH RT     

7:00-8:00 50 2 2 64 125 7 9 7 85 0 372 22 745 2017 

7:30-8:30 23 3 4 49 139 13 13 2 64 1 257 24 592 2020 

Difference -54% 50% 100% -23% 11% 86% 44% -71% -25%   -31% 9% -21%   

                              

16:00-17:00 29 14 3 228 386 42 98 16 136 0 263 51 1266 2017 

16:30-17:30 32 11 5 151 355 44 75 12 105 2 184 47 1023 2020 

Difference 10% -21% 67% -34% -8% 5% -23% -25% -23%   -30% 
-

8% -19%   

 
As shown, while individual movements vary, the overall current counts are 20% less than the 
counts done in 2017. 
 
In order to adjust the current traffic, all newly counted volumes will be adjusted by a factor of 
1.236. This will account for the 20% increase along with a 1% per year growth factor for the 
time period 2017 to 2020. For the 1st Street (IA 57) & Oak Park Boulevard/Magnolia Drive 
intersection, the 2017 Iowa DOT counts will be utilized, with a 1% per year growth factor 
applied. Figure 4 displays adjusted existing traffic volumes, which will be utilized as the base 
traffic for analysis. 
 
Current Average Annual Daily Traffic (AADT) volumes were retrieved from the Iowa DOT 
Planning Office website.    

  

73

Item 3.



Existing Traffic Volumes - 2020

Figure 3

Thunder Ridge West Second Addition – Cedar Falls

NOT TO SCALENOT TO SCALE

XX/XX

XX/XX

XX/XX

LEGEND

Turn 

movement

AM/PM 

peak 

volumes

Date: 23 June 2020

7/38

102/376

5/16

0/7

289/190

5/24

9
/
3
8

1
/
6

0
/
1
2

1
/
8

0
/
6

2
8
/
2
0

7/38

102/376

5/16

0/7

289/190

5/24

9
/
3
8

1
/
6

0
/
1
2

1
/
8

0
/
6

2
8
/
2
0

1st Street (IA 57) & 

Eagle Ridge Road

4/37

115/387

1/9

279/214

3
/
5

2
3
/
1
4

4/37

115/387

1/9

279/214

3
/
5

2
3
/
1
4

13/44

139/355

49/151

1/2

257/184

24/47

1
3
/
7
5

2
/
1
2

6
4
/
1
0
5

4
/
5

3
/
1
1

2
3
/
3
2

13/44

139/355

49/151

1/2

257/184

24/47

1
3
/
7
5

2
/
1
2

6
4
/
1
0
5

4
/
5

3
/
1
1

2
3
/
3
2

1st Street (IA 57) & 

Lake Ridge Drive

1st Street (IA 57) & Oak 
Park Boulevard / 
Magnolia Drive

Magnolia Drive & 

White Tail Drive

8/34

0/11

2/19

21/43

1/9

14/45

1
2
/
4
1

6
0
/
1
3
4

6
/
1
3

1
8
/
4
6

4
9
/
1
3
7

5
/
1
6

8/34

0/11

2/19

21/43

1/9

14/45

1
2
/
4
1

6
0
/
1
3
4

6
/
1
3

1
8
/
4
6

4
9
/
1
3
7

5
/
1
6

74

Item 3.



Adjusted Existing Traffic Volumes

Figure 4

Thunder Ridge West Second Addition – Cedar Falls

NOT TO SCALENOT TO SCALE

XX/XX

XX/XX

XX/XX

LEGEND

Turn 

movement

AM/PM 

peak 

volumes

Date: 23 June 2020

9/47

126/465

6/20

0/9

357/235

6/30

1
1
/
4
7

1
/
7

0
/
1
5

1
/
1
0

0
/
7

3
5
/
2
5

9/47

126/465

6/20

0/9

357/235

6/30

1
1
/
4
7

1
/
7

0
/
1
5

1
/
1
0

0
/
7

3
5
/
2
5

1st Street (IA 57) & 

Eagle Ridge Road

5/46

142/478

1/11

345/265

4
/
6

2
8
/
1
7

5/46

142/478

1/11

345/265

4
/
6

2
8
/
1
7

7/43

129/398

66/235

1/2

383/271

23/53

9
/
1
0
1

7
/
1
6

8
8
/
1
4
0

2
/
3

2
/
1
4

5
2
/
3
0

7/43

129/398

66/235

1/2

383/271

23/53

9
/
1
0
1

7
/
1
6

8
8
/
1
4
0

2
/
3

2
/
1
4

5
2
/
3
0

1st Street (IA 57) & 

Lake Ridge Drive

1st Street (IA 57) & Oak 
Park Boulevard / 
Magnolia Drive

Magnolia Drive & 

White Tail Drive

10/42

0/14

3/24

26/53

1/11

17/56

1
5
/
5
1

7
4
/
1
6
6

7
/
1
6

2
2
/
5
7

6
1
/
1
6
9

6
/
2
0

10/42

0/14

3/24

26/53

1/11

17/56

1
5
/
5
1

7
4
/
1
6
6

7
/
1
6

2
2
/
5
7

6
1
/
1
6
9

6
/
2
0

75

Item 3.



 

 

Thunder Ridge West Second Addition – Cedar Falls 

 Page 9 

III. Methodology 

A.  Base Assumptions 

 
Intersection capacity analysis was conducted using Synchro v10.0. Trip generation was 
calculated using the 10th edition of the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) Trip 
Generation Manual. Right-turn lanes were examined using the National Cooperative Highway 
Research Program (NCHRP) Report No. 279 Intersection Channelization Design Guide. Signal 
timing was determined from site observation. 
 
 
B.  Background Growth 

 
The average annual background growth rate is calculated using historical AADT volumes. 
Calculations show that the background growth on 1st Street (IA 57) is 0.81% per year. These 
calculations can be found in the Appendix. 
 
Existing volumes were increased by 1% per year to estimate background growth for Full Build 
2025 conditions.  
 
C.  Trip Generation 

 
The development is proposed to consist of 9 lots with a variety of uses, as shown below.  
 

Lot 1  Credit Union with drive-thru window 6,000  sq. ft. 
Lot 2  Gas Station/Convenience Store  12  vehicle fuel positions 
Lot 3  Pharmacy/Drugstore, drive-thru  15,000  sq. ft. 
Lot 4   Fast Food, drive-thru   2,500  sq. ft. 
Lot 5  High-Turnover (Sit Down) restaurant 7,000  sq. ft. 
Lot 6  Retail Strip Center   38,500  sq. ft. 
Lot 7  Medical-Dental Office   45,000  sq. ft. 
Lots 8 and 9 Memory Care Center   110  beds 
West Lot Multifamily Housing   216 dwelling units 

 
The ITE Trip Generation Manual, 10th Edition was used to estimate the projected trips by this 
development.    
 
Table 3.1 contains the summary of the land uses and sizes used for trip generation estimates. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

76

Item 3.



 

 

Thunder Ridge West Second Addition – Cedar Falls 

 Page 10 

Table 3.1 - ITE Trip Generation 

Average Weekday Driveway Volumes 
AM Peak 

Hour 
PM Peak 

Hour 

Land Use 
ITE 

Code 
Size 

Daily 
Trips 

Enter Exit Enter Exit 

Drive-in Bank 912 6 Th.Sq.Ft. GFA 614 33 24 62 61 

Gasoline/Service Station 
with Convenience 
Market 

945 12 
Vehicle Fueling 
Positions 

2464 77 73 86 82 

Pharmacy/Drugstore 
with Drive-Through 
Window 

881 15 Th.Sq.Ft. GFA 1637 31 27 77 77 

Fast Food Restaurant 
with Drive-Through 
Window 

934 2.5 Th.Sq.Ft. GFA 1177 51 49 43 39 

High-Turnover (Sit-
Down) Restaurant 

932 7 Th.Sq.Ft. GFA 785 39 31 42 26 

Shopping Center 820 38.5 Th.Sq.Ft. GLA 3141 106 65 129 139 

Medical-Dental Office 
Building 

720 45 Th.Sq.Ft. GFA 1641 86 24 43 112 

Assisted Living 254 110 Beds 286 13 8 11 18 

Multifamily Housing 
(Mid-Rise) 

221 216 Dwelling Units 1175 19 54 57 36 

Unadjusted Peak Hour Trips 12920 455 355 550 590 

Internal Capture Reduction - from NCHRP No 684 

Internal Capture Reduction 

Office -16 -22 -10 -26 

Retail -19 -28 -64 -58 

Restaurant -51 -24 -35 -38 

Residential -1 -13 -37 -24 

Driveway Peak Hour Trips 368 268 404 444 

Pass-By/Diverted Link Reduction - from ITE Manual 

Pass-By/Diverted Link Reduction 

Drive-in Bank -7 -7 -21 -21 

Gasoline/Service Station with 
Convenience Market 

-45 -45 -46 -46 

Pharmacy/Drugstore with Drive-
Through Window 

0 0 -37 -37 

Fast Food Restaurant with Drive-
Through Window 

-24 -24 -19 -19 

High-Turnover (Sit-Down) Restaurant 0 0 -11 -11 

Shopping Center 0 0 -44 -44 

Total New Peak Hour Trips to Adjacent Network 292 192 226 266 

 

77

Item 3.



 

 

Thunder Ridge West Second Addition – Cedar Falls 

 Page 11 

This retail/office/residential development generates “internal capture” trips summarized in 
the table above. Internal capture trip reduction is a method to estimate interaction between 
different uses within the same development. While each land use in a development generates 
vehicle trips, some people will visit more than one land use within the development. This 
phenomenon of multiple land uses adjacent to each other ultimately results in fewer vehicle 
trips to the external road network, and less impact, than free-standing retail, office, or 
residential areas. This reduction was calculated in accordance with the NCHRP Report No. 684, 
Enhancing Internal Trip Capture for Mixed-use Development.  
 
Pass-by reductions are included to account for the phenomenon where land uses such as 
convenience stores or other similar uses attract vehicles whose ultimate destination is 
elsewhere. These driveway turning movement trips replace what would otherwise be “through” 
movements, but do not contribute to “new trips” on the roadway network. This reduction was 
calculated in accordance with the ITE Trip Generation Handbook, 3rd Edition. 
 
The following graphic illustrates how pass-by and diverted link trips affect traffic calculations 
at the project driveways and adjacent intersection. 

ORIGINDESTINATION

PASS-BY TRIP

ORIGINDESTINATION

DIVERTED LINK TRIP

 

78

Item 3.



 

 

Thunder Ridge West Second Addition – Cedar Falls 

 Page 12 

The percentages and directionality of pass-by and diverted link trips is based on the count data 
collected in the PM peak. Table 3.3 summarizes the calculation. 
 

Table 3.3 - Pass-by/Diverted Link Trips 

Roadway Direction 
AM 

Volume 

% of 
total 
AM 

AM 
Pass-by 
Trips 

PM 
Volume 

% of 
total 
PM 

PM 
Pass-by 
Trips 

1st Street (IA 57) 
EB Through 407 66.8% 51 326 32.5% 58 

WB Through 202 33.2% 25 676 67.5% 120 

 
Pass-by trips are shown in Figure 5. 
 

D. Trip Distribution 

 
Trips for this proposed development were assigned to the surrounding roadway network based 
on existing traffic patterns. The proposed trip distribution for this project can be found in 
Figure 6, and the projected site trips are shown in Figure 7. 
 
Full Build 2025 volumes are shown in Figure 8 
 

 
Eagle Ridge Road at 1st Street (IA 57) (looking south) 

  

79

Item 3.



Pass-by/Diverted Link Trips

Figure 5

Thunder Ridge West Second Addition – Cedar Falls

NOT TO SCALENOT TO SCALE

XX/XX

LEGEND

Turn 

movement

AM/PM pass-by 

trips added

Date: 23 June 2020

1st Street (IA 57) & 

Lake Ridge Drive

1st Street (IA 57) & 

Eagle Ridge Road

(-19/-81)

19/81

(-38/-39)

38/39

1
9
/
8
1

3
8
/
3
9

(-19/-81)

19/81

(-38/-39)

38/39

1
9
/
8
1

3
8
/
3
9

(-6/-39)

6/39

(-13/-19)

13/19

6
/
3
9

1
3
/
1
9

(-6/-39)

6/39

(-13/-19)

13/19

6
/
3
9

1
3
/
1
9

AM/PM pass-by 

trips removed
(-XX/-XX)

80

Item 3.



Trip Distribution

Figure 6

Thunder Ridge West Second Addition – Cedar Falls

NOT TO SCALENOT TO SCALE

LEGEND

Date: 23 June 2020

XX%XX%
Site Trip

Distribution

31%31%

1
8

%
1

8
%

2
%

2
%

81

Item 3.



Site Trips

Figure 7

Thunder Ridge West Second Addition – Cedar Falls

NOT TO SCALENOT TO SCALE

XX/XX

XX/XX

XX/XX

LEGEND

Turn 

movement

AM/PM 

peak 

volumes

Date: 24 June 2020

1st Street (IA 57) & 

Lake Ridge Drive

1st Street (IA 57) & 

Eagle Ridge Road

1st Street (IA 57) & Oak 
Park Boulevard / 
Magnolia Drive

48/107

125/104

7
6
/
1
5
9

2
/
5

7
8
/
5
7

5
/
4

48/107

125/104

7
6
/
1
5
9

2
/
5

7
8
/
5
7

5
/
4

1
4
/
1
5

3
4
/
1
0

7
/
2

3/4

1
4
/
1
5

3
4
/
1
0

7
/
2

3/4

48/35

5/6

53/106

25/42

7
/
1
5

8
/
5

1
0
7
/
8
0

1
0
/
8

48/35

5/6

53/106

25/42

7
/
1
5

8
/
5

1
0
7
/
8
0

1
0
/
8

22/0

115/120

1/0

26/0

17/22

8
/
4
5

1
/
5

7
0
/
1
2
9

1
/
0

4
/
4

22/0

115/120

1/0

26/0

17/22

8
/
4
5

1
/
5

7
0
/
1
2
9

1
/
0

4
/
4

132/103

2/5

94/123

5
/
4

132/103

2/5

94/123

5
/
4

Lake Ridge Drive & 

White Tail Drive

Lake Ridge Drive & 

Eagle Ridge Road

Eagle Ridge Road & 

White Tail Drive

Magnolia Drive & 

White Tail Drive

33/47

5
3
/
4
1

33/47

5
3
/
4
1

33/72

8/7

32/19

7/4

3
4
/
1
0

3
5
/
2
8

1
4
/
1
5

7
2
/
5
2

33/72

8/7

32/19

7/4

3
4
/
1
0

3
5
/
2
8

1
4
/
1
5

7
2
/
5
2

82

Item 3.



Full Build 2025 Volumes

Figure 8

Thunder Ridge West Second Addition – Cedar Falls

NOT TO SCALENOT TO SCALE

XX/XX

XX/XX

XX/XX

LEGEND

Turn 

movement

AM/PM 

peak 

volumes

Date: 24 June 2020

1st Street (IA 57) & 

Lake Ridge Drive

1st Street (IA 57) & 

Eagle Ridge Road

1st Street (IA 57) & Oak 
Park Boulevard / 
Magnolia Drive

5/48

132/427

48/107

1/12

328/242

125/104

7
6
/
1
5
9

2
/
5

7
8
/
5
7

4
/
6

5
/
4

2
8
/
1
7

5/48

132/427

48/107

1/12

328/242

125/104

7
6
/
1
5
9

2
/
5

7
8
/
5
7

4
/
6

5
/
4

2
8
/
1
7

1
4
/
1
5

0
/
0

3
4
/
1
0

7
/
2

0/0

3/4

1
4
/
1
5

0
/
0

3
4
/
1
0

7
/
2

0/0

3/4

12/70

48/35

5/6

53/106

25/42

0/0

0
/
0

7
/
1
5

8
/
5

1
0
7
/
8
0

1
0
/
8

1
2
/
5
8

12/70

48/35

5/6

53/106

25/42

0/0

0
/
0

7
/
1
5

8
/
5

1
0
7
/
8
0

1
0
/
8

1
2
/
5
8

9/49

154/475

121/141

1/9

401/246

23/54

2
0
/
9
4

2
/
1
2

7
0
/
1
4
5

2
/
1
1

4
/
1
1

3
7
/
2
6

9/49

154/475

121/141

1/9

401/246

23/54

2
0
/
9
4

2
/
1
2

7
0
/
1
4
5

2
/
1
1

4
/
1
1

3
7
/
2
6

7/45

267/521

69/247

3/7

496/408

24/56

9
/
1
0
6

7
/
1
7

9
2
/
1
4
7

7
/
7

2
/
1
5

5
5
/
3
2

7/45

267/521

69/247

3/7

496/408

24/56

9
/
1
0
6

7
/
1
7

9
2
/
1
4
7

7
/
7

2
/
1
5

5
5
/
3
2

Lake Ridge Drive & 

White Tail Drive

Lake Ridge Drive & 

Eagle Ridge Road

Eagle Ridge Road & 

White Tail Drive

Magnolia Drive & 

White Tail Drive

11/44

0/15

3/25

27/56

1/12

51/106

6
9
/
5
8

7
8
/
1
7
4

7
/
5
4

2
3
/
6
0

6
4
/
1
7
7

6
/
2
1

11/44

0/15

3/25

27/56

1/12

51/106

6
9
/
5
8

7
8
/
1
7
4

7
/
5
4

2
3
/
6
0

6
4
/
1
7
7

6
/
2
1

33/72

8/7

0/0

32/19

7/4

0/0

0
/
0

3
4
/
1
0

0
/
0

3
5
/
2
8

1
4
/
1
5

7
2
/
5
2

33/72

8/7

0/0

32/19

7/4

0/0

0
/
0

3
4
/
1
0

0
/
0

3
5
/
2
8

1
4
/
1
5

7
2
/
5
2

83

Item 3.



 

 

Thunder Ridge West Second Addition – Cedar Falls 

 Page 17 

IV. Turn Lane Analysis 

A.  Right-Turn Lanes 

 

The National Cooperative Highway Research Program (NCHRP) Report 279 Intersection 
Channelization Design Guide was used to determine right-turn lane thresholds for this study. 
 
For public officials that do not have formal thresholds for determining when new access 
requires turn lane treatments, the NCHRP Report 279 is a tool in assessing the impacts from 
development. Specifically, this report allows the traffic engineering professional to input 
roadway type, posted speed, advancing volume, and number of turning vehicles. The result is a 
plot on a graph defined by the above inputs as either recommending turn lanes or not. 
 
Right-turn lane warrant analysis was performed on the two main locations for the proposed 
development new traffic generation access, as shown below. 
 
Table 4.1 shows the volumes used for analysis. 
 

Table 4.2 - Right-Turn Lane Analysis 

Driveway 
AM/ 
PM 

Approach 
Posted 
Speed 

Advancing 
Vol 

RT 
Vol 

Turn 
Lane 

needed? 

1st Street (IA 57) 
& Lake Ridge 

Drive 

AM 
EB 45 

454 125 Yes 

PM 358 104 Yes 

1st Street (IA 57) 
& Eagle Ridge 

Road 

AM 
EB 45 

425 23 No 

PM 309 54 No 

 

Based on Full Build 2025 volumes, a right-turn lane from 1st Street (IA 57) is warranted for the 

Lake Ridge Drive access. It is recommended to construct an eastbound right-turn lane at the 

Lake Ridge Drive intersection. These calculations can be found in the Appendix. 

B.  Left-Turn Lanes 

 

Left-turn lanes exist along 1st Street (IA 57) due to the two-way left-turn lane configuration of 

the roadway. No additional left-turn lanes will be warranted for this development. 

 

 

 

84

Item 3.



 

 

Thunder Ridge West Second Addition – Cedar Falls 

 Page 18 

V. Capacity Analysis 

The Transportation Research Board’s Highway Capacity Manual (HCM) utilizes a term “level of 
service” (LOS) to measure how traffic operates in intersections. There are currently six levels 
of service ranging from A to F.  Level of Service “A” represents the best conditions and Level of 
Service “F” represents the worst. Synchro software was used to determine the level of service 
for intersections in the study area. All worksheet reports from the analyses can be found in the 
Appendix.   
 
Table 5.1 shows the control delay per vehicle associated with LOS A through F for signalized 
and unsignalized intersections. 
 

 
A.  1st Street (IA 57) & Lake Ridge Drive 

 

1st Street (IA 57) & Lake Ridge Drive is an unsignalized T-intersection with stop sign control on 
Lake Ridge Drive. The eastbound approach has a left-turn lane and a through lane. The 
westbound approach has a through lane and a right-turn lane. The southbound approach is a 
single lane. This development will add a fourth leg to this intersection on the south side of 1st 
Street (IA 57) to provide a new access roadway for the project. 

 

Table 5.2 shows the current LOS, control delay, and 95th percentile queue length for existing 

conditions. 

 

Table 5.2 - Intersection LOS, Delay, and Queue by Movement - 2020 Existing 

Intersection Approach Movement 
AM PM 

LOS Delay Queue LOS Delay Queue 

1st Street (IA 57) & 
Lake Ridge Drive 

EB 
LT A 7.5 0' A 8.8 0' 

TH FREE 

WB 
TH 

FREE 
RT 

SB 
LT 

B 12.0 5' C 16.8 8' 
RT 

Table 5.1 – Highway Capacity Manual Levels of Service and Control Delay 

Signalized Intersection Unsignalized Intersection 

Level of Service 
Control Delay per 

Vehicle (sec) 
Level of 
Service 

Control Delay per 
Vehicle 

(sec) 

A  10 A  10 

B  10 and  20 B  10 and  15 

C  20 and  35 C  15 and  25 

D  35 and  55 D  25 and  35 

E  55 and  80 E  35 and  50 

F  80 F  50 

85

Item 3.



 

 

Thunder Ridge West Second Addition – Cedar Falls 

 Page 19 

Table 5.3 shows the expected LOS, control delay, and 95th percentile queue length for Full 

Build 2025 conditions. 

 

Table 5.3 - Intersection LOS, Delay, and Queue by Movement - 2025 Full Build 

Intersection Approach Movement 
AM PM 

LOS Delay Queue LOS Delay Queue 

1st Street (IA 57) & 
Lake Ridge Drive 

EB 

LT A 7.5 0' A 8.6 0' 

TH 
FREE 

RT 

WB 

LT A 8.4 3' A 8.5 10' 

TH 
FREE 

RT 

NB 

LT C 16.5 20' E 45.8 115’ 

TH 
B 11.0 10' B 11.1 10' 

RT 

SB 

LT 

C 17.6 10' C 19.4 10' TH 

RT 

 

Analysis shows that acceptable levels of service are maintained for 2025 Full Build conditions. 

It is recommended to construct a northbound left-turn lane to accommodate the left-turn 

volume and construct an eastbound right-turn lane based on the turn lane analysis in Section 

IV.  

 

1st Street (IA 57) at Lake Ridge Drive (looking west) 
 

86

Item 3.



 

 

Thunder Ridge West Second Addition – Cedar Falls 

 Page 20 

B.  1st Street (IA 57) & Eagle Ridge Road 

 
1st Street (IA 57) & Eagle Ridge Road is unsignalized with stop sign control on Eagle Ridge 
Drive. The eastbound and westbound approaches have a left-turn lane, a through lane, and a 
combination through/right lane. The northbound and southbound approaches consist of a single 
lane. 

 
Table 5.4 shows the current LOS, control delay, and 95th percentile queue length for existing 

conditions. 

 

Table 5.4 - Intersection LOS, Delay, and Queue by Movement - 2020 Existing 

Intersection Approach Movement 
AM PM 

LOS Delay Queue LOS Delay Queue 

1st Street (IA 57) & 
Eagle Ridge Road 

EB 

LT A 0.0 0' A 8.8 0' 

TH 
FREE 

RT 

WB 

LT A 8.7 0' A 7.9 3' 

TH 
FREE 

RT 

NB 

LT 

B 13.3 3' C 18.3 23' TH 

RT 

SB 

LT 

B 11.6 5' C 19.7 15' TH 

RT 

 

Table 5.5 shows the expected LOS, control delay, and 95th percentile queue length for Full 

Build 2025 conditions. 

 

Table 5.5 - Intersection LOS, Delay, and Queue by Movement - 2025 Full Build 

Intersection Approach Movement 
AM PM 

LOS Delay Queue LOS Delay Queue 

1st Street (IA 57) & 
Eagle Ridge Road 

EB 

LT A 7.6 0' A 8.8 0' 

TH 
FREE 

RT 

WB 

LT A 9.5 13' A 8.5 10' 

TH 
FREE 

RT 

NB 

LT C 22.4 8' D 29.5 53' 

TH 
B 10.5 10' B 12.3 28' 

RT 

SB 

LT 

C 20.0 15' C 24.3 23' TH 

RT 

 

87

Item 3.



 

 

Thunder Ridge West Second Addition – Cedar Falls 

 Page 21 

Analysis shows that acceptable levels of service are maintained for Full Build 2025 conditions. 

It is recommended to stripe the existing northbound approach for a separate left-turn lane to 

accommodate the northbound left-turn volume. 

 

C.  1st Street (IA 57) & Oak Park Boulevard/Magnolia Drive 

 

1st Street (IA 57) & Oak Park Boulevard/Magnolia Drive is signalized with protected/permitted 
left-turn phasing on the eastbound and westbound approaches. The northbound approach has a 
right-turn overlap phase which runs concurrent with the westbound leading left-turn phase. 
The eastbound and westbound approaches have a left-turn lane, a through lane, and a 
combination through/right lane. The northbound approach has a combination left/through lane 
and a right-turn lane. The southbound approach consists of a single lane. 
 

Table 5.6 shows the current LOS, control delay, and 95th percentile queue length for existing 

conditions. 

 

Table 5.6 - Intersection LOS, Delay, and Queue by Movement - 2020 Existing 

Intersection Approach Movement 
AM PM 

LOS Delay Queue LOS Delay Queue 

1st Street (IA 57) & Oak 
Park Blvd/Magnolia 

Drive 

EB 

LT B 11.0 2' B 13.0 4' 

TH 
C 25.2 125' C 30.3 112' 

RT 

WB 

LT B 12.2 37' B 17.8 117' 

TH 
B 13.3 42' B 16.5 126' 

RT 

NB 

LT 
B 13.9 16' B 15.9 77' 

TH 

RT A 1.9 16' A 1.2 17' 

SB 

LT 

B 14.1 40' B 14.0 35' TH 

RT 

OVERALL B (18.3) B (18.4) 

 

  

88

Item 3.



 

 

Thunder Ridge West Second Addition – Cedar Falls 

 Page 22 

Table 5.7 shows the expected LOS, control delay, and 95th percentile queue length for Full 

Build 2025 conditions. 

 

Table 5.7- Intersection LOS, Delay, and Queue by Movement - 2025 Full Build 

Intersection Approach Movement 
AM PM 

LOS Delay Queue LOS Delay Queue 

1st Street (IA 57) & Oak 
Park Blvd/Magnolia 

Drive 

EB 

LT A 10.0 4' B 12.1 8' 

TH 
C 25.3 161' C 31.4 158' 

RT 

WB 

LT B 11.9 37' B 17.8 117' 

TH 
B 13.8 79' B 16.2 161' 

RT 

NB 

LT 
B 15.9 18' B 18.5 90' 

TH 

RT A 2.3 19' A 1.6 21' 

SB 

LT 

B 15.5 48' B 15.4 42' TH 

RT 

OVERALL B (18.6) B (19.6) 

 

Analysis shows that acceptable levels of service are maintained, with overall LOS B for the 

intersection AM and PM peak hours. No improvements recommended. 

 

Magnolia Drive at 1st Street (IA 57) (looking north) 

  

89

Item 3.



 

 

Thunder Ridge West Second Addition – Cedar Falls 

 Page 23 

D. Magnolia Drive & White Tail Drive 
 
Magnolia Drive & White Tail Drive is unsignalized with stop sign control on White Tail Drive. All 
approaches consist of a single lane. 
 

Table 5.8 shows the current LOS, control delay, and 95th percentile queue length for existing 

conditions. 

 

Table 5.8 - Intersection LOS, Delay, and Queue by Movement - 2020 Existing 

Intersection Approach Movement 
AM PM 

LOS Delay Queue LOS Delay Queue 

Magnolia Drive & White 
Tail Drive 

EB 

LT 

B 10.1 5' C 16.7 35' TH 

RT 

WB 

LT 

A 9.2 3' B 14.4 20' TH 

RT 

NB 

LT 

FREE TH 

RT 

SB 

LT 

FREE TH 

RT 

 

Table 5.9 shows the expected LOS, control delay, and 95th percentile queue length for Full 

Build 2025 conditions. 

 

Table 5.9 - Intersection LOS, Delay, and Queue by Movement - 2025 Full Build 

Intersection Approach Movement 
AM PM 

LOS Delay Queue LOS Delay Queue 

Magnolia Drive & White 
Tail Drive 

EB 

LT 

B 10.7 13' C 18.8 58' TH 

RT 

WB 

LT 

A 9.7 3' C 16.6 25' TH 

RT 

NB 

LT 

FREE TH 

RT 

SB 

LT 

FREE TH 

RT 

 

Analysis shows that acceptable levels of service are maintained for 2025 Full Build conditions. 

No improvements recommended. 

90

Item 3.



 

 

Thunder Ridge West Second Addition – Cedar Falls 

 Page 24 

E.  Lake Ridge Drive & White Tail Drive 

 

Lake Ridge Drive & White Tail Drive is a proposed unsignalized intersection with stop sign 
control on White Tail Drive. All approaches will consist of a single lane. 
 

Table 5.10 shows the expected LOS, control delay, and 95th percentile queue length for Full 

Build 2025 conditions. 

 

Table 5.2 - Intersection LOS, Delay, and Queue by Movement - 2025 Full Build 

Intersection Approach Movement 
AM PM 

LOS Delay Queue LOS Delay Queue 

Lake Ridge Drive & 
White Tail Drive 

/Driveway 

EB 

LT 

B 11.0 5' B 10.5 3' TH 

RT 

WB 

LT 

A 9.1 5' A 8.8 8' TH 

RT 

NB 

LT 

FREE TH 

RT 

SB 

LT 

FREE TH 

RT 

 

Analysis shows that acceptable levels of service are projected for 2025 Full Build conditions. No 

improvements recommended. 

 

F.  Lake Ridge Drive & Eagle Ridge Road 

 

Lake Ridge Drive & Eagle Ridge Road is a proposed unsignalized intersection with stop sign 
control on Eagle Ridge Road. All approaches will consist of a single lane. 
 

Table 5.11 shows the expected LOS, control delay, and 95th percentile queue length for Full 

Build 2025 conditions. 

 

Table 5.11 - Intersection LOS, Delay, and Queue by Movement – 2025 Full Build 

Intersection Approach Movement 
AM PM 

LOS Delay Queue LOS Delay Queue 

Lake Ridge Drive & 
Eagle Ridge Road 

WB 
LT 

A 8.8 0' A 8.6 0' 
RT 

NB 
TH 

FREE 
RT 

SB 
LT 

FREE 
TH 

 

91

Item 3.



 

 

Thunder Ridge West Second Addition – Cedar Falls 

 Page 25 

Analysis shows that acceptable levels of service are projected for 2025 Full Build conditions. No 

improvements recommended. 

 

G. Eagle Ridge Road & White Tail Drive 

 
Eagle Ridge Road & White Tail Drive is an existing intersection which currently has only a 
westbound approach and a southbound approach. The eastbound and northbound approaches 
will both be extended to connect to the Lake Ridge Drive extension. All approaches consist of a 
single lane. 

 
Table 5.12 shows the expected LOS, control delay, and 95th percentile queue length for Full 

Build 2025 conditions. 

 

Table 5.12 - Intersection LOS, Delay, and Queue by Movement - 2025 Full Build 

Intersection Approach Movement 
AM PM 

LOS Delay Queue LOS Delay Queue 

Eagle Ridge Road & 
White Tail Drive 

EB 

LT 

B 10.3 10' B 13.0 28' TH 

RT 

WB 

LT 

B 10.1 8' A 9.9 13' TH 

RT 

NB 

LT 

FREE TH 

RT 

SB 

LT 

FREE TH 

RT 

 

Analysis shows that acceptable levels of service are projected for 2025 Full Build conditions. No 

improvements recommended. 

  

92

Item 3.



 

 

Thunder Ridge West Second Addition – Cedar Falls 

 Page 26 

VI. Summary and Conclusion 

This study serves as an analysis of the traffic impacts from the Thunder Ridge West Second 

Addition development in Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 

This analysis was necessary due to City of Cedar Falls guidelines that require a TIA for 

developments in this zoning category to analyze impacts upon surrounding roadways from the 

project.  

 
The proposed development is expected to generate 292 entering and 192 exiting trips in the AM 
peak hour, and 226 entering and 266 exiting trips in the PM peak hour. This analysis also 
included pass-by/diverted link trip reductions and internal capture trips. 
 

Analysis shows that the new development traffic can be accommodated within the existing 

roadway infrastructure with minimal impact. The new development roadways and extensions 

and existing intersections on 1st Street (IA 57) indicate acceptable levels of service for the Full 

Build 2025 scenario. 

 

The following summarize recommended improvements for Full Build 2025 Conditions: 

 

1st Street (IA 57) & Lake Ridge Drive 
 

• Construct an eastbound right-turn lane on 1st Street (IA 57) and construct a northbound 
left-turn lane on Lake Ridge Drive new connection. 

 
1st Street (IA 57) & Eagle Ridge Road 

 

• Stripe the existing northbound approach for a left-turn lane/through-right lane. 
 

 
 

  

93

Item 3.



 

 

Thunder Ridge West Second Addition – Cedar Falls 

 Page 27 

Appendix 

Background Information 

Traffic Volumes 

Trip Generation 

Trip Distribution 

Capacity Analysis 

Turn Lane Analysis 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

94

Item 3.



Background Information 

  

95

Item 3.



Location   Intersection East Leg

Year Count* Trend**

2005
2009
2014
2017

10100

10500
11400
10800

10300

10500
10900
11200

2005 N/A 10300

2020 N/A 11400

88 2022 N/A 11600

53.56%

0.81%

0.88%

6-May-20

Traffic Trends - V2.0
1st Street (IA 57) -- at Magnolia/Oak Park County:

Station #:

Blackhawk

07317966099

Traffic (ADT/AADT)

2020 Mid-Year Trend

1st Street (IA 57)

Trend R-squared:

Highway:

2007 Opening Year Trend

Straight Line Growth Option
*Axle-Adjusted

2022 Design Year Trend

TRANPLAN Forecasts/Trends

** Annual Trend Increase:

Trend Growth Rate (2019 to Design Year):

Printed:

Trend Annual Historic Growth Rate:

0

2000

4000

6000

8000

10000

12000

14000

2007 2012 2017 2022 2027 2032 2037

A
v

e
ra

g
e
 D

a
il
y
 T

ra
ff

ic
 (

V
e
h

ic
le

s
/D

a
y
)

Year

Observed Count

Fitted Curve

96

Item 3.



Traffic Volumes 

  

97

Item 3.



Location: GPS

Date Day

Weather Peak AM

Counter

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

7:00 3 0 2 0 20 3 0 0 0 1 42 0 71

7:15 2 0 1 0 23 0 0 0 0 0 81 0 107

7:30 9 0 0 0 23 2 0 0 0 1 73 0 108

7:45 6 0 2 0 35 1 0 0 0 0 68 0 112

8:00 6 0 0 0 34 1 0 0 0 0 57 0 98

8:15 6 0 1 0 27 3 0 0 0 0 43 0 80

8:30 2 0 2 0 28 3 0 0 0 0 50 0 85

8:45 3 0 0 0 24 1 0 0 0 1 58 0 87

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

7:00 3 0 2 0 20 3 0 0 0 1 41 0 70

7:15 2 0 1 0 22 0 0 0 0 0 76 0 101

7:30 9 0 0 0 19 2 0 0 0 1 72 0 103

7:45 5 0 2 0 34 1 0 0 0 0 67 0 109

8:00 6 0 0 0 29 1 0 0 0 0 53 0 89

8:15 6 0 1 0 25 3 0 0 0 0 43 0 78

8:30 2 0 2 0 26 3 0 0 0 0 47 0 80

8:45 3 0 0 0 17 1 0 0 0 1 57 0 79

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

7:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1

7:15 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 6

7:30 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 5

7:45 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 3

8:00 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 9

8:15 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

8:30 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 5

8:45 0 0 0 0 7 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 8

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

Vehicle 

Total
23 0 3 0 115 4 0 0 0 1 279 0 425

Pk 15 

min
6 0 2 0 35 1 0 0 0 0 68 0 112

PHF 0.95

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

Car 22 0 3 0 104 4 0 0 0 1 268 0 402

Truck 1 0 0 0 11 0 0 0 0 0 11 0 23

HV %age 4% #DIV/0! 0% #DIV/0! 10% 0% #DIV/0! #DIV/0! #DIV/0! 0% 4% #DIV/0!

7:00 0

7:15 0

7:30 0

7:45 0

8:00 0

8:15 0

8:30 0

8:45 0

Truck traffic

Interval 

starts

Southbound
Total

7:15 to 

8:15

Southbound Westbound Northbound

Total

Interval 

starts

Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound

Interval 

starts

Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound

Turn Count Summary

5/20/2020 Wednesday

Total vehicle traffic

Cloudy, 57

1st Street (IA 57) & Lake Ridge Drive

DAW

Eastbound

Total

Peak Hour Vehicle Summary

7:15 to 

8:15

Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound

Eastbound
Total

 92°28'48.52"W 42°32'31.77"N

EAST Leg NORTH Leg WEST Leg SOUTH Leg

Pedestrians

Total

Intersection Peak Hour

Westbound

Total

Car traffic

Northbound

98

Item 3.



Location: GPS

Date Day

Weather Peak PM

Counter

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

16:00 4 0 0 0 78 3 0 0 0 4 54 0 143

16:15 2 0 1 0 86 5 0 0 0 2 58 0 154

16:30 3 0 1 0 79 6 0 0 0 1 46 0 136

16:45 2 0 1 0 83 6 0 0 0 1 65 0 158

17:00 4 0 3 0 120 8 0 0 0 3 54 0 192

17:15 2 0 1 0 99 16 0 0 0 4 49 0 171

17:30 6 0 0 0 85 7 0 0 0 1 46 0 145

17:45 3 0 2 0 67 12 0 0 0 2 36 0 122

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

16:00 4 0 0 0 78 3 0 0 0 4 54 0 143

16:15 2 0 1 0 83 5 0 0 0 2 57 0 150

16:30 3 0 1 0 79 6 0 0 0 1 45 0 135

16:45 2 0 1 0 83 6 0 0 0 1 61 0 154

17:00 4 0 3 0 118 8 0 0 0 3 54 0 190

17:15 2 0 1 0 97 16 0 0 0 4 49 0 169

17:30 6 0 0 0 84 7 0 0 0 1 44 0 142

17:45 3 0 2 0 66 12 0 0 0 2 36 0 121

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

16:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

16:15 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 4

16:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1

16:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 4

17:00 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

17:15 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

17:30 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 3

17:45 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

Vehicle 

Total
14 0 5 0 387 37 0 0 0 9 214 0 640

Pk 15 

min
4 0 3 0 120 8 0 0 0 3 54 0 192

PHF 0.83

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

Car 14 0 5 0 382 37 0 0 0 9 208 0 655

Truck 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 11

HV %age 0% #DIV/0! 0% #DIV/0! 1% 0% #DIV/0! #DIV/0! #DIV/0! 0% 3% #DIV/0!

16:00 0

16:15 0

16:30 0

16:45 0

17:00 0

17:15 0

17:30 0

17:45 0

Truck traffic

Interval 

starts

Peak Hour Pedestrians

Total

Total

Total

Peak Hour Vehicle Summary

16:45 to 

17:45

Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound

Intersection Peak Hour

Total
Eastbound

Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound

Interval 

starts

Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound

Turn Count Summary

5/19/2020 Tuesday

Total vehicle traffic

Cloudy, 64

1st Street (IA 57) & Lake Ridge Drive

DAW

 42°32'31.77"N  92°28'48.52"W

EAST Leg NORTH Leg WEST Leg SOUTH Leg

Total

Car traffic

Interval 

starts

Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound
Total

16:45 to 

17:45

Southbound Westbound Northbound

99

Item 3.



Location: GPS

Date Day

Weather Peak AM

Counter

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

7:00 4 0 0 0 18 1 2 0 0 0 42 2 69

7:15 5 0 0 0 22 2 2 0 0 0 76 0 107

7:30 9 0 0 2 21 1 0 0 0 0 80 2 115

7:45 8 0 0 2 33 3 0 0 0 0 74 2 122

8:00 6 0 1 1 26 1 7 1 0 0 59 1 103

8:15 7 0 0 0 23 1 3 0 0 1 45 3 83

8:30 9 0 1 0 25 2 1 1 0 0 50 2 91

8:45 4 1 0 2 20 6 0 1 0 1 55 3 93

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

7:00 4 0 0 0 17 1 2 0 0 0 38 0 62

7:15 5 0 0 0 21 2 2 0 0 0 73 0 103

7:30 9 0 0 2 20 0 0 0 0 0 79 2 112

7:45 8 0 0 2 32 3 0 0 0 0 73 2 120

8:00 6 0 1 1 25 0 6 1 0 0 58 1 99

8:15 7 0 0 0 21 1 3 0 0 1 43 3 79

8:30 9 0 1 0 24 2 1 1 0 0 46 2 86

8:45 4 1 0 2 18 6 0 1 0 1 49 3 85

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

7:00 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 4 2 7

7:15 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 4

7:30 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 3

7:45 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 2

8:00 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 0 0 0 1 0 4

8:15 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 4

8:30 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 5

8:45 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 8

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

Vehicle 

Total
28 0 1 5 102 7 9 1 0 0 289 5 447

Pk 15 min 8 0 0 2 33 3 0 0 0 0 74 2 122

PHF 0.92

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

Car 28 0 1 5 98 5 8 1 0 0 283 5 434

Truck 0 0 0 0 4 2 1 0 0 0 6 0 13

HV %age 0% #DIV/0! 0% 0% 4% 29% 11% 0% #DIV/0! #DIV/0! 2% 0%

7:00 0

7:15 0

7:30 0

7:45 0

8:00 0

8:15 0

8:30 0

8:45 0

 92°28'35.22"W 42°32'29.40"N

Total

7:15 to 

8:15

Southbound Westbound Northbound

Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound

Turn Count Summary

5/20/2020 Wednesday

Total vehicle traffic

Cloudy, 57

1st Street (IA 57) & Eagle Ridge Drive

Govardhan

Total

Interval 

starts

Southbound Westbound Northbound

Intersection Peak Hour

Westbound

Total

Car traffic

Northbound Eastbound

Eastbound

Interval 

starts

Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound

Truck traffic

Interval 

starts

Southbound

Eastbound
Total

EAST Leg NORTH Leg WEST Leg SOUTH Leg

Pedestrians

Total

Total

Peak Hour Vehicle Summary

7:15 to 

8:15

100

Item 3.



Location: GPS

Date Day

Weather Peak PM

Counter

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

16:00 5 2 1 5 77 3 5 1 2 3 51 4 159

16:15 4 1 0 2 77 5 9 1 1 4 53 2 159

16:30 6 2 1 2 78 8 8 0 1 0 43 5 154

16:45 4 1 1 5 74 8 9 3 2 4 57 3 171

17:00 5 2 3 4 117 7 12 0 4 1 51 6 212

17:15 4 2 2 4 99 16 10 2 2 0 39 10 190

17:30 7 1 2 3 86 7 7 1 4 2 43 5 168

17:45 4 1 1 3 69 8 5 1 1 1 37 4 135

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

16:00 5 2 1 4 76 3 5 1 2 2 50 3 154

16:15 3 1 0 2 76 5 8 1 1 4 52 2 155

16:30 6 2 1 2 78 8 8 0 1 0 41 5 152

16:45 4 1 1 5 74 8 9 3 2 4 56 3 170

17:00 5 2 3 4 114 7 11 0 4 1 50 6 207

17:15 4 2 2 4 96 16 9 2 2 0 38 10 185

17:30 7 1 2 3 84 7 7 1 4 2 42 4 164

17:45 4 1 1 3 67 8 5 1 1 1 36 4 132

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

16:00 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 5

16:15 1 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 4

16:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 2

16:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1

17:00 0 0 0 0 3 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 5

17:15 0 0 0 0 3 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 5

17:30 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 4

17:45 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 3

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

Vehicle 

Total
20 6 8 16 376 38 38 6 12 7 190 24 696

Pk 15 min 5 2 3 4 117 7 12 0 4 1 51 6 212

PHF 0.82

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

Car 20 6 8 16 368 38 36 6 12 7 186 23 726

Truck 0 0 0 0 8 0 2 0 0 0 4 1 15

HV %age 0% 0% 0% 0% 2% 0% 5% 0% 0% 0% 2% 4%

16:00 0

16:15 0

16:30 0

16:45 0

17:00 0

17:15 0

17:30 0

17:45 0

EAST Leg NORTH Leg WEST Leg SOUTH Leg

Total

Car traffic

Interval 

starts

Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound
Total

16:45 to 

17:45

Southbound Westbound Northbound

Turn Count Summary

5/19/2020 Tuesday

Total vehicle traffic

Cloudy, 64

1st Street (IA 57) & Eagle Ridge Drive  42°32'29.40"N  92°28'35.22"W

Govardhan

Interval 

starts

Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound

Eastbound

Intersection Peak Hour

Total
Eastbound

Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound

Truck traffic

Interval 

starts

Peak Hour Pedestrians

Total

Total

Total

Peak Hour Vehicle Summary

16:45 to 

17:45

Southbound Westbound Northbound

101

Item 3.



Location: GPS  42°32'25.22"N

Date Day

Weather Peak AM

Counter

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

7:00 2 0 0 8 19 1 2 1 13 0 50 7 103

7:15 3 3 0 5 19 1 3 1 11 0 73 2 121

7:30 6 1 0 4 36 3 0 1 18 0 89 6 164

7:45 6 0 1 13 43 4 3 1 17 0 79 5 172

8:00 8 2 3 11 29 3 5 0 14 1 46 8 130

8:15 3 0 0 21 31 3 5 0 15 0 43 5 126

8:30 7 1 1 14 34 2 3 0 15 0 52 6 135

8:45 3 1 1 21 31 5 0 0 10 0 47 14 133

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

7:00 2 0 0 8 18 1 2 1 11 0 50 6 99

7:15 3 3 0 5 19 1 3 1 11 0 72 2 120

7:30 6 1 0 4 35 3 0 1 18 0 85 6 159

7:45 6 0 1 12 42 4 3 1 17 0 78 5 169

8:00 8 2 3 11 28 3 5 0 14 1 46 8 129

8:15 3 0 0 20 31 3 5 0 15 0 42 5 124

8:30 7 1 1 13 32 2 3 0 15 0 50 6 130

8:45 3 1 1 21 30 5 0 0 10 0 47 14 132

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

7:00 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 2 0 0 1 4

7:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1

7:30 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 5

7:45 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 3

8:00 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

8:15 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 2

8:30 0 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 5

8:45 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

Vehicle 

Total
23 3 4 49 139 13 13 2 64 1 257 24 592

Pk 15 

min
6 0 1 13 43 4 3 1 17 0 79 5 172

PHF 0.86

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

Car 23 3 4 47 136 13 13 2 64 1 251 24 581

Truck 0 0 0 2 3 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 11

HV %age 0% 0% 0% 4% 2% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 2% 0%

7:00 0

7:15 0

7:30 0

7:45 0

8:00 0

8:15 0

8:30 0

8:45 0

Eastbound
Total

 92°28'25.93"W

EAST Leg NORTH Leg WEST Leg SOUTH Leg

Pedestrians

Total

Intersection Peak Hour

Westbound

Total

Car traffic

Northbound Eastbound

Total

Peak Hour Vehicle Summary

7:30 to 

8:30

Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound

Turn Count Summary

5/21/2020 Thursday

Total vehicle traffic

Cloudy, 57

1st Street (IA 57) & Oak Park Blvd/Magnolia Dr

DAW

Total

Interval 

starts

Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound

Interval 

starts

Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound

Truck traffic

Interval 

starts

Southbound
Total

7:30 to 

8:30

Southbound Westbound Northbound

102

Item 3.



Location: GPS  42°32'25.22"N

Date Day

Weather Peak PM

Counter

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

16:00 6 0 1 32 71 10 11 3 26 2 43 7 212

16:15 3 4 1 35 69 4 9 5 28 1 48 11 218

16:30 10 2 0 44 89 11 14 4 17 1 56 10 258

16:45 5 3 1 32 100 6 20 0 32 1 48 13 261

17:00 8 3 3 45 78 15 14 4 34 0 44 9 257

17:15 9 3 1 30 88 12 27 4 22 0 36 15 247

17:30 6 2 0 29 74 12 18 3 28 1 39 8 220

17:45 5 0 0 33 81 8 10 1 25 1 37 12 213

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

16:00 6 0 1 32 71 10 11 3 26 2 43 7 212

16:15 3 4 1 34 69 4 9 5 28 1 46 11 215

16:30 10 2 0 44 89 11 14 4 17 1 55 10 257

16:45 5 3 1 32 98 6 20 0 32 1 47 13 258

17:00 8 3 3 45 77 15 14 4 33 0 44 9 255

17:15 9 3 1 30 87 12 27 4 22 0 36 15 246

17:30 6 2 0 29 74 12 18 3 28 1 38 8 219

17:45 5 0 0 33 81 8 10 1 25 1 37 12 213

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

16:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

16:15 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 3

16:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1

16:45 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 3

17:00 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 2

17:15 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

17:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1

17:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

Vehicle 

Total
32 11 5 151 355 44 75 12 105 2 184 47 1023

Pk 15 

min
5 3 1 32 100 6 20 0 32 1 48 13 261

PHF 0.98

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

Car 32 11 5 151 351 44 75 12 104 2 182 47 1016

Truck 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 1 0 2 0 7

HV %age 0% 0% 0% 0% 1% 0% 0% 0% 1% 0% 1% 0%

16:00 0

16:15 0

16:30 0

16:45 0

17:00 0

17:15 0

17:30 0

17:45 0

Truck traffic

Interval 

starts

Peak Hour Pedestrians

Total

Total

Total

Peak Hour Vehicle Summary

16:30 to 

17:30

Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound

Intersection Peak Hour

Total
Eastbound

Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound

Interval 

starts

Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound

Turn Count Summary

5/20/2020 Wednesday

Total vehicle traffic

Cloudy, 65

1st Street (IA 57) & Oak Park Blvd/Magnolia Dr

DAW

 92°28'25.93"W

EAST Leg NORTH Leg WEST Leg SOUTH Leg

Total

Car traffic

Interval 

starts

Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound
Total

16:30 to 

17:30

Southbound Westbound Northbound

103

Item 3.



Location: GPS

Date Day

Weather Peak AM

Counter

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

7:00 2 6 6 0 1 1 1 9 2 5 0 1 34

7:15 0 7 3 0 0 0 2 10 0 5 0 1 28

7:30 2 7 2 1 0 1 2 12 1 7 0 2 37

7:45 0 10 7 0 0 2 5 16 2 5 0 2 49

8:00 1 13 2 0 0 1 3 12 1 7 1 6 47

8:15 2 19 7 1 0 4 2 20 2 2 0 4 63

8:30 1 12 2 1 0 3 5 12 2 2 0 3 43

8:45 3 27 7 2 1 2 5 12 2 2 1 4 68

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

7:00 2 3 6 0 1 1 1 8 1 4 0 1 28

7:15 0 5 3 0 0 0 2 10 0 5 0 1 26

7:30 2 7 1 1 0 1 2 12 1 7 0 1 35

7:45 0 9 7 0 0 2 5 14 2 4 0 2 45

8:00 1 13 1 0 0 1 3 12 0 7 1 6 45

8:15 2 19 7 1 0 4 2 20 2 2 0 4 63

8:30 1 11 2 1 0 3 5 11 2 2 0 2 40

8:45 3 27 7 2 1 2 5 12 2 2 1 4 68

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

7:00 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 0 0 6

7:15 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

7:30 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 2

7:45 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 1 0 0 4

8:00 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 2

8:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

8:30 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 3

8:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

Vehicle 

Total
5 49 18 2 0 8 12 60 6 21 1 14 196

Pk 15 min 2 19 7 1 0 4 2 20 2 2 0 4 63

PHF 0.78

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

Car 5 48 16 2 0 8 12 58 5 20 1 13 188

Truck 0 1 2 0 0 0 0 2 1 1 0 1 8

HV %age 0% 2% 11% 0% #DIV/0! 0% 0% 3% 17% 5% 0% 7%

7:00 0

7:15 0

7:30 0

7:45 0

8:00 0

8:15 0

8:30 0

8:45 0

Eastbound
Total

 92°28'27.48"W 42°32'23.30"N

EAST Leg NORTH Leg WEST Leg SOUTH Leg

Pedestrians

Total

Intersection Peak Hour

Westbound

Total

Car traffic

Northbound Eastbound

Total

Peak Hour Vehicle Summary

7:30 to 

8:30

Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound

Turn Count Summary

5/21/2020 Thursday

Total vehicle traffic

Cloudy, 57

Magnolia Drive & White Tail Drive

Govardhan

Total

Interval 

starts

Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound

Interval 

starts

Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound

Truck traffic

Interval 

starts

Southbound
Total

7:30 to 

8:30

Southbound Westbound Northbound

104

Item 3.



Location: GPS

Date Day

Weather Peak PM

Counter

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

16:00 0 29 8 4 1 1 7 35 2 7 2 8 104

16:15 9 32 11 2 4 6 9 30 4 7 1 7 122

16:30 2 36 13 6 2 6 11 23 0 6 2 7 114

16:45 2 38 13 5 1 7 11 35 3 7 4 8 134

17:00 7 37 15 6 6 10 13 31 4 16 4 14 163

17:15 5 36 8 3 2 9 11 37 2 9 1 12 135

17:30 2 26 10 5 2 8 6 31 4 11 0 11 116

17:45 4 25 12 0 1 4 7 25 2 8 1 10 99

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

16:00 0 29 8 4 1 1 7 34 2 7 2 8 103

16:15 9 32 10 2 3 6 9 29 3 6 1 7 117

16:30 2 36 13 6 2 6 11 23 0 6 2 7 114

16:45 2 38 13 5 1 7 11 35 3 7 4 8 134

17:00 7 37 15 6 6 10 12 30 3 16 4 14 160

17:15 5 36 8 3 2 9 11 37 2 8 1 12 134

17:30 2 26 10 5 2 8 6 31 4 11 0 11 116

17:45 4 25 12 0 1 4 7 25 2 8 1 10 99

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

16:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

16:15 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 1 1 1 0 0 5

16:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

16:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

17:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 0 0 0 3

17:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1

17:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

17:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

Vehicle 

Total
16 137 46 19 11 34 41 134 13 43 9 45 533

Pk 15 min 7 37 15 6 6 10 13 31 4 16 4 14 163

PHF 0.82

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

Car 16 137 46 19 11 34 40 133 12 42 9 45 544

Truck 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 0 0 4

HV %age 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 2% 1% 8% 2% 0% 0%

16:00 0

16:15 0

16:30 0

16:45 0

17:00 0

17:15 0

17:30 0

17:45 0

Truck traffic

Interval 

starts

Peak Hour Pedestrians

Total

Total

Total

Peak Hour Vehicle Summary

16:45 to 

17:45

Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound

Intersection Peak Hour

Total
Eastbound

Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound

Interval 

starts

Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound

Turn Count Summary

5/20/2020 Wednesday

Total vehicle traffic

Cloudy, 65

Magnolia Drive & White Tail Drive  42°32'23.30"N  92°28'27.48"W

Govardhan

EAST Leg NORTH Leg WEST Leg SOUTH Leg

Total

Car traffic

Interval 

starts

Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound
Total

16:45 to 

17:45

Southbound Westbound Northbound

105

Item 3.



Trip Generation 

106

Item 3.



Project Name: Cedar Falls Thunder Ridge

No:

Date: 6/19/2020

City: Cedar Falls

State/Province: Iowa

Zip/Postal Code:

Country:

Client Name:

Analyst's Name: DAW
Edition: Trip Gen Manual, 10th Ed

Land Use Size

Entry Exit Entry Exit Entry Exit

912 - Drive-in Bank (General 

Urban/Suburban) 6 1000 Sq. Ft. GFA 307 307 33 24 62 61

Reduction 0 0 0 0 0 0

Internal 0 0 0 0 0 0

Pass-by 0 0 7 7 21 21

Non-pass-by 307 307 26 17 41 40

945 - Gasoline/Service Station With 

Convenience Market (General 

Urban/Suburban) 12 Vehicle Fueling Positions 1232 1232 77 73 86 82

Reduction 0 0 0 0 0 0

Internal 0 0 0 0 0 0

Pass-by 0 0 45 45 46 46

Non-pass-by 1232 1232 32 28 40 36

881 - Pharmacy/Drugstore with Drive-

Through Window (General 

Urban/Suburban) 15 1000 Sq. Ft. GFA 819 818 31 27 77 77

Reduction 0 0 0 0 0 0

Internal 0 0 0 0 0 0

Pass-by 0 0 0 0 37 37

Non-pass-by 819 818 31 27 40 40

934 - Fast-Food Restaurant with Drive-

Through Window (General 

Urban/Suburban) 2.5 1000 Sq. Ft. GFA 589 588 51 49 43 39

Reduction 0 0 0 0 0 0

Internal 0 0 0 0 0 0

Pass-by 0 0 24 24 19 19

Non-pass-by 589 588 27 25 24 20

932 - High-Turnover (Sit-Down) Restaurant 

(General Urban/Suburban) 7 1000 Sq. Ft. GFA 393 392 39 31 42 26

Reduction 0 0 0 0 0 0

Internal 0 0 0 0 0 0

Pass-by 0 0 0 0 11 11

Non-pass-by 393 392 39 31 31 15

820 - Shopping Center (General 

Urban/Suburban) 38.5 1000 Sq. Ft. GLA 1571 1570 106 65 129 139

Reduction 0 0 0 0 0 0

Internal 0 0 0 0 0 0

Pass-by 0 0 0 0 44 44

Non-pass-by 1571 1570 106 65 85 95

720 - Medical-Dental Office Building 

(General Urban/Suburban) 45 1000 Sq. Ft. GFA 821 820 86 24 43 112

Reduction 0 0 0 0 0 0

Internal 0 0 0 0 0 0

Pass-by 0 0 0 0 0 0

Non-pass-by 821 820 86 24 43 112

254 - Assisted Living (General 

Urban/Suburban) 110 Beds 143 143 13 8 11 18

Reduction 0 0 0 0 0 0

Internal 0 0 0 0 0 0

Pass-by 0 0 0 0 0 0

Non-pass-by 143 143 13 8 11 18

221 - Multifamily Housing (Mid-Rise) 

(General Urban/Suburban) 216 Dwelling Units 588 587 19 54 57 36

Reduction 0 0 0 0 0 0

Internal 0 0 0 0 0 0

Pass-by 0 0 0 0 0 0

Non-pass-by 588 587 19 54 57 36

Total 6463 6457 455 355 550 590

Total Reduction 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Internal 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Pass-by 0 0 76 76 178 178
Total Non-pass-by 6463 6457 379 279 372 412

Project Information

Weekday

Weekday, AM Peak 

Hour

Weekday, PM Peak 

Hour

107

Item 3.



Project Name: Organization:

Project Location: Performed By:

Scenario Description: Full Build Date:

Analysis Year: Checked By:

Analysis Period: Date:

ITE LUCs
1 Quantity Units Total Entering Exiting

Office 110 86 24

Retail 436 247 189

Restaurant 170 90 80

Cinema/Entertainment 0

Residential 73 19 54

Hotel 0

All Other Land Uses
2 0

Total 789 442 347

Veh. Occ. % Transit % Non-Motorized Veh. Occ. % Transit % Non-Motorized

Office 1.00 1.00

Retail 1.00 1.00

Restaurant 1.00 1.00

Cinema/Entertainment 1.00 1.00

Residential 1.00 1.00

Hotel 1.00 1.00

All Other Land Uses
2 1.00 1.00

Office Retail Restaurant Residential Hotel

Office

Retail

Restaurant

Cinema/Entertainment

Residential

Hotel

Office Retail Restaurant Residential Hotel

Office 7 15 0 0

Retail 3 25 0 0

Restaurant 12 11 1 0

Cinema/Entertainment 0 0 0 0 0

Residential 1 1 11 0

Hotel 0 0 0 0

Total Entering Exiting Land Use Entering Trips Exiting Trips

All Person-Trips 789 442 347 Office 19% 92%

Internal Capture Percentage 22% 20% 25% Retail 8% 15%

Restaurant 57% 30%

External Vehicle-Trips
3 615 355 260 Cinema/Entertainment N/A N/A

External Transit-Trips
4 0 0 0 Residential 5% 24%

External Non-Motorized Trips
4 0 0 0 Hotel N/A N/A

NCHRP 8-51 Internal Trip Capture Estimation Tool

Table 1-A: Base Vehicle-Trip Generation Estimates (Single-Use Site Estimate)

0

0

Cinema/Entertainment

Development Data (For Information Only )

0

0

0

Estimated Vehicle-Trips
Land Use

Thunder Ridge

Table 2-A: Mode Split and Vehicle Occupancy Estimates

Table 4-A: Internal Person-Trip Origin-Destination Matrix*

Destination (To)
Origin (From)

Origin (From)
Destination (To)

Cinema/Entertainment

Land Use
Entering Trips Exiting Trips

Table 3-A: Average Land Use Interchange Distances (Feet Walking Distance)

Estimation Tool Developed by the Texas Transportation Institute

Table 5-A: Computations Summary Table 6-A: Internal Trip Capture Percentages by Land Use

2
Total estimate for all other land uses at mixed-use development site-not subject to internal trip capture computations in this estimator

3
Vehicle-trips computed using the mode split and vehicle occupancy values provided in Table 2-A

1
Land Use Codes (LUCs) from Trip Generation Informational Report , published by the Institute of Transportation Engineers.

4
Person-Trips

*Indicates computation that has been rounded to the nearest whole number.

Cedar Falls, Iowa

AM Street Peak Hour

Traffic Impact Group

DAW

2025

108

Item 3.



Project Name: Organization:

Project Location: Performed By:

Scenario Description: Full Build Date:

Analysis Year: Checked By:

Analysis Period: Date:

ITE LUCs
1 Quantity Units Total Entering Exiting

Office 155 43 112

Retail 713 354 359

Restaurant 150 85 65

Cinema/Entertainment 0

Residential 93 57 36

Hotel 0

All Other Land Uses
2 0

Total 1111 539 572

Veh. Occ. % Transit % Non-Motorized Veh. Occ. % Transit % Non-Motorized

Office 1.00 1.00

Retail 1.00 1.00

Restaurant 1.00 1.00

Cinema/Entertainment 1.00 1.00

Residential 1.00 1.00

Hotel 1.00 1.00

All Other Land Uses
2 1.00 1.00

Office Retail Restaurant Residential Hotel

Office

Retail

Restaurant

Cinema/Entertainment

Residential

Hotel

Office Retail Restaurant Residential Hotel

Office 22 2 2 0

Retail 7 25 26 0

Restaurant 2 27 9 0

Cinema/Entertainment 0 0 0 0 0

Residential 1 15 8 0

Hotel 0 0 0 0

Total Entering Exiting Land Use Entering Trips Exiting Trips

All Person-Trips 1,111 539 572 Office 23% 23%

Internal Capture Percentage 26% 27% 26% Retail 18% 16%

Restaurant 41% 58%

External Vehicle-Trips
3 819 393 426 Cinema/Entertainment N/A N/A

External Transit-Trips
4 0 0 0 Residential 65% 67%

External Non-Motorized Trips
4 0 0 0 Hotel N/A N/A

NCHRP 8-51 Internal Trip Capture Estimation Tool

Thunder Ridge TIG

Cedar Falls, Iowa DAW

2025

PM Street Peak Hour

Table 1-P: Base Vehicle-Trip Generation Estimates (Single-Use Site Estimate)

Land Use
Development Data (For Information Only ) Estimated Vehicle-Trips

Table 2-P: Mode Split and Vehicle Occupancy Estimates

Land Use
Entering Trips Exiting Trips

Table 3-P: Average Land Use Interchange Distances (Feet Walking Distance)

Origin (From)
Destination (To)

Cinema/Entertainment

Table 4-P: Internal Person-Trip Origin-Destination Matrix*

Origin (From)
Destination (To)

Cinema/Entertainment

0

0

0

0

0

Table 5-P: Computations Summary Table 6-P: Internal Trip Capture Percentages by Land Use

4
Person-Trips

Estimation Tool Developed by the Texas Transportation Institute

1
Land Use Codes (LUCs) from Trip Generation Informational Report , published by the Institute of Transportation Engineers.

2
Total estimate for all other land uses at mixed-use development site-not subject to internal trip capture computations in this estimator

3
Vehicle-trips computed using the mode split and vehicle occupancy values provided in Table 2-P

*Indicates computation that has been rounded to the nearest whole number.

109

Item 3.



Trip Distribution 

  

110

Item 3.



Turning Movement Volume: Detail

6/24/2020Report File: C:\...\vistro AM.pdf

Scenario 1 AMVistro File: C:\...\Cedar vistro.vistro

Thunder Ridge - Cedar Falls

340

0

86

0

-

242

Total
Volume

11

0

0

0

1.05

10

Right

0

0

0

0

1.05

0

Thru

3

0

0

0

1.05

3

Left

Westbound

51

0

33

0

1.05

17

Right

1

0

0

0

1.05

1

Thru

27

0

0

0

1.05

26

Left

Eastbound

23

0

0

0

1.05

22

Right

64

0

0

0

1.05

61

Thru

6

0

0

0

1.05

6

Left

Southbound

7

0

0

0

1.05

7

Right

78

0

0

0

1.05

74

Thru

69

0

53

0

1.05

15

Left

Northbound

Future Total

Other

Net New Trips

In Process

Growth Factor

Final Base

Magnolia Dr &
White Tail Dr

4

Volume Type
Intersection

Name
ID

1038

0

233

0

-

769

Total
Volume

7

0

0

0

1.05

7

Right

267

0

132

0

1.05

129

Thru

69

0

0

0

1.05

66

Left

Westbound

24

0

0

0

1.05

23

Right

496

0

94

0

1.05

383

Thru

3

0

2

0

1.05

1

Left

Eastbound

7

0

5

0

1.05

2

Right

2

0

0

0

1.05

2

Thru

55

0

0

0

1.05

52

Left

Southbound

92

0

0

0

1.05

88

Right

7

0

0

0

1.05

7

Thru

9

0

0

0

1.05

9

Left

Northbound

Future Total

Other

Net New Trips

In Process

Growth Factor

Final Base

1st St &
Magnolia Dr

3

Volume Type
Intersection

Name
ID

844

0

265

0

-

552

Total
Volume

9

0

0

0

1.05

9

Right

154

0

22

0

1.05

126

Thru

121

0

115

0

1.05

6

Left

Westbound

23

0

17

0

1.05

6

Right

401

0

26

0

1.05

357

Thru

1

0

1

0

1.05

0

Left

Eastbound

2

0

1

0

1.05

1

Right

4

0

4

0

1.05

0

Thru

37

0

0

0

1.05

35

Left

Southbound

70

0

70

0

1.05

0

Right

2

0

1

0

1.05

1

Thru

20

0

8

0

1.05

11

Left

Northbound

Future Total

Other

Net New Trips

In Process

Growth Factor

Final Base

1st St & Eagle
Ridge Dr

2

Volume Type
Intersection

Name
ID

808

0

283

0

-

501

Total
Volume

5

0

0

0

1.05

5

Right

132

0

-17

0

1.05

142

Thru

48

0

48

0

1.05

0

Left

Westbound

125

0

125

0

1.05

0

Right

328

0

-34

0

1.05

345

Thru

1

0

0

0

1.05

1

Left

Eastbound

4

0

0

0

1.05

4

Right

5

0

5

0

1.05

0

Thru

4

0

0

0

1.05

4

Left

Southbound

78

0

78

0

1.05

0

Right

2

0

2

0

1.05

0

Thru

76

0

76

0

1.05

0

Left

Northbound

Future Total

Other

Net New Trips

In Process

Growth Factor

Final Base

1st St & Lake
Ridge Dr

1

Volume Type
Intersection

Name
ID

Thunder Ridge - Cedar FallsThunder Ridge - Cedar Falls

Traffic Impact Group

Version 7.00-08

Generated with

111

Item 3.



58

0

58

0

-

0

Total
Volume

0

0

0

0

1.00

0

Right

0

0

0

0

1.00

0

Thru

0

0

0

0

1.00

0

Left

Westbound

0

0

0

0

1.00

0

Right

0

0

0

0

1.00

0

Thru

41

0

41

0

1.00

0

Left

Eastbound

17

0

17

0

1.00

0

Right

0

0

0

0

1.00

0

Thru

0

0

0

0

1.00

0

Left

Southbound

0

0

0

0

1.00

0

Right

0

0

0

0

1.00

0

Thru

0

0

0

0

1.00

0

Left

Northbound

Future Total

Other

Net New Trips

In Process

Growth Factor

Final Base

New
Intersection

10

Volume Type
Intersection

Name
ID

58

0

58

0

-

0

Total
Volume

0

0

0

0

1.00

0

Right

3

0

3

0

1.00

0

Left

Westbound

14

0

14

0

1.00

0

Thru

0

0

0

0

1.00

0

Left

Southbound

7

0

7

0

1.00

0

Right

34

0

34

0

1.00

0

Thru

Northbound

Future Total

Other

Net New Trips

In Process

Growth Factor

Final Base

Lake Ridge Dr
& Eagle Ridge

Rd
7

Volume Type
Intersection

Name
ID

235

0

235

0

-

0

Total
Volume

33

0

33

0

1.00

0

Right

8

0

8

0

1.00

0

Thru

0

0

0

0

1.00

0

Left

Westbound

0

0

0

0

1.00

0

Right

7

0

7

0

1.00

0

Thru

32

0

32

0

1.00

0

Left

Eastbound

35

0

35

0

1.00

0

Right

14

0

14

0

1.00

0

Thru

72

0

72

0

1.00

0

Left

Southbound

0

0

0

0

1.00

0

Right

34

0

34

0

1.00

0

Thru

0

0

0

0

1.00

0

Left

Northbound

Future Total

Other

Net New Trips

In Process

Growth Factor

Final Base

Lake Ridge Dr
& White Tail Dr

6

Volume Type
Intersection

Name
ID

287

0

263

0

-

24

Total
Volume

12

0

0

0

1.01

12

Right

48

0

48

0

1.01

0

Thru

5

0

5

0

1.01

0

Left

Westbound

0

0

0

0

1.01

0

Right

25

0

25

0

1.01

0

Thru

53

0

53

0

1.01

0

Left

Eastbound

107

0

107

0

1.01

0

Right

10

0

10

0

1.01

0

Thru

12

0

0

0

1.01

12

Left

Southbound

8

0

8

0

1.01

0

Right

7

0

7

0

1.01

0

Thru

0

0

0

0

1.01

0

Left

Northbound

Future Total

Other

Net New Trips

In Process

Growth Factor

Final Base

Eagle Ridge Dr
& White Tail Dr

5

Volume Type
Intersection

Name
ID

Thunder Ridge - Cedar FallsThunder Ridge - Cedar Falls

Traffic Impact Group

Version 7.00-08

Generated with

112

Item 3.



Turning Movement Volume: Detail

6/24/2020Report File: C:\...\vistro PM.pdf

Scenario 2 PMVistro File: C:\...\Cedar vistro.vistro

Thunder Ridge - Cedar Falls

802

0

88

0

-

679

Total
Volume

44

0

0

0

1.05

42

Right

15

0

0

0

1.05

14

Thru

25

0

0

0

1.05

24

Left

Westbound

106

0

47

0

1.05

56

Right

12

0

0

0

1.05

11

Thru

56

0

0

0

1.05

53

Left

Eastbound

60

0

0

0

1.05

57

Right

177

0

0

0

1.05

169

Thru

21

0

0

0

1.05

20

Left

Southbound

54

0

0

0

1.05

51

Right

174

0

0

0

1.05

166

Thru

58

0

41

0

1.05

16

Left

Northbound

Future Total

Other

Net New Trips

In Process

Growth Factor

Final Base

Magnolia Dr &
White Tail Dr

4

Volume Type
Intersection

Name
ID

1608

0

235

0

-

1306

Total
Volume

45

0

0

0

1.05

43

Right

521

0

103

0

1.05

398

Thru

247

0

0

0

1.05

235

Left

Westbound

56

0

0

0

1.05

53

Right

408

0

123

0

1.05

271

Thru

7

0

5

0

1.05

2

Left

Eastbound

7

0

4

0

1.05

3

Right

15

0

0

0

1.05

14

Thru

32

0

0

0

1.05

30

Left

Southbound

147

0

0

0

1.05

140

Right

17

0

0

0

1.05

16

Thru

106

0

0

0

1.05

101

Left

Northbound

Future Total

Other

Net New Trips

In Process

Growth Factor

Final Base

1st St &
Magnolia Dr

3

Volume Type
Intersection

Name
ID

1273

0

311

0

-

917

Total
Volume

49

0

0

0

1.05

47

Right

475

0

-13

0

1.05

465

Thru

141

0

120

0

1.05

20

Left

Westbound

54

0

22

0

1.05

30

Right

246

0

-1

0

1.05

235

Thru

9

0

0

0

1.05

9

Left

Eastbound

11

0

0

0

1.05

10

Right

11

0

4

0

1.05

7

Thru

26

0

0

0

1.05

25

Left

Southbound

145

0

129

0

1.05

15

Right

12

0

5

0

1.05

7

Thru

94

0

45

0

1.05

47

Left

Northbound

Future Total

Other

Net New Trips

In Process

Growth Factor

Final Base

1st St & Eagle
Ridge Dr

2

Volume Type
Intersection

Name
ID

1200

0

325

0

-

834

Total
Volume

48

0

0

0

1.05

46

Right

427

0

-75

0

1.05

478

Thru

107

0

107

0

1.05

0

Left

Westbound

104

0

104

0

1.05

0

Right

242

0

-36

0

1.05

265

Thru

12

0

0

0

1.05

11

Left

Eastbound

6

0

0

0

1.05

6

Right

4

0

4

0

1.05

0

Thru

29

0

0

0

1.05

28

Left

Southbound

57

0

57

0

1.05

0

Right

5

0

5

0

1.05

0

Thru

159

0

159

0

1.05

0

Left

Northbound

Future Total

Other

Net New Trips

In Process

Growth Factor

Final Base

1st St & Lake
Ridge Dr

1

Volume Type
Intersection

Name
ID

Thunder Ridge - Cedar FallsThunder Ridge - Cedar Falls

Traffic Impact Group

Version 7.00-08

Generated with

113

Item 3.



31

0

31

0

-

0

Total
Volume

0

0

0

0

1.00

0

Right

0

0

0

0

1.00

0

Thru

0

0

0

0

1.00

0

Left

Westbound

0

0

0

0

1.00

0

Right

0

0

0

0

1.00

0

Thru

12

0

12

0

1.00

0

Left

Eastbound

19

0

19

0

1.00

0

Right

0

0

0

0

1.00

0

Thru

0

0

0

0

1.00

0

Left

Southbound

0

0

0

0

1.00

0

Right

0

0

0

0

1.00

0

Thru

0

0

0

0

1.00

0

Left

Northbound

Future Total

Other

Net New Trips

In Process

Growth Factor

Final Base

New
Intersection

10

Volume Type
Intersection

Name
ID

31

0

31

0

-

0

Total
Volume

0

0

0

0

1.00

0

Right

4

0

4

0

1.00

0

Left

Westbound

15

0

15

0

1.00

0

Thru

0

0

0

0

1.00

0

Left

Southbound

2

0

2

0

1.00

0

Right

10

0

10

0

1.00

0

Thru

Northbound

Future Total

Other

Net New Trips

In Process

Growth Factor

Final Base

Lake Ridge Dr
& Eagle Ridge

Rd
7

Volume Type
Intersection

Name
ID

207

0

207

0

-

0

Total
Volume

72

0

72

0

1.00

0

Right

7

0

7

0

1.00

0

Thru

0

0

0

0

1.00

0

Left

Westbound

0

0

0

0

1.00

0

Right

4

0

4

0

1.00

0

Thru

19

0

19

0

1.00

0

Left

Eastbound

28

0

28

0

1.00

0

Right

15

0

15

0

1.00

0

Thru

52

0

52

0

1.00

0

Left

Southbound

0

0

0

0

1.00

0

Right

10

0

10

0

1.00

0

Thru

0

0

0

0

1.00

0

Left

Northbound

Future Total

Other

Net New Trips

In Process

Growth Factor

Final Base

Lake Ridge Dr
& White Tail Dr

6

Volume Type
Intersection

Name
ID

425

0

297

0

-

126

Total
Volume

70

0

0

0

1.01

69

Right

35

0

35

0

1.01

0

Thru

6

0

6

0

1.01

0

Left

Westbound

0

0

0

0

1.01

0

Right

42

0

42

0

1.01

0

Thru

106

0

106

0

1.01

0

Left

Eastbound

80

0

80

0

1.01

0

Right

8

0

8

0

1.01

0

Thru

58

0

0

0

1.01

57

Left

Southbound

5

0

5

0

1.01

0

Right

15

0

15

0

1.01

0

Thru

0

0

0

0

1.01

0

Left

Northbound

Future Total

Other

Net New Trips

In Process

Growth Factor

Final Base

Eagle Ridge Dr
& White Tail Dr

5

Volume Type
Intersection

Name
ID

Thunder Ridge - Cedar FallsThunder Ridge - Cedar Falls

Traffic Impact Group

Version 7.00-08

Generated with

114

Item 3.



Capacity Analysis 

115

Item 3.



Existing Conditions 

  

116

Item 3.



HCM 2010 TWSC 2020 Existing AM Peak Hour
1: 1st Street (IA 57) & Lake Ridge Dr 06/23/2020

Thunder Ridge AM existing.syn Synchro 10 Report
DAW Page 1

Intersection

Int Delay, s/veh 0.7

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR

Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 1 345 142 5 28 4
Future Vol, veh/h 1 345 142 5 28 4
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 75 - - 0 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 0 - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 0 - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 95 95 95 95 95 95
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 4 10 0 4 0
Mvmt Flow 1 363 149 5 29 4

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2

Conflicting Flow All 154 0 - 0 514 149
Stage 1 - - - - 149 -
Stage 2 - - - - 365 -

Critical Hdwy 4.1 - - - 6.44 6.2
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.44 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.44 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.2 - - - 3.536 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1439 - - - 517 903

Stage 1 - - - - 874 -
Stage 2 - - - - 698 -

Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1439 - - - 516 903
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 516 -

Stage 1 - - - - 873 -
Stage 2 - - - - 698 -

Approach EB WB SB

HCM Control Delay, s 0 0 12
HCM LOS B

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBL EBT WBT WBR SBLn1

Capacity (veh/h) 1439 - - - 545
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.001 - - - 0.062
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.5 - - - 12
HCM Lane LOS A - - - B
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - - 0.2

117

Item 3.



HCM 2010 TWSC 2020 Existing PM Peak Hour
1: 1st Street (IA 57) & Lake Ridge Dr 06/23/2020

Thunder Ridge PM existing.syn Synchro 10 Report
DAW Page 1

Intersection

Int Delay, s/veh 0.6

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR

Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 11 265 478 46 17 6
Future Vol, veh/h 11 265 478 46 17 6
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 75 - - 0 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 0 - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 0 - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 83 83 83 83 83 83
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 3 10 0 4 0
Mvmt Flow 13 319 576 55 20 7

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2

Conflicting Flow All 631 0 - 0 921 576
Stage 1 - - - - 576 -
Stage 2 - - - - 345 -

Critical Hdwy 4.1 - - - 6.44 6.2
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.44 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.44 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.2 - - - 3.536 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 961 - - - 298 521

Stage 1 - - - - 558 -
Stage 2 - - - - 713 -

Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 961 - - - 294 521
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 294 -

Stage 1 - - - - 550 -
Stage 2 - - - - 713 -

Approach EB WB SB

HCM Control Delay, s 0.4 0 16.8
HCM LOS C

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBL EBT WBT WBR SBLn1

Capacity (veh/h) 961 - - - 332
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.014 - - - 0.083
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.8 - - - 16.8
HCM Lane LOS A - - - C
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - - 0.3

118

Item 3.



HCM 2010 TWSC 2020 Existing AM Peak Hour
5: Eagle Ridge Rd & 1st Street (IA 57) 06/23/2020

Thunder Ridge AM existing.syn Synchro 10 Report
DAW Page 1

Intersection

Int Delay, s/veh 1.1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 357 6 6 126 9 11 1 0 35 0 1
Future Vol, veh/h 0 357 6 6 126 9 11 1 0 35 0 1
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length 150 - - 150 - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 2 0 29 4 0 11 0 0 0 0 0
Mvmt Flow 0 388 7 7 137 10 12 1 0 38 0 1

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1 Minor2

Conflicting Flow All 147 0 0 395 0 0 475 553 198 351 551 74
Stage 1 - - - - - - 392 392 - 156 156 -
Stage 2 - - - - - - 83 161 - 195 395 -

Critical Hdwy 4.1 - - 4.68 - - 7.72 6.5 6.9 7.5 6.5 6.9
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.72 5.5 - 6.5 5.5 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.72 5.5 - 6.5 5.5 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.2 - - 2.49 - - 3.61 4 3.3 3.5 4 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1447 - - 989 - - 453 444 816 584 445 979

Stage 1 - - - - - - 580 610 - 836 772 -
Stage 2 - - - - - - 890 769 - 794 608 -

Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1447 - - 989 - - 450 441 816 580 442 979
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 450 441 - 580 442 -

Stage 1 - - - - - - 580 610 - 836 767 -
Stage 2 - - - - - - 883 764 - 793 608 -

Approach EB WB NB SB

HCM Control Delay, s 0 0.4 13.3 11.6
HCM LOS B B

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1

Capacity (veh/h) 449 1447 - - 989 - - 587
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.029 - - - 0.007 - - 0.067
HCM Control Delay (s) 13.3 0 - - 8.7 - - 11.6
HCM Lane LOS B A - - A - - B
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.1 0 - - 0 - - 0.2

119

Item 3.



HCM 2010 TWSC 2020 Existing PM Peak Hour
5: Eagle Ridge Rd & 1st Street (IA 57) 06/23/2020

Thunder Ridge PM existing.syn Synchro 10 Report
DAW Page 1

Intersection

Int Delay, s/veh 2.5

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 9 235 30 20 465 47 47 7 15 25 7 10
Future Vol, veh/h 9 235 30 20 465 47 47 7 15 25 7 10
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length 150 - - 150 - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 82 82 82 82 82 82 82 82 82 82 82 82
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 2 4 0 2 0 5 0 0 0 0 0
Mvmt Flow 11 287 37 24 567 57 57 9 18 30 9 12

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1 Minor2

Conflicting Flow All 624 0 0 324 0 0 664 1000 162 814 990 312
Stage 1 - - - - - - 328 328 - 644 644 -
Stage 2 - - - - - - 336 672 - 170 346 -

Critical Hdwy 4.1 - - 4.1 - - 7.6 6.5 6.9 7.5 6.5 6.9
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.6 5.5 - 6.5 5.5 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.6 5.5 - 6.5 5.5 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.2 - - 2.2 - - 3.55 4 3.3 3.5 4 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 967 - - 1247 - - 340 245 861 273 248 690

Stage 1 - - - - - - 651 651 - 433 471 -
Stage 2 - - - - - - 643 458 - 821 639 -

Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 967 - - 1247 - - 318 238 861 254 241 690
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 318 238 - 254 241 -

Stage 1 - - - - - - 644 644 - 428 462 -
Stage 2 - - - - - - 608 449 - 784 632 -

Approach EB WB NB SB

HCM Control Delay, s 0.3 0.3 18.3 19.7
HCM LOS C C

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1

Capacity (veh/h) 355 967 - - 1247 - - 296
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.237 0.011 - - 0.02 - - 0.173
HCM Control Delay (s) 18.3 8.8 - - 7.9 - - 19.7
HCM Lane LOS C A - - A - - C
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.9 0 - - 0.1 - - 0.6

120

Item 3.



Lanes, Volumes, Timings 2020 Existing AM Peak Hour
8: Magnolia Drive/Oak Park Blvd & 1st Street (IA 57) 06/24/2020

Thunder Ridge AM existing.syn Synchro 10 Report
DAW Page 1

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 1 383 23 66 129 7 9 7 88 52 2 2
Future Volume (vph) 1 383 23 66 129 7 9 7 88 52 2 2
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Storage Length (ft) 150 0 300 0 0 0 0 0
Storage Lanes 1 0 1 0 0 1 0 0
Taper Length (ft) 100 100 100 100
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.95 0.95 1.00 0.95 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 0.991 0.992 0.850 0.996
Flt Protected 0.950 0.950 0.973 0.955
Satd. Flow (prot) 1805 3511 0 1805 3507 0 0 1849 1615 0 1807 0
Flt Permitted 0.652 0.337 0.898 0.771
Satd. Flow (perm) 1239 3511 0 640 3507 0 0 1706 1615 0 1459 0
Right Turn on Red Yes Yes Yes Yes
Satd. Flow (RTOR) 8 8 102 2
Link Speed (mph) 45 45 30 30
Link Distance (ft) 830 768 232 403
Travel Time (s) 12.6 11.6 5.3 9.2
Peak Hour Factor 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86
Heavy Vehicles (%) 0% 2% 0% 0% 2% 4% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Adj. Flow (vph) 1 445 27 77 150 8 10 8 102 60 2 2
Shared Lane Traffic (%)
Lane Group Flow (vph) 1 472 0 77 158 0 0 18 102 0 64 0
Enter Blocked Intersection No No No No No No No No No No No No
Lane Alignment Left Left Right Left Left Right Left Left Right Left Left Right
Median Width(ft) 12 12 0 0
Link Offset(ft) 0 0 0 0
Crosswalk Width(ft) 16 16 16 16
Two way Left Turn Lane
Headway Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Turning Speed (mph) 15 9 15 9 15 9 15 9
Turn Type pm+pt NA pm+pt NA Perm NA pm+ov Perm NA
Protected Phases 7 4 3 8 2 3 6
Permitted Phases 4 8 2 2 6
Detector Phase 7 4 3 8 2 2 3 6 6
Switch Phase
Minimum Initial (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Minimum Split (s) 10.0 20.0 10.0 20.0 20.0 20.0 10.0 20.0 20.0
Total Split (s) 14.0 49.0 20.0 55.0 31.0 31.0 20.0 31.0 31.0
Total Split (%) 14.0% 49.0% 20.0% 55.0% 31.0% 31.0% 20.0% 31.0% 31.0%
Maximum Green (s) 8.0 43.0 14.0 49.0 25.0 25.0 14.0 25.0 25.0
Yellow Time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
All-Red Time (s) 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0
Lost Time Adjust (s) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Lost Time (s) 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0
Lead/Lag Lead Lag Lead Lag Lead
Lead-Lag Optimize? Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Vehicle Extension (s) 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0
Recall Mode None None None None Max Max None Max Max

121

Item 3.



Lanes, Volumes, Timings 2020 Existing AM Peak Hour
8: Magnolia Drive/Oak Park Blvd & 1st Street (IA 57) 06/24/2020

Thunder Ridge AM existing.syn Synchro 10 Report
DAW Page 2

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Act Effct Green (s) 17.9 13.7 23.4 21.9 25.4 38.7 25.4
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.29 0.22 0.38 0.36 0.41 0.63 0.41
v/c Ratio 0.00 0.60 0.20 0.13 0.03 0.10 0.11
Control Delay 11.0 25.2 12.2 13.3 13.9 1.9 14.1
Queue Delay 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Delay 11.0 25.2 12.2 13.3 13.9 1.9 14.1
LOS B C B B B A B
Approach Delay 25.2 12.9 3.7 14.1
Approach LOS C B A B
Queue Length 50th (ft) 0 86 17 17 4 0 15
Queue Length 95th (ft) 2 125 37 42 16 16 40
Internal Link Dist (ft) 750 688 152 323
Turn Bay Length (ft) 150 300
Base Capacity (vph) 473 2497 528 2814 704 1227 603
Starvation Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Spillback Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Storage Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reduced v/c Ratio 0.00 0.19 0.15 0.06 0.03 0.08 0.11

Intersection Summary

Area Type: Other
Cycle Length: 100
Actuated Cycle Length: 61.6
Natural Cycle: 50
Control Type: Actuated-Uncoordinated
Maximum v/c Ratio: 0.60
Intersection Signal Delay: 18.3 Intersection LOS: B
Intersection Capacity Utilization 39.7% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15

Splits and Phases: 8: Magnolia Drive/Oak Park Blvd & 1st Street (IA 57)

122

Item 3.



Lanes, Volumes, Timings 2020 Existing PM Peak Hour
8: Magnolia Drive/Oak Park Blvd & 1st Street (IA 57) 06/23/2020

Thunder Ridge PM existing.syn Synchro 10 Report
DAW Page 1

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 2 271 53 235 398 43 101 16 140 30 14 3
Future Volume (vph) 2 271 53 235 398 43 101 16 140 30 14 3
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Storage Length (ft) 150 0 300 0 0 0 0 0
Storage Lanes 1 0 1 0 0 1 0 0
Taper Length (ft) 100 100 100 100
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.95 0.95 1.00 0.95 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 0.976 0.985 0.850 0.992
Flt Protected 0.950 0.950 0.959 0.969
Satd. Flow (prot) 1805 3494 0 1805 3524 0 0 1822 1599 0 1826 0
Flt Permitted 0.492 0.395 0.733 0.818
Satd. Flow (perm) 935 3494 0 750 3524 0 0 1393 1599 0 1542 0
Right Turn on Red Yes Yes Yes Yes
Satd. Flow (RTOR) 21 15 143 3
Link Speed (mph) 45 45 30 30
Link Distance (ft) 830 768 232 403
Travel Time (s) 12.6 11.6 5.3 9.2
Peak Hour Factor 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98
Heavy Vehicles (%) 0% 1% 0% 0% 1% 0% 0% 0% 1% 0% 0% 0%
Adj. Flow (vph) 2 277 54 240 406 44 103 16 143 31 14 3
Shared Lane Traffic (%)
Lane Group Flow (vph) 2 331 0 240 450 0 0 119 143 0 48 0
Enter Blocked Intersection No No No No No No No No No No No No
Lane Alignment Left Left Right Left Left Right Left Left Right Left Left Right
Median Width(ft) 12 12 0 0
Link Offset(ft) 0 0 0 0
Crosswalk Width(ft) 16 16 16 16
Two way Left Turn Lane
Headway Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Turning Speed (mph) 15 9 15 9 15 9 15 9
Turn Type pm+pt NA pm+pt NA Perm NA pm+ov Perm NA
Protected Phases 7 4 3 8 2 3 6
Permitted Phases 4 8 2 2 6
Detector Phase 7 4 3 8 2 2 3 6 6
Switch Phase
Minimum Initial (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Minimum Split (s) 10.0 20.0 10.0 20.0 20.0 20.0 10.0 20.0 20.0
Total Split (s) 14.0 30.0 34.0 50.0 36.0 36.0 34.0 36.0 36.0
Total Split (%) 14.0% 30.0% 34.0% 50.0% 36.0% 36.0% 34.0% 36.0% 36.0%
Maximum Green (s) 8.0 24.0 28.0 44.0 30.0 30.0 28.0 30.0 30.0
Yellow Time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
All-Red Time (s) 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0
Lost Time Adjust (s) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Lost Time (s) 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0
Lead/Lag Lead Lag Lead Lag Lead
Lead-Lag Optimize? Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Vehicle Extension (s) 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0
Recall Mode None None None None Max Max None Max Max

123

Item 3.



Lanes, Volumes, Timings 2020 Existing PM Peak Hour
8: Magnolia Drive/Oak Park Blvd & 1st Street (IA 57) 06/23/2020

Thunder Ridge PM existing.syn Synchro 10 Report
DAW Page 2

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Act Effct Green (s) 17.2 11.6 29.6 27.4 30.2 48.1 30.2
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.24 0.16 0.41 0.38 0.42 0.67 0.42
v/c Ratio 0.01 0.57 0.50 0.33 0.20 0.13 0.07
Control Delay 13.0 30.3 17.8 16.5 15.9 1.2 14.0
Queue Delay 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Delay 13.0 30.3 17.8 16.5 15.9 1.2 14.0
LOS B C B B B A B
Approach Delay 30.2 17.0 7.9 14.0
Approach LOS C B A B
Queue Length 50th (ft) 1 66 69 65 32 0 11
Queue Length 95th (ft) 4 112 117 126 77 17 35
Internal Link Dist (ft) 750 688 152 323
Turn Bay Length (ft) 150 300
Base Capacity (vph) 353 1187 737 2176 584 1447 649
Starvation Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Spillback Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Storage Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reduced v/c Ratio 0.01 0.28 0.33 0.21 0.20 0.10 0.07

Intersection Summary

Area Type: Other
Cycle Length: 100
Actuated Cycle Length: 71.8
Natural Cycle: 50
Control Type: Actuated-Uncoordinated
Maximum v/c Ratio: 0.57
Intersection Signal Delay: 18.4 Intersection LOS: B
Intersection Capacity Utilization 46.4% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15

Splits and Phases: 8: Magnolia Drive/Oak Park Blvd & 1st Street (IA 57)

124

Item 3.



HCM 2010 TWSC 2020 Existing AM Peak Hour
7: Magnolia Drive & White Tail Drive 06/23/2020

Thunder Ridge AM existing.syn Synchro 10 Report
DAW Page 1

Intersection

Int Delay, s/veh 3

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 26 1 17 3 0 10 15 74 7 6 61 22
Future Vol, veh/h 26 1 17 3 0 10 15 74 7 6 61 22
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 78 78 78 78 78 78 78 78 78 78 78 78
Heavy Vehicles, % 5 0 7 0 0 0 0 3 17 11 2 0
Mvmt Flow 33 1 22 4 0 13 19 95 9 8 78 28

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2

Conflicting Flow All 252 250 92 258 260 100 106 0 0 104 0 0
Stage 1 108 108 - 138 138 - - - - - - -
Stage 2 144 142 - 120 122 - - - - - - -

Critical Hdwy 7.15 6.5 6.27 7.1 6.5 6.2 4.1 - - 4.21 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.15 5.5 - 6.1 5.5 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.15 5.5 - 6.1 5.5 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.545 4 3.363 3.5 4 3.3 2.2 - - 2.299 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 695 656 952 699 648 961 1498 - - 1433 - -

Stage 1 890 810 - 870 786 - - - - - - -
Stage 2 852 783 - 889 799 - - - - - - -

Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 676 644 952 672 636 961 1498 - - 1433 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 676 644 - 672 636 - - - - - - -

Stage 1 878 805 - 859 776 - - - - - - -
Stage 2 830 773 - 862 794 - - - - - - -

Approach EB WB NB SB

HCM Control Delay, s 10.1 9.2 1.2 0.5
HCM LOS B A

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR

Capacity (veh/h) 1498 - - 760 874 1433 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.013 - - 0.074 0.019 0.005 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.4 0 - 10.1 9.2 7.5 0 -
HCM Lane LOS A A - B A A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 0.2 0.1 0 - -

125

Item 3.



HCM 2010 TWSC 2020 Existing PM Peak Hour
7: Magnolia Drive & White Tail Drive 06/23/2020

Thunder Ridge PM existing.syn Synchro 10 Report
DAW Page 1

Intersection

Int Delay, s/veh 5.4

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 53 11 56 24 14 42 51 166 16 20 169 57
Future Vol, veh/h 53 11 56 24 14 42 51 166 16 20 169 57
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 82 82 82 82 82 82 82 82 82 82 82 82
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 0 0 0 0 0 2 1 8 0 0 0
Mvmt Flow 65 13 68 29 17 51 62 202 20 24 206 70

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2

Conflicting Flow All 659 635 241 666 660 212 276 0 0 222 0 0
Stage 1 289 289 - 336 336 - - - - - - -
Stage 2 370 346 - 330 324 - - - - - - -

Critical Hdwy 7.12 6.5 6.2 7.1 6.5 6.2 4.12 - - 4.1 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.12 5.5 - 6.1 5.5 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.12 5.5 - 6.1 5.5 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 4 3.3 3.5 4 3.3 2.218 - - 2.2 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 377 399 803 376 386 833 1287 - - 1359 - -

Stage 1 719 677 - 682 645 - - - - - - -
Stage 2 650 639 - 687 653 - - - - - - -

Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 322 369 803 315 357 833 1287 - - 1359 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 322 369 - 315 357 - - - - - - -

Stage 1 679 663 - 644 610 - - - - - - -
Stage 2 560 604 - 603 639 - - - - - - -

Approach EB WB NB SB

HCM Control Delay, s 16.7 14.4 1.7 0.6
HCM LOS C B

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR

Capacity (veh/h) 1287 - - 454 482 1359 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.048 - - 0.322 0.202 0.018 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.9 0 - 16.7 14.4 7.7 0 -
HCM Lane LOS A A - C B A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.2 - - 1.4 0.8 0.1 - -

126

Item 3.



Full Build 2025 Conditions 
 

  

127

Item 3.



HCM 2010 TWSC 2025 Full Build AM Peak Hour
1: Lake Ridge Dr & 1st Street (IA 57) 06/25/2020

Thunder Ridge 2025 Full Build AM.syn Synchro 10 Report
Page 1

Intersection

Int Delay, s/veh 3.9

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 1 328 125 48 132 5 76 2 78 28 5 4
Future Vol, veh/h 1 328 125 48 132 5 76 2 78 28 5 4
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length 75 - 150 150 - 0 150 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 95 95 95 95 95 95 90 90 90 95 95 95
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 4 0 0 10 0 0 0 0 4 0 0
Mvmt Flow 1 345 132 51 139 5 84 2 87 29 5 4

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1 Minor2

Conflicting Flow All 144 0 0 477 0 0 595 593 345 699 720 139
Stage 1 - - - - - - 347 347 - 241 241 -
Stage 2 - - - - - - 248 246 - 458 479 -

Critical Hdwy 4.1 - - 4.1 - - 7.1 6.5 6.2 7.14 6.5 6.2
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.1 5.5 - 6.14 5.5 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.1 5.5 - 6.14 5.5 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.2 - - 2.2 - - 3.5 4 3.3 3.536 4 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1451 - - 1096 - - 419 421 702 352 356 915

Stage 1 - - - - - - 673 638 - 758 710 -
Stage 2 - - - - - - 760 706 - 579 558 -

Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1451 - - 1096 - - 397 401 702 296 339 915
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 397 401 - 296 339 -

Stage 1 - - - - - - 672 637 - 757 677 -
Stage 2 - - - - - - 716 673 - 505 557 -

Approach EB WB NB SB

HCM Control Delay, s 0 2.2 13.7 17.6
HCM LOS B C

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 NBLn2 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1

Capacity (veh/h) 397 689 1451 - - 1096 - - 325
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.213 0.129 0.001 - - 0.046 - - 0.12
HCM Control Delay (s) 16.5 11 7.5 - - 8.4 - - 17.6
HCM Lane LOS C B A - - A - - C
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.8 0.4 0 - - 0.1 - - 0.4

128

Item 3.



HCM 2010 TWSC 2025 Full Build PM Peak Hour
1: Lake Ridge Dr & 1st Street (IA 57) 06/25/2020

Thunder Ridge 2025 Full Build PM.syn Synchro 10 Report
DAW Page 1

Intersection

Int Delay, s/veh 7.6

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 12 242 104 107 427 48 159 5 57 17 4 6
Future Vol, veh/h 12 242 104 107 427 48 159 5 57 17 4 6
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length 75 - 150 150 - 0 150 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 1 - - 1 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 83 83 83 83 83 83 90 90 90 83 83 83
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 3 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Mvmt Flow 14 292 125 129 514 58 177 6 63 20 5 7

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1 Minor2

Conflicting Flow All 572 0 0 417 0 0 1127 1150 292 1189 1217 514
Stage 1 - - - - - - 320 320 - 772 772 -
Stage 2 - - - - - - 807 830 - 417 445 -

Critical Hdwy 4.1 - - 4.1 - - 7.1 6.5 6.2 7.1 6.5 6.2
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.1 5.5 - 6.1 5.5 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.1 5.5 - 6.1 5.5 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.2 - - 2.2 - - 3.5 4 3.3 3.5 4 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1011 - - 1153 - - 183 200 752 166 182 564

Stage 1 - - - - - - 696 656 - 395 412 -
Stage 2 - - - - - - 378 388 - 617 578 -

Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1011 - - 1153 - - ~ 161 175 752 135 159 564
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 255 267 - 246 254 -

Stage 1 - - - - - - 686 647 - 389 366 -
Stage 2 - - - - - - 327 345 - 552 570 -

Approach EB WB NB SB

HCM Control Delay, s 0.3 1.6 36.1 19.4
HCM LOS E C

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 NBLn2 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1

Capacity (veh/h) 255 656 1011 - - 1153 - - 283
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.693 0.105 0.014 - - 0.112 - - 0.115
HCM Control Delay (s) 45.8 11.1 8.6 - - 8.5 - - 19.4
HCM Lane LOS E B A - - A - - C
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 4.6 0.4 0 - - 0.4 - - 0.4

Notes

~: Volume exceeds capacity $: Delay exceeds 300s +: Computation Not Defined *: All major volume in platoon

129

Item 3.



HCM 2010 TWSC 2025 Full Build AM Peak Hour
5: Eagle Ridge Rd & 1st Street (IA 57) 06/24/2020

Thunder Ridge 2025 Full Build AM.syn Synchro 10 Report
Page 1

Intersection

Int Delay, s/veh 3.8

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 1 401 23 121 154 9 20 2 70 37 4 2
Future Vol, veh/h 1 401 23 121 154 9 20 2 70 37 4 2
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length 150 - - 150 - - 150 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 2 0 29 4 0 11 0 0 0 0 0
Mvmt Flow 1 436 25 132 167 10 22 2 76 40 4 2

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1 Minor2

Conflicting Flow All 177 0 0 461 0 0 801 892 231 657 899 89
Stage 1 - - - - - - 451 451 - 436 436 -
Stage 2 - - - - - - 350 441 - 221 463 -

Critical Hdwy 4.1 - - 4.68 - - 7.72 6.5 6.9 7.5 6.5 6.9
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.72 5.5 - 6.5 5.5 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.72 5.5 - 6.5 5.5 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.2 - - 2.49 - - 3.61 4 3.3 3.5 4 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1411 - - 927 - - 260 283 777 354 281 958

Stage 1 - - - - - - 534 574 - 574 583 -
Stage 2 - - - - - - 615 580 - 767 568 -

Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1411 - - 927 - - 228 243 777 282 241 958
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 228 243 - 282 241 -

Stage 1 - - - - - - 533 573 - 573 500 -
Stage 2 - - - - - - 522 498 - 689 567 -

Approach EB WB NB SB

HCM Control Delay, s 0 4.1 13.1 20
HCM LOS B C

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 NBLn2 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1

Capacity (veh/h) 228 732 1411 - - 927 - - 287
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.095 0.107 0.001 - - 0.142 - - 0.163
HCM Control Delay (s) 22.4 10.5 7.6 - - 9.5 - - 20
HCM Lane LOS C B A - - A - - C
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.3 0.4 0 - - 0.5 - - 0.6

130

Item 3.



HCM 2010 TWSC 2025 Full Build PM Peak Hour
5: Eagle Ridge Rd & 1st Street (IA 57) 06/24/2020

Thunder Ridge 2025 Full Build PM.syn Synchro 10 Report
DAW Page 1

Intersection

Int Delay, s/veh 5.6

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 9 246 54 141 475 49 94 12 145 26 11 11
Future Vol, veh/h 9 246 54 141 475 49 94 12 145 26 11 11
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length 150 - - 150 - - 150 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 1 - - 1 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 82 82 82 82 82 82 82 82 82 82 82 82
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 2 4 0 2 0 5 0 0 0 0 0
Mvmt Flow 11 300 66 172 579 60 115 15 177 32 13 13

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1 Minor2

Conflicting Flow All 639 0 0 366 0 0 995 1338 183 1133 1341 320
Stage 1 - - - - - - 355 355 - 953 953 -
Stage 2 - - - - - - 640 983 - 180 388 -

Critical Hdwy 4.1 - - 4.1 - - 7.6 6.5 6.9 7.5 6.5 6.9
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.6 5.5 - 6.5 5.5 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.6 5.5 - 6.5 5.5 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.2 - - 2.2 - - 3.55 4 3.3 3.5 4 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 955 - - 1204 - - 195 154 834 160 154 682

Stage 1 - - - - - - 627 633 - 282 340 -
Stage 2 - - - - - - 423 329 - 810 612 -

Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 955 - - 1204 - - 161 130 834 106 130 682
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 259 219 - 201 215 -

Stage 1 - - - - - - 619 625 - 279 291 -
Stage 2 - - - - - - 339 282 - 616 605 -

Approach EB WB NB SB

HCM Control Delay, s 0.3 1.8 18.7 24.3
HCM LOS C C

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 NBLn2 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1

Capacity (veh/h) 259 687 955 - - 1204 - - 244
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.443 0.279 0.011 - - 0.143 - - 0.24
HCM Control Delay (s) 29.5 12.3 8.8 - - 8.5 - - 24.3
HCM Lane LOS D B A - - A - - C
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 2.1 1.1 0 - - 0.5 - - 0.9

131

Item 3.



Lanes, Volumes, Timings 2025 Full Build AM Peak Hour
8: Magnolia Drive/Oak Park Blvd & 1st Street (IA 57) 06/23/2020

Thunder Ridge 2025 Full Build AM.syn Synchro 10 Report
Page 1

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 3 496 24 69 267 7 9 7 92 55 2 7
Future Volume (vph) 3 496 24 69 267 7 9 7 92 55 2 7
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Storage Length (ft) 150 0 300 0 0 110 0 0
Storage Lanes 1 0 1 0 0 1 0 0
Taper Length (ft) 100 100 100 100
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.95 0.95 1.00 0.95 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 0.993 0.996 0.850 0.985
Flt Protected 0.950 0.950 0.973 0.959
Satd. Flow (prot) 1805 3518 0 1805 3523 0 0 1849 1615 0 1795 0
Flt Permitted 0.559 0.268 0.893 0.778
Satd. Flow (perm) 1062 3518 0 509 3523 0 0 1697 1615 0 1456 0
Right Turn on Red Yes Yes Yes Yes
Satd. Flow (RTOR) 6 4 107 6
Link Speed (mph) 45 45 30 30
Link Distance (ft) 830 768 223 403
Travel Time (s) 12.6 11.6 5.1 9.2
Peak Hour Factor 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86
Heavy Vehicles (%) 0% 2% 0% 0% 2% 4% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Adj. Flow (vph) 3 577 28 80 310 8 10 8 107 64 2 8
Shared Lane Traffic (%)
Lane Group Flow (vph) 3 605 0 80 318 0 0 18 107 0 74 0
Enter Blocked Intersection No No No No No No No No No No No No
Lane Alignment Left Left Right Left Left Right Left Left Right Left Left Right
Median Width(ft) 12 12 0 0
Link Offset(ft) 0 0 0 0
Crosswalk Width(ft) 16 16 16 16
Two way Left Turn Lane
Headway Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Turning Speed (mph) 15 9 15 9 15 9 15 9
Turn Type pm+pt NA pm+pt NA Perm NA pm+ov Perm NA
Protected Phases 7 4 3 8 2 3 6
Permitted Phases 4 8 2 2 6
Detector Phase 7 4 3 8 2 2 3 6 6
Switch Phase
Minimum Initial (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Minimum Split (s) 10.0 20.0 10.0 20.0 20.0 20.0 10.0 20.0 20.0
Total Split (s) 14.0 49.0 20.0 55.0 31.0 31.0 20.0 31.0 31.0
Total Split (%) 14.0% 49.0% 20.0% 55.0% 31.0% 31.0% 20.0% 31.0% 31.0%
Maximum Green (s) 8.0 43.0 14.0 49.0 25.0 25.0 14.0 25.0 25.0
Yellow Time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
All-Red Time (s) 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0
Lost Time Adjust (s) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Lost Time (s) 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0
Lead/Lag Lead Lag Lead Lag Lead
Lead-Lag Optimize? Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Vehicle Extension (s) 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0
Recall Mode None None None None Max Max None Max Max

132

Item 3.



Lanes, Volumes, Timings 2025 Full Build AM Peak Hour
8: Magnolia Drive/Oak Park Blvd & 1st Street (IA 57) 06/23/2020

Thunder Ridge 2025 Full Build AM.syn Synchro 10 Report
Page 2

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Act Effct Green (s) 21.3 17.1 26.8 25.3 25.5 38.8 25.5
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.33 0.26 0.41 0.39 0.39 0.60 0.39
v/c Ratio 0.01 0.65 0.23 0.23 0.03 0.11 0.13
Control Delay 10.0 25.3 11.9 13.8 15.9 2.3 15.5
Queue Delay 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Delay 10.0 25.3 11.9 13.8 15.9 2.3 15.5
LOS A C B B B A B
Approach Delay 25.2 13.4 4.3 15.5
Approach LOS C B A B
Queue Length 50th (ft) 1 116 18 38 5 0 18
Queue Length 95th (ft) 4 161 37 79 18 19 48
Internal Link Dist (ft) 750 688 143 323
Turn Bay Length (ft) 150 300 110
Base Capacity (vph) 471 2373 501 2707 665 1170 574
Starvation Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Spillback Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Storage Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reduced v/c Ratio 0.01 0.25 0.16 0.12 0.03 0.09 0.13

Intersection Summary

Area Type: Other
Cycle Length: 100
Actuated Cycle Length: 65.1
Natural Cycle: 50
Control Type: Actuated-Uncoordinated
Maximum v/c Ratio: 0.65
Intersection Signal Delay: 18.6 Intersection LOS: B
Intersection Capacity Utilization 43.5% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15

Splits and Phases: 8: Magnolia Drive/Oak Park Blvd & 1st Street (IA 57)

133

Item 3.



Lanes, Volumes, Timings 2025 Full Build PM Peak Hour
8: Magnolia Drive/Oak Park Blvd & 1st Street (IA 57) 06/23/2020

Thunder Ridge 2025 Full Build PM.syn Synchro 10 Report
Page 1

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 7 408 56 247 521 45 106 17 147 32 15 7
Future Volume (vph) 7 408 56 247 521 45 106 17 147 32 15 7
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Storage Length (ft) 150 0 300 0 0 110 0 0
Storage Lanes 1 0 1 0 0 1 0 0
Taper Length (ft) 100 100 100 100
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.95 0.95 1.00 0.95 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Frt 0.982 0.988 0.850 0.983
Flt Protected 0.950 0.950 0.959 0.971
Satd. Flow (prot) 1805 3514 0 1805 3534 0 0 1822 1599 0 1814 0
Flt Permitted 0.434 0.305 0.722 0.819
Satd. Flow (perm) 825 3514 0 580 3534 0 0 1372 1599 0 1530 0
Right Turn on Red Yes Yes Yes Yes
Satd. Flow (RTOR) 15 12 150 7
Link Speed (mph) 45 45 30 30
Link Distance (ft) 830 768 223 403
Travel Time (s) 12.6 11.6 5.1 9.2
Peak Hour Factor 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98
Heavy Vehicles (%) 0% 1% 0% 0% 1% 0% 0% 0% 1% 0% 0% 0%
Adj. Flow (vph) 7 416 57 252 532 46 108 17 150 33 15 7
Shared Lane Traffic (%)
Lane Group Flow (vph) 7 473 0 252 578 0 0 125 150 0 55 0
Enter Blocked Intersection No No No No No No No No No No No No
Lane Alignment Left Left Right Left Left Right Left Left Right Left Left Right
Median Width(ft) 12 12 0 0
Link Offset(ft) 0 0 0 0
Crosswalk Width(ft) 16 16 16 16
Two way Left Turn Lane
Headway Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Turning Speed (mph) 15 9 15 9 15 9 15 9
Turn Type pm+pt NA pm+pt NA Perm NA pm+ov Perm NA
Protected Phases 7 4 3 8 2 3 6
Permitted Phases 4 8 2 2 6
Detector Phase 7 4 3 8 2 2 3 6 6
Switch Phase
Minimum Initial (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Minimum Split (s) 10.0 20.0 10.0 20.0 20.0 20.0 10.0 20.0 20.0
Total Split (s) 12.0 34.0 31.0 53.0 35.0 35.0 31.0 35.0 35.0
Total Split (%) 12.0% 34.0% 31.0% 53.0% 35.0% 35.0% 31.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Maximum Green (s) 6.0 28.0 25.0 47.0 29.0 29.0 25.0 29.0 29.0
Yellow Time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
All-Red Time (s) 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0
Lost Time Adjust (s) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Lost Time (s) 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0
Lead/Lag Lead Lag Lead Lag Lead
Lead-Lag Optimize? Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Vehicle Extension (s) 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0
Recall Mode None None None None Max Max None Max Max

134

Item 3.



Lanes, Volumes, Timings 2025 Full Build PM Peak Hour
8: Magnolia Drive/Oak Park Blvd & 1st Street (IA 57) 06/23/2020

Thunder Ridge 2025 Full Build PM.syn Synchro 10 Report
Page 2

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Act Effct Green (s) 20.7 15.0 33.1 31.0 29.2 47.3 29.2
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.28 0.20 0.44 0.42 0.39 0.64 0.39
v/c Ratio 0.02 0.66 0.55 0.39 0.23 0.14 0.09
Control Delay 12.1 31.4 17.8 16.2 18.5 1.6 15.4
Queue Delay 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Delay 12.1 31.4 17.8 16.2 18.5 1.6 15.4
LOS B C B B B A B
Approach Delay 31.1 16.7 9.2 15.4
Approach LOS C B A B
Queue Length 50th (ft) 2 102 71 86 37 0 13
Queue Length 95th (ft) 8 158 117 161 90 21 42
Internal Link Dist (ft) 750 688 143 323
Turn Bay Length (ft) 150 300 110
Base Capacity (vph) 312 1340 672 2251 538 1326 604
Starvation Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Spillback Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Storage Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reduced v/c Ratio 0.02 0.35 0.38 0.26 0.23 0.11 0.09

Intersection Summary

Area Type: Other
Cycle Length: 100
Actuated Cycle Length: 74.4
Natural Cycle: 50
Control Type: Actuated-Uncoordinated
Maximum v/c Ratio: 0.66
Intersection Signal Delay: 19.6 Intersection LOS: B
Intersection Capacity Utilization 51.4% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15

Splits and Phases: 8: Magnolia Drive/Oak Park Blvd & 1st Street (IA 57)

135

Item 3.



HCM 2010 TWSC 2025 Full Build AM Peak Hour
20: Magnolia Drive & White Tail Drive 06/23/2020

Thunder Ridge 2025 Full Build AM.syn Synchro 10 Report
Page 1

Intersection

Int Delay, s/veh 4.6

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 27 1 51 3 0 11 69 78 7 6 64 23
Future Vol, veh/h 27 1 51 3 0 11 69 78 7 6 64 23
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 78 78 78 78 78 78 78 78 78 78 78 78
Heavy Vehicles, % 5 0 7 0 0 0 0 3 17 11 2 0
Mvmt Flow 35 1 65 4 0 14 88 100 9 8 82 29

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2

Conflicting Flow All 401 398 97 427 408 105 111 0 0 109 0 0
Stage 1 113 113 - 281 281 - - - - - - -
Stage 2 288 285 - 146 127 - - - - - - -

Critical Hdwy 7.15 6.5 6.27 7.1 6.5 6.2 4.1 - - 4.21 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.15 5.5 - 6.1 5.5 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.15 5.5 - 6.1 5.5 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.545 4 3.363 3.5 4 3.3 2.2 - - 2.299 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 554 543 946 541 536 955 1492 - - 1427 - -

Stage 1 885 806 - 730 682 - - - - - - -
Stage 2 713 679 - 861 795 - - - - - - -

Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 517 506 946 476 499 955 1492 - - 1427 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 517 506 - 476 499 - - - - - - -

Stage 1 829 801 - 684 639 - - - - - - -
Stage 2 658 636 - 795 790 - - - - - - -

Approach EB WB NB SB

HCM Control Delay, s 10.7 9.7 3.4 0.5
HCM LOS B A

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR

Capacity (veh/h) 1492 - - 731 786 1427 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.059 - - 0.139 0.023 0.005 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.6 0 - 10.7 9.7 7.5 0 -
HCM Lane LOS A A - B A A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.2 - - 0.5 0.1 0 - -

136

Item 3.



HCM 2010 TWSC 2025 Full Build PM Peak Hour
20: Magnolia Drive & White Tail Drive 06/23/2020

Thunder Ridge 2025 Full Build PM.syn Synchro 10 Report
Page 1

Intersection

Int Delay, s/veh 6.6

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 56 12 106 25 15 44 58 174 54 21 177 60
Future Vol, veh/h 56 12 106 25 15 44 58 174 54 21 177 60
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 82 82 82 82 82 82 82 82 82 82 82 82
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 0 0 0 0 0 2 1 8 0 0 0
Mvmt Flow 68 15 129 30 18 54 71 212 66 26 216 73

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2

Conflicting Flow All 728 725 253 764 728 245 289 0 0 278 0 0
Stage 1 305 305 - 387 387 - - - - - - -
Stage 2 423 420 - 377 341 - - - - - - -

Critical Hdwy 7.12 6.5 6.2 7.1 6.5 6.2 4.12 - - 4.1 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.12 5.5 - 6.1 5.5 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.12 5.5 - 6.1 5.5 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 4 3.3 3.5 4 3.3 2.218 - - 2.2 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 339 354 791 323 353 799 1273 - - 1296 - -

Stage 1 705 666 - 641 613 - - - - - - -
Stage 2 609 593 - 649 642 - - - - - - -

Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 282 322 791 243 322 799 1273 - - 1296 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 282 322 - 243 322 - - - - - - -

Stage 1 658 650 - 598 572 - - - - - - -
Stage 2 513 553 - 518 627 - - - - - - -

Approach EB WB NB SB

HCM Control Delay, s 18.8 16.6 1.6 0.6
HCM LOS C C

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR

Capacity (veh/h) 1273 - - 470 411 1296 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.056 - - 0.451 0.249 0.02 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8 0 - 18.8 16.6 7.8 0 -
HCM Lane LOS A A - C C A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.2 - - 2.3 1 0.1 - -

137

Item 3.



HCM 2010 TWSC 2025 Full Build AM Peak Hour
13: Lake Ridge Dr & Driveway/White Tail Dr 06/23/2020

Thunder Ridge 2025 Full Build AM.syn Synchro 10 Report
Page 1

Intersection

Int Delay, s/veh 5.7

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 32 7 0 0 8 33 0 34 0 72 14 35
Future Vol, veh/h 32 7 0 0 8 33 0 34 0 72 14 35
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Mvmt Flow 36 8 0 0 9 37 0 38 0 80 16 39

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2

Conflicting Flow All 257 234 36 238 253 38 55 0 0 38 0 0
Stage 1 196 196 - 38 38 - - - - - - -
Stage 2 61 38 - 200 215 - - - - - - -

Critical Hdwy 7.1 6.5 6.2 7.1 6.5 6.2 4.1 - - 4.1 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.1 5.5 - 6.1 5.5 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.1 5.5 - 6.1 5.5 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.5 4 3.3 3.5 4 3.3 2.2 - - 2.2 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 700 670 1042 721 654 1040 1563 - - 1585 - -

Stage 1 810 742 - 982 867 - - - - - - -
Stage 2 955 867 - 806 729 - - - - - - -

Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 641 635 1042 686 620 1040 1563 - - 1585 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 641 635 - 686 620 - - - - - - -

Stage 1 810 703 - 982 867 - - - - - - -
Stage 2 912 867 - 756 691 - - - - - - -

Approach EB WB NB SB

HCM Control Delay, s 11 9.1 0 4.4
HCM LOS B A

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR

Capacity (veh/h) 1563 - - 640 919 1585 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - - 0.068 0.05 0.05 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 0 - - 11 9.1 7.4 0 -
HCM Lane LOS A - - B A A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 0.2 0.2 0.2 - -

138

Item 3.



HCM 2010 TWSC 2025 Full Build PM Peak Hour
13: Lake Ridge Dr & White Tail Dr 06/23/2020

Thunder Ridge 2025 Full Build PM.syn Synchro 10 Report
Page 1

Intersection

Int Delay, s/veh 6.4

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 19 4 0 0 7 72 0 10 0 52 15 28
Future Vol, veh/h 19 4 0 0 7 72 0 10 0 52 15 28
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Mvmt Flow 21 4 0 0 8 80 0 11 0 58 17 31

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2

Conflicting Flow All 204 160 33 162 175 11 48 0 0 11 0 0
Stage 1 149 149 - 11 11 - - - - - - -
Stage 2 55 11 - 151 164 - - - - - - -

Critical Hdwy 7.1 6.5 6.2 7.1 6.5 6.2 4.1 - - 4.1 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.1 5.5 - 6.1 5.5 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.1 5.5 - 6.1 5.5 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.5 4 3.3 3.5 4 3.3 2.2 - - 2.2 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 758 736 1046 808 722 1076 1572 - - 1621 - -

Stage 1 858 778 - 1015 890 - - - - - - -
Stage 2 962 890 - 856 766 - - - - - - -

Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 676 709 1046 781 695 1076 1572 - - 1621 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 676 709 - 781 695 - - - - - - -

Stage 1 858 749 - 1015 890 - - - - - - -
Stage 2 883 890 - 819 738 - - - - - - -

Approach EB WB NB SB

HCM Control Delay, s 10.5 8.8 0 4
HCM LOS B A

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR

Capacity (veh/h) 1572 - - 682 1026 1621 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - - 0.037 0.086 0.036 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 0 - - 10.5 8.8 7.3 0 -
HCM Lane LOS A - - B A A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 0.1 0.3 0.1 - -

139

Item 3.



HCM 2010 TWSC 2025 Full Build AM Peak Hour
15: Lake Ridge Dr & Eagle Ridge Road 06/24/2020

Thunder Ridge 2025 Full Build AM.syn Synchro 10 Report
Page 1

Intersection

Int Delay, s/veh 0.5

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT

Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 3 0 34 7 0 14
Future Vol, veh/h 3 0 34 7 0 14
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 90 90 90 90 90 90
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 0 0 0 0
Mvmt Flow 3 0 38 8 0 16

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2

Conflicting Flow All 58 42 0 0 46 0
Stage 1 42 - - - - -
Stage 2 16 - - - - -

Critical Hdwy 6.4 6.2 - - 4.1 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.4 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.4 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.5 3.3 - - 2.2 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 954 1034 - - 1575 -

Stage 1 986 - - - - -
Stage 2 1012 - - - - -

Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 954 1034 - - 1575 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 954 - - - - -

Stage 1 986 - - - - -
Stage 2 1012 - - - - -

Approach WB NB SB

HCM Control Delay, s 8.8 0 0
HCM LOS A

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT

Capacity (veh/h) - - 954 1575 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.003 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 8.8 0 -
HCM Lane LOS - - A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0 0 -

140

Item 3.



HCM 2010 TWSC 2025 Full Build PM Peak Hour
15: Lake Ridge Dr & Eagle Ridge Road 06/24/2020

Thunder Ridge 2025 Full Build PM.syn Synchro 10 Report
DAW Page 1

Intersection

Int Delay, s/veh 1.1

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT

Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 4 0 10 2 0 15
Future Vol, veh/h 4 0 10 2 0 15
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 90 90 90 90 90 90
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 0 0 0 0
Mvmt Flow 4 0 11 2 0 17

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2

Conflicting Flow All 29 12 0 0 13 0
Stage 1 12 - - - - -
Stage 2 17 - - - - -

Critical Hdwy 6.4 6.2 - - 4.1 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.4 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.4 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.5 3.3 - - 2.2 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 991 1074 - - 1619 -

Stage 1 1016 - - - - -
Stage 2 1011 - - - - -

Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 991 1074 - - 1619 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 991 - - - - -

Stage 1 1016 - - - - -
Stage 2 1011 - - - - -

Approach WB NB SB

HCM Control Delay, s 8.6 0 0
HCM LOS A

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT

Capacity (veh/h) - - 991 1619 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.004 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 8.6 0 -
HCM Lane LOS - - A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0 0 -

141

Item 3.



HCM 2010 TWSC 2025 Full Build AM Peak Hour
7: Eagle Ridge Rd & White Tail Dr 06/23/2020

Thunder Ridge 2025 Full Build AM.syn Synchro 10 Report
Page 1

Intersection

Int Delay, s/veh 5.4

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 53 25 0 5 48 12 0 7 8 12 10 107
Future Vol, veh/h 53 25 0 5 48 12 0 7 8 12 10 107
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Mvmt Flow 59 28 0 6 53 13 0 8 9 13 11 119

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2

Conflicting Flow All 143 114 71 124 169 13 130 0 0 17 0 0
Stage 1 97 97 - 13 13 - - - - - - -
Stage 2 46 17 - 111 156 - - - - - - -

Critical Hdwy 7.1 6.5 6.2 7.1 6.5 6.2 4.1 - - 4.1 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.1 5.5 - 6.1 5.5 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.1 5.5 - 6.1 5.5 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.5 4 3.3 3.5 4 3.3 2.2 - - 2.2 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 831 780 997 855 728 1073 1468 - - 1613 - -

Stage 1 914 819 - 1013 889 - - - - - - -
Stage 2 973 885 - 899 772 - - - - - - -

Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 769 773 997 826 721 1073 1468 - - 1613 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 769 773 - 826 721 - - - - - - -

Stage 1 914 812 - 1013 889 - - - - - - -
Stage 2 903 885 - 860 765 - - - - - - -

Approach EB WB NB SB

HCM Control Delay, s 10.3 10.1 0 0.7
HCM LOS B B

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR

Capacity (veh/h) 1468 - - 770 776 1613 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - - 0.113 0.093 0.008 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 0 - - 10.3 10.1 7.2 0 -
HCM Lane LOS A - - B B A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 0.4 0.3 0 - -

142

Item 3.



HCM 2010 TWSC 2025 Full Build PM Peak Hour
7: Eagle Ridge Rd & White Tail Dr 06/23/2020

Thunder Ridge 2025 Full Build PM.syn Synchro 10 Report
Page 1

Intersection

Int Delay, s/veh 8.1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 106 42 0 6 35 70 0 15 5 58 8 80
Future Vol, veh/h 106 42 0 6 35 70 0 15 5 58 8 80
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Mvmt Flow 118 47 0 7 39 78 0 17 6 64 9 89

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2

Conflicting Flow All 261 205 54 225 246 20 98 0 0 23 0 0
Stage 1 182 182 - 20 20 - - - - - - -
Stage 2 79 23 - 205 226 - - - - - - -

Critical Hdwy 7.1 6.5 6.2 7.1 6.5 6.2 4.1 - - 4.1 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.1 5.5 - 6.1 5.5 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.1 5.5 - 6.1 5.5 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.5 4 3.3 3.5 4 3.3 2.2 - - 2.2 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 696 695 1019 735 660 1064 1508 - - 1605 - -

Stage 1 824 753 - 1004 883 - - - - - - -
Stage 2 935 880 - 802 721 - - - - - - -

Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 595 665 1019 673 632 1064 1508 - - 1605 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 595 665 - 673 632 - - - - - - -

Stage 1 824 721 - 1004 883 - - - - - - -
Stage 2 828 880 - 718 690 - - - - - - -

Approach EB WB NB SB

HCM Control Delay, s 13 9.9 0 2.9
HCM LOS B A

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR

Capacity (veh/h) 1508 - - 613 853 1605 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - - 0.268 0.145 0.04 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 0 - - 13 9.9 7.3 0 -
HCM Lane LOS A - - B A A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 1.1 0.5 0.1 - -

143

Item 3.



Turn Lane Analysis 

144

Item 3.



Traffic Impact Group, LLC Thunder Ridge West 2nd Addn - Cedar Falls

1st St (IA 57) and Lake Ridge Dr

Full Build 2025 AM

6/24/2020

Figure 2 - 6. Guideline for determining the need for a major-road right-turn bay at a two-way stop-controlled intersection.

INPUT

Value

45

454

125

OUTPUT

Value

52

right-turn bay for a 2-lane roadway:

Add right-turn bay.

Roadway geometry:

Variable

Variable

Guidance for determining the need for a major-road 

Major-road speed, mph:

Major-road volume (one direction), veh/h:

Right-turn volume, veh/h:

Limiting right-turn volume, veh/h:

2-lane roadway

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

200 400 600 800 1000 1200 1400 1600

R
ig

h
t-

T
u

rn
 V

o
lu

m
e
, 
v
e
h

/h

Major-Road Volume (one direction), veh/h

Add right - turn bay

145

Item 3.



Traffic Impact Group, LLC Thunder Ridge West 2nd Addn - Cedar Falls

1st St (IA 57) and Lake Ridge Dr

Full Build 2025 PM

6/24/2020

Figure 2 - 6. Guideline for determining the need for a major-road right-turn bay at a two-way stop-controlled intersection.

INPUT

Value

45

358

104

OUTPUT

Value

80

right-turn bay for a 2-lane roadway:

Add right-turn bay.

Roadway geometry:

Variable

Variable

Guidance for determining the need for a major-road 

Major-road speed, mph:

Major-road volume (one direction), veh/h:

Right-turn volume, veh/h:

Limiting right-turn volume, veh/h:

2-lane roadway

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

200 400 600 800 1000 1200 1400 1600

R
ig

h
t-

T
u

rn
 V

o
lu

m
e
, 
v
e
h

/h

Major-Road Volume (one direction), veh/h

Add right - turn bay

146

Item 3.



Traffic Impact Group, LLC Thunder Ridge West 2nd Addn - Cedar Falls

1st St (IA 57) and Eagle Ridge Road

Full Build 2025 AM

6/24/2020

Figure 2 - 6. Guideline for determining the need for a major-road right-turn bay at a two-way stop-controlled intersection.

INPUT

Value

45

425

23

OUTPUT

Value

133

right-turn bay for a 4-lane roadway:

Do NOT add right-turn bay.

Roadway geometry:

Variable

Variable

Guidance for determining the need for a major-road 

Major-road speed, mph:

Major-road volume (one direction), veh/h:

Right-turn volume, veh/h:

Limiting right-turn volume, veh/h:

4-lane roadway

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

200 400 600 800 1000 1200 1400 1600

R
ig

h
t-

T
u

rn
 V

o
lu

m
e
, 
v
e
h

/h

Major-Road Volume (one direction), veh/h

Add right - turn bay

147

Item 3.



Traffic Impact Group, LLC Thunder Ridge West 2nd Addn - Cedar Falls

1st St (IA 57) and Eagle Ridge Road

Full Build 2025 PM

6/24/2020

Figure 2 - 6. Guideline for determining the need for a major-road right-turn bay at a two-way stop-controlled intersection.

INPUT

Value

45

309

54

OUTPUT

Value

231

right-turn bay for a 4-lane roadway:

Do NOT add right-turn bay.

Roadway geometry:

Variable

Variable

Guidance for determining the need for a major-road 

Major-road speed, mph:

Major-road volume (one direction), veh/h:

Right-turn volume, veh/h:

Limiting right-turn volume, veh/h:

4-lane roadway

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

200 400 600 800 1000 1200 1400 1600

R
ig

h
t-

T
u

rn
 V

o
lu

m
e
, 
v
e
h

/h

Major-Road Volume (one direction), veh/h

Add right - turn bay

148

Item 3.



�

�

�������	
�����
������
���
�������
�����������
����

��������������������
������
���

������  �!�" 	��������#$�%!�&���

�

�����'����()!�(*(+�

,-../01234.15-063718339:;:<=>=3

3

�
�

?�������@��A�

BC3DEE10F/6-EG3HHI3

JK.F2LG3M,3
�

�
�

� �

�

149

Item 3.



�

����������	
	����������	
	��������	

�����������������	

���� 

!"#$%&'()*+,'%)&�-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------�.$
/0/$ 123456789:	;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;	<$

="#$>,)?@A)BA>@(C%,@>�--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------�.$

D"#$'E@A>?@,%@>AFGH%'G'A(@C%@I�----------------------------------------------------------------------�J$
K0/$ LM2NOPQR76S	;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;	T$
K0U$ LVWPOX9YZ679[Q9S2\OPQYZQ]	;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;	̂$

_"#$FGH%'G'A(@C%@IAB%@̀ *A>@(C,%@>�----------------------------------------------------------------�a$

b"#$B%&*%&c>AG&*A(@,)dd@&*G'%)&>�------------------------------------------------------------�e$

f"#$c@&@(G̀ A,)dd@&'>�-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------�g$
O

G??@&*%hAGAiA@hF%H%'>O

XjkZlZSO/OmOn7R7562RkZ3OoZSQOp2RO

XjkZlZSOUOmOoZSQOVZ2562[O

	

G??@&*%hAHAiA+>BI>AqrsA%*&(A*tuvwxryqyztrAA

G??@&*%hA,AiAc()+&*A?F)')c(G?F>O

A

O

	

150

Item 3.



�

����������	
	����������	
	���������� � � � � � � �	

���������������������������� �����! ������" �#�

$���%#�� ����&�'�(��� ����

#����)������������'�(��� ������ "��

������*�''�+�!'��(���#(��%,��-+� %#��

�

�.//0123��/24.15��26�)7879:;:�
�.<5.=>./�8?+�8:87�

)6:� ���%�,�� %��

@ABBCDEFGHEFIJKLCFLIMGNFDOGP@ABBCDEFQGRCIGBALCSFATGUVGWXGYIIEDSCLAIMGZZHGPL[AGDKSAFLQGLEG

\AB]EB̂ GCG@[BACLAFATGCFTGXFTCF_ABATGP@̀ XQGa\ADSAIGbCUSLCLGcAdSARG]EBGL[AGWACTERGcST_AG

eGZCfAGcST_AGgBEhADLG[ABAC]LABGBA]ABBATGLEGCIGL[AGIJUhADLGISLAOGG@[AGIJUhADLGISLAGDEdABIG

C\\BEiŜCLAKVGjjkCDBAIGCFTGSIGKEDCLATGSFGL[AGlXGmGaADLSEFGnoMG@ERFI[S\GpqGlEBL[MGcCF_AGnrG

sAILMGHATCBGtCKKIMGuKCDfGbCRfGHEJFLVMGNERCGCIGTA\SDLATGEFGXi[SUSLGnGSFGY\\AFTSiGYOGGG

G

@ABBCDEFGJFTABILCFTIGL[CLGWXGYIIEDSCLAIMGZZHG\KCFIGLEGDEFILBJDLGCĜ JKLSk]Ĉ SKVGBAISTAFLSCKG

TAdAKE\̂ AFLGCLGL[AGIJUhADLGISLAOGG

G

@[AG\JB\EIAGE]GL[SIGIDE\AGE]GREBfGRCIGLEGAdCKJCLAGL[AGISLAG]EBG\EIISUKAGIJSLCUKAG@̀ XGa\ADSAIG

[CUSLCLOGG

nOn	 uCDf_BEJFTG

NFGnqvvMGHEF_BAIIG\CIIATGL[AGXFTCF_ABATGa\ADSAIGgBAIABdCLSEFGYDLGPL[AGYDLQGLEG\BELADLG\KCFLG

CFTGCFŜCKGI\ADSAIGKSILATGUVGL[AGwFSLATGaLCLAIGtSI[GCFTGsSKTKS]AGaABdSDAGPwatsaQOGG@[AGYDLG

CKKERIGKSILSF_GE]GFCLSdAGCFŜCKGI\ADSAIGCIGAFTCF_ABATGCFTG\BEdSTATĜ ACFIG]EBGL[AG\BELADLSEFG

E]GI\ADSAIGIEGKSILATOGG@[AGxA\CBL̂ AFLIGE]GNFLABSEBMGY_BSDJKLJBAMGCFTGxA]AFIAGRABAGLEGIAAfGLEG

\BELADLGKSILATGI\ADSAIGCFTG\BAIABdAGL[AG[CUSLCLIGE]GIJD[GI\ADSAIOGGG

86:���%���%*����" �����

@ABBCDEFG\AB]EB̂ ATGL[AG]EKKERSF_GIDE\AGE]GIABdSDAIyG

G

z	 {ULCSFATGCFGE]]SDSCKGa\ADSAIGZSILGPL[AGZSILQGL[BEJ_[GL[AGwatsaGNF]EB̂ CLSEFG]EBG

gKCFFSF_GCFTGHEFIJKLCLSEFGPNgCHQGIVILÂ G]EBGL[AG\BEhADLGISLAOG

G

z	 YFGXFdSBEF̂ AFLCKGcAdSARGL[BEJ_[GL[AGNERCGxA\CBL̂ AFLGE]GlCLJBCKGcAIEJBDAIG

PNxlcQGgAB̂ SLGCFTGXFdSBEF̂ AFLCKGcAdSARGWCFC_Â AFLG@EEKGPgXcW@QGRCIG

|}~�}��}����|�������}������������������������������������}���|��|�����}||�������

SFdEKdÂ AFLGRSL[GL[AG\BEhADLOGYLGL[AGSIIJCFDAGE]GL[SIGBA\EBLMGCGBAI\EFIAG]BÊ G

L[AGNxlcG[CTGFELGUAAFGBADASdATOGG

G

151

Item 3.



����������	
���������������������

����������������������������������������������

����� !���"#��"$"%���	����&����������'�(�)%"%*$+$�

�

,

-

./012131456676689:1;<9=493/266766>4<340?910/266766@/34;1/256 A�

6 �
6

B6 CDEFDGDH-IJD-KLMC-NOP-QRDSFDQ-GDTRUVD-W-KXGU-MUIYZU[-\ZDUQ-K]ED]IXẐ-_KM\K̀-

IX-DEU[YUID-IJD-RXID]IFU[-DaaDSI-Xa-NOP-QRDSFDQ-aXZ-IJD-QYTbDSI-QFIDc--

-

B6 dUTFIUI-ZDEFDG-aFD[H-QDZEFSDQc-

-

B6 eZDRUZUIFX]-Xa-IJFQ-ZDRXZIc--

fgh,ijklmnkopkmlqrspiriltkupkvl

wcx6 KeUy-CDRXZI--

z]-{DRID|TDZ-xx}-~�~w}-NDZZUSX]-XTIUF]DH-U-�{��{-KeUy-Q̂QID|-QRDSFDQ-[FQI-_eZXbDSI-yXHD�-

~�~w��x~�w��̀-aXZ-IJD-QYTbDSI-QFIDc-\SSXZHF]V-IX-IJD-KeUy-ZDRXZI}-IJD-aX[[XGF]V-aDHDZU[[̂-[FQIDH-

NOP-QRDSFDQ-UZD-[FQIDH-F]-�[US�-dUG�-yXY]Î}-KXGUc-

-

-i���������ljlk���������lm������l

mnkopkml miri�ml qrspiri�l

p�mkoiml

�X]UZSJ-�YIIDZa[̂-_�������

� ¡¢£����̀-
yU]HFHUID�

zRD]-aFD[HQ-U]H-|DUHXGQ-

GFIJ-|F[�GDDHc-

CYQÎ-eUISJDH-�Y|T[D-�DD-

_¤¥¦§����̈ £̈�£�̀-
P]HU]VDZDH-

©UZFXYQ-JUTFIUI-F]S[YHF]V-

RZUFZFDQ}-GXXH[U]HQ}-

|UZQJDQ}-UVZFSY[IYZU[-

[U]HQSURDQ-U]H-ZDQFHD]IFU[-

RUZ�Q-U]H-VUZHD]Q-

ªrªªr«ml

MXZIJDZ]-¬X]V�DUZDH-�UI-®̄ ¥°£��

�¡�°¡�°±£¥�� £�²-
NJZDUID]DH-

dFTDZ]UIDQ-F]-SUEDQ-U]H-

|F]DQ-³-QGUZ|F]V-F]-

QYZZXY]HF]V-GXXHDH-UZDUQ-

F]-UYIY|]c-CXXQIQ-U]H-

aXZUVDQ-F]-YR[U]H-aXZDQI-

HYZF]V-[UID-QRZF]V-U]H-

QY||DZc-

NZFSX[XZDH-�UI-́¡±¦ ¥̄°£��

��§ �µ��²-
eZXRXQDH-P]HU]VDZDH-

¬U]HQSURDQ-IJUI-UZD-RUZI[̂-

XRD]}-GFIJ-[UZVD-IZDDQ-U]H-

R[D]IFaY[-GXXH[U]H-DHVDQc-

6

152

Item 3.



����������	
���������������������

����������������������������������������������

����� !���"#��"$"%���	����&����������'�(�)%"%*$+$�

�

,

-

./012131456676689:1;<9=493/266766>4<340?910/266766@/34;1/256 A�

6 �
6

BCDEFDBG BHIHJBG KILFHIHMG

NOPQRSTUVGCOWUXYG

Z[\]̂_̀-a_[b_b̂-c_b̀d̂e-f_ghbe-

ijklmlnmopqlrkpstuvolplw-
xh_̂[]̂`̂e--

y ]̂-]z-{ \̂bg-|_[b_b̂\-[̀e-

}̂ ]~[̀e-gz{{�̀ b]b̂\-

b̀g~�eb̀d-\̂ed̂-{ [̂ez}�-

�̂ �̀-[̀e-{[_gh-̂ed̂-
��l��mlmr�p�tq�vm�unrtu�p�r�qu�rmopr�u�lr�usnm�r���mq��sm�unru�r�p�pqlkk�r�oqplmpnp��r

�n�ln�pqp��rjquvu�p�rln�r�ln���lmpr�vpt�p�r��p���p�r�tmu�pqr�����rln�rmopr�����r

�p���mpr������u� �vpt�p��r

-

xĥ-¡a[¢-ebe-̀z]-bê ]̀b�£-¤¥cy¥-{[||̂e-g_b]bg[~-h[¦b][]-z̀-]ĥ -\�¦§̂g]-\b]̂ -̈©-gz|£-z�-]ĥ-

¡a[¢-\|̂gb̂\-~b\]-h[\-¦̂ ^̀-b̀g~�êe-b̀-©||̂ èbª-«̈--

-

¬̈6 ¡®̄ °-Z̀ ±b_z̀{^̀][~-°̂ ±b̂}-

©̀ -Z̀ ±b_z̀{^̀][~-°̂ ±b̂}-]h_z�dh-]ĥ-¡®̄ °-aZ°²x-]zz~-}[\-_̂³�̂\]̂e-]h_z�dh-]ĥ-§zb̀]-

µ́µ¶·̧́ ¹·º»¼½¾·̧¾¼½́ ¿¼¿ÀÁÂ·¹¹ÃÄ¼µÅ·ºÅ¼¹º¼ÆÃÅǺ º̧»Ç¿¼·»Èº¶ÈÃÂÃ»¹¼½·¹¾¼¹¾Ã¼µÅºÉÃ̧¹Ê¼Ë¹¼¹¾Ã¼

b\\�[̀ ĝ-z�-]hb\-_̂|z_]�-[-_̂\|z̀ \̂-�_z{-]ĥ-¡®̄ °-h[e-̀z]-¦̂ ^̀-_̂ĝb±̂ ë--

-

x̂__[gz̀-[~\z-_̂±b̂}̂ e-]ĥ-¡®̄ °-¡̄©¡-b̀]̂_[g]b±̂-}̂ ¦|[d̂ Ì-�z_-]ĥ-~b\]-z�-\][]̂-[̀e-�̂ê_[~~£-

~b\]̂e-\|̂gb̂\-b̀-«~[gÍ-Î[}Í-¢z�̀ ]£̈-©ggz_eb̀d-]z-]ĥ-¡̄©¡-}̂ ¦|[d̂�-]ĥ _̂-[_̂-Ï-~b\]̂e-

\|̂gb̂\-~b\]̂e-b̀-«~[gÍ-Î[}Í-¢z�̀ ]£�-¡z}[̈---

-

ÐSPÑÒG

ÓPÔGPÕG

HÖSRWXRUR×G

BXWXRG

BXWXÑYG

BÒRØTRYG

ÓPÔGPÕG

DU×WUVRSR×G

BXWXRGBXWXÑYG

BÒRØTRYG

ÓPÔG

BÒRØTWOG

EPUØRSUG

BXWXRG

BXWXÑYG

BÒRØTRYG

ÓPÔGPÕG

HÖSRWXRUR×G

NR×RSWOG

BXWXÑYG

BÒRØTRYG

ÓPÔGPÕG

DU×WUVRSR×G

NR×RSWOG

BXWXÑYG

BÒRØTRYG

©{|hb¦b[̀\- - Ì- Ù- Ù- Ù-

«b_e\- Ì- - Ì- Ù- Ù-

cb\h- ¬- Ù- Ù- Ù- Ù-

c_̂\h}[]̂_-

²�\\̂~\-

¬- Ì- Ù- Ù- Ù-

6
ÚÛÜÝÞßàáâÞãá

áá

ommv�ä  vqu�ql����u�l�nq��u� nlmsqlklqpl��n�pnmuq� vl�p� �pv���m�ntm�vpt�p�å��usnm��l�

væç�usnm���èérr

153

Item 3.



����������	
���������������������

����������������������������������������������

����� !���"#��"$"%���	����&����������'�(�)%"%*$+$�

�

,

-

./012131456676689:1;<9=493/266766>4<340?910/266766@/34;1/256 A�

6 �
6

BCDEFGD- H- H- I- H- H-

JKLLKMD- H- N- H- O- H-

PMKCGD-QRSFTGDU- V- O- OW- O- H-

PMKCGD-

QJTCTFTGDU-

O- O- V- O- H-

PMKCGD-

QPGEXSTYTZ[\GEDU-

N- H- ]- H- H-

ÊZGSMED- N- O- N- H- H-

_CKSMD- H- H- H- H- H-

àbcdefg hig jg ijg ig kg

-

lmnopnqrstnqtuotqpsvnqpwnxynpqoznqxmoppy{yn|q}r|nzq~stuqptotnqor|q{n|nzomqptot}p�qszqsrm�qmyptn|q

�\-TCE-K�ECF\�--�YYSGSTCKMM\�-DZEFSED-FMKDDS�SFKGSTCD-LK\-YS��EX-�EG�EEC-�EYEXKM-KCY-DGKGE�--�-

FTZ\-T�-G[E-B��B-MSDG-SD-ZXEDECGEY-SC-�ZZECYS�-��---

��k,����̀ �̀ g������g�����g��������g

�C-_EZGEL�EX-O]�-NHN]�-�EXXKFTC-FTLZMEGEY-K-DSGE-�SDSG-�TX-G[E-���-_ZEFSED-�K�SGKG-̂E�SE��-

�[E-[K�SGKG-TC-G[E-D �¡EFG-DSGE-�KD-T�DEX�EY-GT-FTCDSDG-MKX�EM\-T�-DFX �¢D[X �-MKCY-�SG[-

LKG XE-GXEED-�TMMT�SC�-�[KG-KZZEKXEY-GT-�E-KC-EZ[ELEXKM-YXKSCK�E-�EKG XE-G[KG-XKC-�XTL-G[E-

CTXG[�EDG-ZTXGSTC-T�-G[E-D �¡EFG-DSGE-GT-G[E-DT G[EKDG-ZTXGSTC�-�KDEY-TC-K-XE�SE�-T�-[SDGTXSFKM-

KEXSKM-Z[TGT�XKZ[D-�SE�EY-TC-G[E-BT�K-_GKGE-£CS�EXDSG\-QB_£U-¤MT�KM-BC�TXLKGSTC-_\DGEL-

Q¤B_U-�E�ZK�E�-G[E-D �¡EFG-DSGE-FTCDSDGEY-LTDGM\-T�-K�XSF MG XKM-MKCY- GSMS¥EY-�TX-XT�¢FXTZ-

ZXTY FGSTC- CGSM-FSXFK-OVVH-�[EC-SG-KZZEKXD-G[E-MKCY-�KD-KMMT�EY-GT-�T-�KMMT��-�[E-DSGE-[KD-

YE�EMTZEY-SCGT-T�EX�XT�C-DFX �¢D[X �-MKCY-SC-G[KG-GSLE�--

-

�[E-DFX �-D[X �-MKCY-FTCDSDGEY-MKX�EM\-T�-D[X �-DZEFSED-D F[-KD-XT �[-MEK�-YT��TTY�-�SMMT�-

DZEFSED�-KCY-[TCE\-D F¦ME-�[SME-G[E-�XT CY-FT�EX-FTCDSDGEY-T�-DZEFSED-D F[-KD-DLTTG[-�XTLE�-

§KCKYK-�TMYECXTY�-YT��KCE�-KCY-̈ EEC-�rrn�pqmoxn©qªunq«ss|n|qoznoqtuotq{zyr¬n|qtunq

YXKSCK�E-�EKG XE-FTCDSDGEY-T�-DZEFSED-D F[-KD-�SMMT��-�MKF¦-�KMC G�-EKDGEXC-FTGGTC�TTY�-KCY-

�T�EMYEX�-�EXXKFTC-T�DEX�EY-DE�EXKM-GXEED-G[KG-LK\-�E-D SGK�ME-[K�SGKG-�TX-G[E-���-�KG-DZEFSED-

QGXEED-�SG[-K-GX C¦-YSKLEGEX-KG-�XEKDG-[ES�[G-T�-KG-MEKDG-G[XEE-SCF[ED-�SG[-MTDE-TX-ZEEMSC�-�KX¦�-

FXE�SFED�-¦CTGD�-EGF�U-[T�E�EX�-G[E-LK¡TXSG\-T�-G[E-GXEED-YSY-CTG-KZZEKX-GT-�E-D SGK�ME-[K�SGKG�-

�EXXKFTC-EDGSLKGED-G[KG-MEDD-G[KC-O®-T�-GXEED-TCDSGE-�T MY-�E-D SGK�ME-[K�SGKG-�TX-G[E-���-

�KG-DZEFSED�-�[EXE�TXE�-KDD LSC�-G[E-FMSECG-�SMM-ZEX�TXL-GXEE-XELT�KM-T GDSYE-G[E-MSDGEY-~otp�q

D LLEX-XTTDGSC�-DEKDTC�-�[SF[-X CD-�XTL-�ZXSM-O-GT-_EZGEL�EX-]O�-G[E-ZXT¡EFG-�SMM-CTG-MS¦EM\-

KY�EXDEM\-SLZKFG-G[E-CTXG[EXC-MTC�¢EKXEY-KCY-GXSFTMTXEY-�KGD�-

-

�G-G[E-GSLE-T�-G[E-DSGE-�SDSG�-�EXXKFTC-T�DEX�EY-DE�EXKM-DLKMM-TZEC-KXEKD-G[KG-LK\-�E-D SGK�ME-

[K�SGKG-�TX-G[E-LTCKXF[-� GGEX�M\-[T�E�EX�-�E�-LSM¦�EEY-ZMKCGD-�EXE-T�DEX�EY�-�KDEY-TC-

154

Item 3.



����������	
���������������������

����������������������������������������������

����� !���"#��"$"%���	����&����������'�(�)%"%*$+$�

�

,

-

./012131456676689:1;<9=493/266766>4<340?910/266766@/34;1/256 A�

6 �
6

BCD-EFDGHGEIJ-KLGMN-KCGMN-JOBMGD-EP-BCD-KQBD-OJR-PDI-SQTUIDDR-VTOJBK-NDQJH-ENKDGFDRW-QB-REDK-

JEB-OVVDOG-BCD-VGEXDLB-IQTT-ORFDGKDTY-OPPDLB-BCD-SEJOGLC-NMBBDGPTYZ-[EKKQNTD-KMQBONTD-CONQBOB-

PEG-BCD-\MKBY-[OBLCDR-]MSNTD-]DD-IOK-OTKE-ENKDGFDR̂-CEIDFDGW-BCD-\MKBY-[OBLCDR-]MSNTD-

_̀ àbcbdefghìcjghefgfcebchklgmckgnoenocgnmcpldimc̀qebfcencrlbfc̀nseklnr ǹfbctldnmcencuDROG-

vOTTKW-wEIO-QJLTMRQJH-BCD-KMNXDLB-KQBD-OJR-KMGGEMJRQJH-TOJRZ-xCDGDPEGDW-QB-REDK-JEB-OVVDOG-BCOB-

RDFDTEVSDJB-EP-BCD-KQBD-IEMTR-TQUDTY-ORFDGKDTY-OPPDLB-BCD-\MKBY-[OBLCDR-]MSNTD-]DDZ-yMQBONTD-

CONQBOB-PEG-BCD-DOKBDGJ-VGOQGQD-PGQJHDR-EGLCQR-zIDB-BE-SDKQL-VGOQGQDK-OJR-IDBTOJR-LESSMJQBQDK-

QJLTMRQJH-KDRHD-SDOREIW-PDJW-OJR-SOGLC-DRHD{-IOK-JEB-ENKDGFDR-EJ-BCD-KMNXDLB-KQBD̂-

BCDGDPEGDW-BCQK-KVDLQDK-IEMTR-JEB-TQUDTY-ND-OPPDLBDR-NY-BCD-VGEVEKDR-VGEXDLBZ-yDFDJBY|BIE-

KVDLQDK-IDGD-TQKBDR-EJ-BCD-w}~w-ROBONOKD-PEG-]TOLU-�OIU-uEMJBYZ-]OKDR-EJ-BCD-TOGHD-JMSNDG-

EP-KVDLQDK-TQKBDRW-VEKKQNTD-CONQBOB-PEG-KESD-EP-BCDKD-KVDLQDK-SOY-ND-VGDKDJB-EJ-BCD-KMNXDLB-

KQBD̂-CEIDFDGW-RMGQJH-xDGGOLEJ-KQBD-FQKQBW-BCDKD-TQKBDR-KVDLQDK-EG-QJRQLOBQEJK-EP-BCD-KVDLQDK-IDGD-

JEB-ENKDGFDRZ-

-

yDTDLB-VCEBEK-EP-BCD-KMNXDLB-KQBD-OGD-QJLTMRDR-QJ-~VVDJRQ�-uZ-xCD-OVVGE�QSOBD-VCEBE-TELOBQEJK-

LOJ-ND-KDDJ-EJ-��CQNQB-�-QJ-~VVDJRQ�-~Z-

���,������������������������������

xCD-�yv�y-w[Ou-KVDLQDK-TQKB-QRDJBQPQDR-BCD-JEGBCDGJ-TEJH|DOGDR-NOB-zDJROJHDGDR{W-BGQLETEGDR-

NOB-zVGEVEKDR-DJROJHDGDR{W-GMKBY-VOBLCDR-NMSNTD-NDD-zDJROJHDGDR{W-SEJOGLC-NMBBDGPTY-

zLOJRQROBD{W-OJR-DOKBDGJ-VGOQGQD-PGQJHDR-EGLCQR-zBCGDOBDJDR{-OK-x��-KVDLQDK-BCOB-SOY-ELLMG-

EJ-BCD-KMNXDLB-KQBDZ-xCD-w[Ou-KVDLQDK-TQKB-RQR-JEB-QRDJBQPY-LGQBQLOT-CONQBOB-EJ-EG-JDOG-BCD-KMNXDLB-

KQBDZ--

-

�J-yDVBDSNDG-��W-����W-xDGGOLEJ-VDGPEGSDR-O-KQBD-FQKQB-OJR-QRDJBQPQDR-BGDDK-EJ-BCD-KMNXDLB-

KQBD-BCOB-SOY-ND-LEJKQRDGDR-KMQBONTD-CONQBOB-PEG-BCD-x��-NOB-KVDLQDKZ-xDGGOLEJ-DKBQSOBDK-BCOB-

TDKK-BCOJ-��-EP-BCD-BGDDK-EJKQBD-IEMTR-ND-KMQBONTD-CONQBOB-EP-BCD-TQKBDR-NOB-KVDLQDKZ-xDGGOLEJ-

RQR-ENKDGFD-VEKKQNTD-KMQBONTD-CONQBOB-PEG-BCD-GMKBY-VOBLCDR-NMSNTD-NDDZ-�EIDFDGW-NOKDR-EJ-

lhb̀ksgfelnbcrgm̀cmdkenoc�̀kkgplnabcbef̀csebef-QJLTMRQJH-BCD-KSOTT-VDGLDJBOHD-EP-BGDDK-BCOB-

IEMTR-ND-KMQBONTD-CONQBOB-PEG-BCD-x��-NOB-KVDLQDKW-BCD-POTTEI-EFDGHGEIJ-KLGMN|KCGMN-JOBMGD-

EP-BCD-KQBDW-OJR-JEB-ENKDGFQJH-SOJY-SQTUIDDR-VTOJBKW-QB-REDK-JEB-OVVDOG-BCD-VGEVEKDR-VGEXDLB-

IQTT-ORFDGKDTY-OPPDLB-BCD-TQKBDR-x��-KVDLQDKZ--

-

xDGGOLEJ-GDLESSDJRK-BCOB-OJY-VTOJJDR-BGDD-GDSEFOT-ND-REJD-EMBKQRD-BCD-x��-NOB-KVDLQDK-

KMSSDG-GEEKBQJH-KDOKEJ-ICQLC-GMJK-PGES-~VGQT-�-BCGEMHC-yDVBDSNDG-��Z-

155

Item 3.



����������	
���������������������

����������������������������������������������

����� !���"#��"$"%���	����&����������'�(�)%"%*$+$�

�

,

-

./012131456676689:1;<9=493/266766>4<340?910/266766@/34;1/256 A�

6 �
6

BCD,EFGFHIJKLMNNFGOPKK

QRS-TUVWUVXY-ZT-[RUY-Q\]-̂_S̀USY-abcU[b[-dSeUSf-bgS-cbYSW-ZV-[RS-_gZhS̀[-iZ̀b[UZVj-_gZhS̀[-

[k_Sj-bVW-_gZ_Sg[k-cZlVWbgUSY-_gZeUWSW-ck-[RS-̀iUSV[m-QRS-TUVWUVXY-bVW-Z_UVUZVY-_gSYSV[SW-

bgS-gSib[UeS-[Z-[RS-Wb[SY-ZT-Zlg-YU[S-fZgn-bVW-YRZliW-VZ[-cS-gSiUSW-ZV-[Z-gS_gSYSV[-̀ZVWU[UZVY-

b[-b-ib[Sg-Wb[Sm--QRS-Z_UVUZVY-UV̀ilWSW-RSgSUV-bgS-cbYSW-ZV-UVTZgob[UZV-Zc[bUVSW-WlgUVX-[RUY-

Q\]-̂_S̀USY-abcU[b[-dSeUSf-bVW-Zlg-Sp_SgUSV̀Sm---qlS-[Z-[RS-_gSiUoUVbgk-b[[gUcl[SY-ZT-[RUY-

_gZhS̀[j-bWWU[UZVbi-gSXlib[Zgk-̀ZVYli[b[UZV-bVW-UVeSY[UXb[UZVY-obk-cS-fbggbV[SW-cSTZgS-[RS-

_gZhS̀[-̀bV-̀ZooSV̀Sm---

-

QRUY-gS_Zg[-RbY-cSSV-_gS_bgSW-UV-b̀ Z̀gWbV̀S-fU[R-XSVSgbiik-b̀ S̀_[SW-ỲUSV[UTÙ-bVW-

SVXUVSSgUVX-Sebilb[UZV-_gb̀[ÙSYm--QRUY-gS_Zg[-UY-TZg-[RS-Sp̀ilYUeS-lYS-ZT-[RS-̀iUSV[-TZg-[RS-

_gZhS̀[-cSUVX-WUỲlYYSWm--rZ-fbggbV[USYj-SU[RSg-Sp_gSYY-Zg-Uo_iUSWj-bgS-UV[SVWSW-Zg-obWSm-

156

Item 3.



�

�

�

�

�

�����������

�	
������

�

157

Item 3.



�

����������	
���



�����
�����
�
���
�����

����
���
������

	���
�����
��


� ! "#$!%&'�($!�&($")�' *#�)+,� -��%)�*.+.�") / "&'$/�+*#0),�
1*$2#$3"/)+�&3'/*2)4�3)5�%$#�- #26�&$�789898:;8<�=>?�')2$#�-$//+6�&$�789898:@A<.�

BCDEFGHIJKHLFMHNOFPKQFEF

GQRHSFTHLLUOFVWFEDXCBYZDBDF

�[\[]̂ _̂ 

àbcdefghijikdalm

naiojgpqlm
rsdetdugpqlm
vwwabxdugpqlm

�		


y		�

y		


z{|}~����

���������

:9�;9���

àbcdefg�b�m

�ei�dlm
���dg�i�dlm
nifdlm z


�������

�		


158

Item 3.



�

���������	�
��


�����	�����������	����
����������������
���������������

�� !"#$%&'$(")$*+",'-"!"

#-.$/"0$((1+"23"! 4��56 � "

789:;9<�8=�>?;�:@A@;9B�B?C9D8?A�?ABEF�9A7�8=�
A?D�8AD@A7@7�>?;�C?A=D;GCD8?A�HG;H?=@=I

�JKJLMNM�

9@;89B�HO?D?:;9HOE�H;?P87@7�
QE�<8C;?=?>D�Q8A:�<9H=I

����

����

����

����RS�T�
�UV�W����

XYZ[YZ\�

]̂_̀abI

cI

�UV�W���defgâhij_k_laebI

me_nkiopbI
qrâsatiopbI
uvvefwatiopbI

defgâhixfyI

z{̀aix_|abI
m_habI

����

}

~

� �

�

�

�

�

�

~�

��������������������������

159

Item 3.



�

�

�

�

�

���������	�


��������������������������

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

160

Item 3.



������������	�
�
�

���������������������������������������

��������������������� �!�
�""�����#��$���%�"�&�%�"����'�%������"��(���%�
�""������)���$���%�"�&�%�"����'�%������"��(���%�

�*���+,����'�
-�"���	����.�
.*#,�



/����0�1��23�,*,#*4�����50�1��23�,*,#*4�,

������"6�������7�0�
/��8�%��!���0�
�
�#��
,��.�
/��8�%������0�-����$����&��#���9�����&�
�
�:�8�%�0����������������������������&��������%�����������6��%%:�����6�:��������������8�%��

"�%�����������6��������%�����6�6�:��������������8�%�

7����������-�6�!��%���0

;<=>?@@?A<=B>CD=AE=C>FEC@>EB=G@EHE=C>H=B=I?FFJ>@<I=?@=G=BK>=GB?GL=I=BK>DIMDMC=B>?GB>A?GBEB?@=>CD=AE=C>@<?@>N?J>MAAOI>

PE@<EG>@<=>QMOGB?IJ>MH>JMOI>DIMDMC=B>DIMR=A@>MI>N?J>Q=>?HH=A@=B>QJ>JMOI>DIMDMC=B>DIMR=A@S>;<=>FEC@>?FCM>EGAFOB=C>

B=CELG?@=B>AIE@EA?F><?QE@?@K>EH>DI=C=G@K>PE@<EG>JMOI>DIMDMC=B>DIMR=A@>?I=?>MI>?HH=A@=B>QJ>JMOI>DIMR=A@S>;<EC>FEC@>EC>

DIMTEB=B>@M>JMO>?C>@<=>EGE@E?F>C@=D>MH>@<=>AMGCOF@?@EMG>DIMA=CC>I=UOEI=B>OGB=I>C=A@EMG>VWAX>MH>@<=>YGB?GL=I=B>ZD=AE=C>

[A@K>?FCM>I=H=II=B>@M>?C>Z=A@EMG>V>\MGCOF@?@EMGS�

�

]GB=I>̂_>\̀ a>b_cSdcW=X>W@<=>I=LOF?@EMGC>@<?@>ENDF=N=G@>Z=A@EMG>V>MH>@<=>YGB?GL=I=B>ZD=AE=C>[A@X>efghijjklijmhnoh

efpqhqrgjpgqhspqehqfnksthughvglpopgthioeglhwxhtimqS>;<EC>T=IEHEA?@EMG>A?G>Q=>AMNDF=@=B>HMIN?FFJ>MI>EGHMIN?FFJS>yMO>

N?J>T=IEHJ>@<=>FEC@>QJ>TECE@EGL>@<=>Y\zZ{|YaY>}GHMIN?@EMG>HMI>{F?GGEGL>?GB>\MGCOF@?@EMG>W}{?\X>P=QCE@=><@@DC~��>

ED?AS=AMCD<=I=SHPCSLMT>?@>I=LOF?I>EG@=IT?FC>BOIEGL>DIMR=A@>DF?GGEGL>?GB>ENDF=N=G@?@EMG>?GB>AMNDF=@EGL>@<=>C?N=>

DIMA=CC>JMO>OC=B>@M>I=A=ET=>@<=>?@@?A<=B>FEC@S>�

�

�gjepn�h�h�n�qkseiepn��

�

Z=A@EMG>V>MH>@<=>YGB?GL=I=B>ZD=AE=C>[A@>MH>d�V�>I=UOEI=C>@<?@>?A@EMGC>?O@<MIE�=BK>HOGB=BK>MI>A?IIE=B>MO@>QJ>̀=B=I?F>

?L=GAE=C>GM@>R=MD?IBE�=>H=B=I?FFJ>@<I=?@=G=B>MI>=GB?GL=I=B>CD=AE=C>MI>?BT=IC=FJ>NMBEHJ>B=CELG?@=B>AIE@EA?F><?QE@?@S>

;M>HOFHEFF>@<EC>N?GB?@=K>̀=B=I?F>?L=GAE=C>WMI>@<=EI>B=CELG?@=B>GMG�H=B=I?F>I=DI=C=G@?@ET=X>NOC@>AMGCOF@>PE@<>@<=>]SZS>

�������������������������������������������������������������������� ����������¡�����������������������¢���������������

<?QE@?@S>]GB=I>@<=>YZ[K>E@>EC>@<=>I=CDMGCEQEFE@J>MH>@<=>̀=B=I?F>?A@EMG>?L=GAJ>MI>E@C>B=CELG?@=B>I=DI=C=G@?@ET=>@M>

B=@=INEG=>EH>?>DIMDMC=B>?A@EMG>N?J>?HH=A@>=GB?GL=I=BK>@<I=?@=G=BK>MI>DIMDMC=B>CD=AE=CK>MI>B=CELG?@=B>AIE@EA?F>

<?QE@?@K>?GB>EH>CMK>@M>AMGCOF@>PE@<>@<=>Z=ITEA=>HOI@<=IS>ZENEF?IFJK>E@>EC>@<=>I=CDMGCEQEFE@J>MH>@<=>̀=B=I?F>?A@EMG>?L=GAJ>MI>

DIMR=A@>DIMDMG=G@K>GM@>@<=>Z=ITEA=>@M>N?£=>¤GM>=HH=A@¤>B=@=INEG?@EMGCS>}H>JMO>B=@=INEG=>@<?@>JMOI>DIMDMC=B>?A@EMG>PEFF>

<?T=>GM>=HH=A@>MG>@<I=?@=G=B>MI>=GB?GL=I=B>CD=AE=C>MI>@<=EI>I=CD=A@ET=>B=CELG?@=B>AIE@EA?F><?QE@?@K>JMO>BM>GM@>G==B>@M>

C==£>AMGAOII=GA=>PE@<>@<=>Z=ITEA=S>�

�

¥neg¦�����������������������������§�̈©�ª�«��������������¬�«����®̄®°±²³́ ²̄µ³¶·®̧¹º�»�¬�����¼���¼������¬����������

161

Item 3.



���������� ���

� �

��

	
�������	�����
������
�
�������
��������
�
��
������
���

�

���� !�"#$%&&!&'" ��$()*$+!&'�,$-.��!�&

/
������������������	����0�1�����2��3�2����1
�������4���������4
�5�
5
����5�����
�����6��3���
��

5�
7�������
��1�5�����	��2��11�����2�5�
7�������8�����4�
����
2������1
�	���
�
��3��5�������1�

3���
��4�5�����������4����������0�4���
�3���
��	����2���������0�3��5�����1�
	�3��3�	2�����
�

����8��6���8������0�3��5�����5�
1���5�0��

162

Item 3.



���������� ���

� �

��

	�


�

��

��

	�


�

����������������������������������������

� �!"#$#�%$#�&'�()#*+#(�,$�-#(+./%!#-�*$+!+*%0�"%1+!%!(�,/�!"#�2/-%/.#$#-�3)#*+#(�),$!+,/�, �!"#�()#*+#(�0+(!4�

567589:;<=76<>?;5@;><A7:<76<5B@C@5A8<DAE@CAC<?B;>;7C=<A7:<:659F;7C<G69B<H@7:@7I<@7<G69B<?B6J;5C<B;56B:>K<L6<

567>98CAC@67<97:;B<MNO<>;5C@67<PQARQ�R<@><B;S9@B;:<@H<CD;<A5C@67<T698:<B;>98C<@7<76<;HH;5C><C6<8@>C;:<>?;5@;><6B<

5B@C@5A8<DAE@CACK<UA@7CA@7<A<56?G<6H<CD@><8;CC;B<A7:<VWAX<6HH@5@A8<>?;5@;><8@>C<H6B<G69B<B;56B:>K

VH<A7G<>?;5@;><6B<:;>@I7AC;:<5B@C@5A8<DAE@CAC<AB;<8@>C;:<A><?6C;7C@A88G<?B;>;7C<@7<CD;<YZ[\]̂_ỲaY<6H<CD;<?B6?6>;:<

)$,b#*!�!"#�)$,b#*!�)$,),/#/!(�%$#�$#(),/(+10#� ,$�-#!#$c+/+/.�+ �!"#�)$,),(#-�%*!+,/�d+00�"%e#�f/,�#  #*!g�,/�

A7G<H;:;BA88G<8@>C;:<>?;5@;><6B<5B@C@5A8<DAE@CACK<L6<;HH;5Ch<T@CD<B;>?;5C<C6<>?;5@;>h<F;A7><CDAC<76<@7:@i@:9A8><6H<A<

>?;5@;><T@88<E;<;j?6>;:<C6<A7G<567>;S9;75;<6H<A<H;:;BA8<A5C@67<6B<CDAC<CD;G<T@88<76C<B;>?67:<C6<>95D<;j?6>9B;K

VH<CD;<>?;5@;><DAE@CAC<@><76C<?B;>;7C<T@CD@7<CD;<A5C@67<AB;A<6B<59BB;7C<:ACA<Q>9Bi;G>R<H6B<CD;<>?;5@;><@7<CD;<

%*!+,/�%$#%�%$#�/#.%!+e#4�*,/*0k-#�f/,�()#*+#(�"%1+!%!�,$�()#*+#(�)$#(#/!g�%/-�-,*kc#/!�l,k$� +/-+/.�+/�l,k$�

)$,b#*!�$#*,$-(m�n,$�#o%c)0#p�+ �!"#�)$,b#*!�%$#%�+(�0,*%!#-�#/!+$#0l�d+!"+/�%�f-#e#0,)#-�%$#%g�q%/�%$#%�!"%!�+(�

A8B;A:G<IBAi;8;:�?Ai;:<6B<>9??6BC><>CB95C9B;><A7:<CD;<678G<i;I;CAC@67<@><8@F@C;:<C6<HB;S9;7C8G<F6T;:<IBA>><6B<

567i;7C@67A8<8A7:>5A?@7Ih<@><865AC;:<T@CD@7<A7<;j@>C@7I<FA@7CA@7;:<HA5@8@CG<GAB:h<6B<@><@7<598C@iAC;:<5B6?8A7:<

567589:;<76<>?;5@;><DAE@CAC<?B;>;7CK<r;<5AB;H98<TD;7<A>>;>>@7I<A5C@67><CDAC<AHH;5Cs<�R<B@IDC>t6HtTAG><CDAC<

567CA@7><7AC9BA8<6B<>;F@t7AC9BA8<i;I;CAC@67<:;>?@C;<?;B@6:@5<F6T@7I<6B<6CD;B<FA7AI;F;7Cu<>CB95C9B;><CDAC<

DAi;<E;;7<v76T7<C6<>9??6BC<8@>C;:<>?;5@;><Q;jAF?8;s<EB@:I;>Rh<A7:<�R<>9BHA5;<TAC;B<6B<IB697:TAC;BK<N;i;BA8<

>?;5@;><@7DAE@C<B@IDC>t6HtTAG>h<A7:<G69<>D698:<5AB;H988G<567>@:;B<;HH;5C><C6<>9BHA5;<TAC;B<6B<IB697:TAC;Bh<

d"+*"�, !#/�#o!#/-�,k!(+-#�, �%�)$,b#*!w(�+cc#-+%!#� ,,!)$+/!m

O:;S9A5G<6H<V7H6BFAC@67<x<N9Bi;G><t<OI;75@;><FAG<EA>;<CD;@B<:;C;BF@7AC@67><67<CD;<E;>C<;i@:;75;<CDAC<@><

AiA@8AE8;<6B<5A7<E;<:;i;86?;:<:9B@7I<567>98CAC@67K<OI;75@;><F9>C<I@i;<CD;<E;7;H@C<6H<A7G<:69EC<C6<CD;<>?;5@;><

TD;7<CD;B;<AB;<A7G<@7A:;S9A5@;><@7<CD;<@7H6BFAC@67K<V7A:;S9A5@;><FAG<@7589:;<975;BCA@7CG<@7<A7G<>C;?<6H<CD;<

A7A8G>@>K<y6<?B6i@:;<A:;S9AC;<@7H6BFAC@67<67<TD@5D<C6<EA>;<A<:;C;BF@7AC@67h<@C<FAG<E;<A??B6?B@AC;<C6<567:95C<

>9Bi;G><C6<:;C;BF@7;<TD;CD;B<8@>C;:<>?;5@;><6B<CD;@B<DAE@CAC><AB;<?B;>;7C<@7<CD;<A5C@67<AB;AK<W8;A>;<567CA5C<69B<

6HH@5;<H6B<F6B;<@7H6BFAC@67<6B<>;;<CD;<>9Bi;G<I9@:;8@7;><CDAC<CD;<N;Bi@5;<DA><FA:;<AiA@8AE8;<@7<VWAXK

z
{�|���������������������������������������

VH<CD;<>?;5@;><DAE@CAC<@><?B;>;7C<T@CD@7<CD;<A5C@67<AB;A<A7:<>9Bi;G<:ACA<@><97AiA@8AE8;<6B<@7567589>@i;s<A>>9F;<

CD;<>?;5@;><@><?B;>;7C<6B<?8A7<A7:<@F?8;F;7C<>9Bi;G><A7:<@7C;B?B;C<B;>98C><@7<566B:@7AC@67<T@CD<69B<6HH@5;K<VH<

A>>9F@7I<>?;5@;><?B;>;7C<6B<>9Bi;G><H6B<CD;<>?;5@;><AB;<?6>@C@i;<567C@79;<T@CD<CD;<FAG<AHH;5C<:;C;BF@7AC@67<

?B65;>>K<UAG<AHH;5Ch<T@CD<B;>?;5C<C6<A<>?;5@;>h<@><CD;<A??B6?B@AC;<567589>@67<TD;7<A<>?;5@;><F@IDC<E;<

#o),(#-�!,�%�*,/(#}k#/*#�, �%� #-#$%0�%*!+,/�%/-�*,k0-�$#(),/-�!,�!"%!�#o),(k$#m�n,$�*$+!+*%0�"%1+!%!p�~c%l�

%  #*!w�+(�!"#�%))$,)$+%!#�*,/*0k(+,/�+ �!"#�%*!+,/�%$#%�,e#$0%)(�d+!"�c%))#-�%$#%(�, �*$+!+*%0�"%1+!%!�%/-�%/�

;>>;7C@A8<?DG>@5A8<6B<E@686I@5A8<H;AC9B;<FAG<E;<;j?6>;:<C6<A<567>;S9;75;<6H<A<H;:;BA8<A5C@67<A7:<5698:<

5DA7I;<@7<B;>?67>;<C6<CDAC<;j?6>9B;K

V:;7C@HG<>CB;>>6B>_6B<;HH;5C><C6<CD;<>?;5@;><A7:<C6<CD;<;>>;7C@A8<?DG>@5A8<A7:<E@686I@5A8<H;AC9B;><6H<5B@C@5A8<

DAE@CAC<CDAC<6i;B8A?><T@CD<CD;<A5C@67<AB;AK<X67>@:;B<A88<567>;S9;75;><6H<CD;<A5C@67<A7:<A>>;>><CD;<?6C;7C@A8<

H6B<;A5D<8@H;<>CAI;<6H<CD;<>?;5@;><CDAC<6559B><@7<CD;<A5C@67<AB;A<C6<E;<;j?6>;:<C6<CD;<>CB;>>6B>K<�;567>CB95C<CD;<

A5C@67<@7C6<@C><56F?67;7C<?ABC><C6<E;<>9B;<CDAC<G69<:6<76C<F@>><A7G<?ABC<6H<CD;<A5C@67<CDAC<5698:<5A9>;<;HH;5C><

C6<CD;<>?;5@;><6B<?DG>@5A8<A7:<E@686I@5A8<H;AC9B;><6H<5B@C@5A8<DAE@CACK�3!$#((,$(�!"%!�%  #*!�()#*+#(w�$#(,k$*#(�

FAG<DAi;<567>;S9;75;><;i;7<@H<CD;<>?;5@;><@><76C<?B;>;7C<TD;7<CD;<?B6J;5C<@><@F?8;F;7C;:K

� �/,�0+(!#-�,$�)$,),(#-�()#*+#(�d+00�1#�#o),(#-�!,�(!$#((,$(�*%k(#-�1l�!"#�%*!+,/p�%�~/,�#  #*!w�-#!#$c+/%!+,/�

c%l�1#�%))$,)$+%!#���1#�(k$#�!,�(#)%$%!#0l�%((#((�#  #*!(�!,�*$+!+*%0�"%1+!%!p�+ �%/l�,e#$0%)(�d+!"�!"#�%*!+,/�

163

Item 3.



���������� ���

� �

�	


	

�	

�

�

��������������������������������������������������������� �������������������!���������������������

���������������������������"��!���#�������$�������������������!���������������%����������%�""������������!��

"�������&�������""�#����������%�������������������������"��!�������'����"�(�"�����!��� ����"���������'����

'"�(�"�����!��� ����"����������'

)�����������%������!��������������������%�""�������������������������������*�����$��"�#����+������

�!����,�"���#�,������#� �"!�"���#����������!�����-#������������%�����������������$�������������������������

����������������!�����������������������./�����"��!�����"����������������%��������������������%�""�������

012�31456789�8:;�<6=9=>6789�?280@A25�=?�012�7A606789�18<6080�6:�012�8706=:�8A28B����������%�""�!����"��!�������"�

����������������������������������������$����������!������+�������������������!"�#�����"����'��������#�����

"�(�"������ ����"�������'������!���������������+�������������+������"���������������������,�����

������������

�����������������"���������������������������������%�""�!��%��""��!�������"#�����+�������#������������!"�#�

����(��C/������������D���������&�������E�+���������������� ��������������������������%�������������

8A2�8:4�F285@A25�0180�F84�<2�6F392F2:02;�0=�8G=6;�=A�F6:6F6H2�012�:2>806G2�2??2705B�I?�4=@�F=;6?4�4=@A�

���������������������"���������� ������������#���������%����"�����������������������%�""�"�(�"�����+��

�������������������������������������������"���������������������������������%�""�!��%��""��!�������"#�

����+�������#������������!"�#��������������������������������

J�������%������,���������������"������������������������!������������K��������"�����"��������/����"������

L��(��+�M��!�����������������N"�����������!���������������������

O����������"�������������������"����+�&�������E�/����"���������"����+��P"���������L�����������������&�������E�

C������#��������������,������������������"����+�&�������E#�����$��"��"������� ���������Q��%����R�+����&�������E�

S=:5@90806=:5�T2<5602�80U������V��%%%��%��+� �����������%���D��+���D���,����������%���D�������DED�������"D�

��������B�W

X�������������������������������������������"����+�&�������E�������������������%�������������������"��������

������""�%��+�%�!�����V

��������"�L(��Y�������"�C�������V�C�%���J�����D������V��%%%��%��+� ���������������"D�(�D!�������"D�

��������D��%��D"����

R�����������Y����C������������/������������L�%���)���+�#�&����+#�/�����������#�Z�������#�

Q��������#����)�������������+��D������V��%%%��%��+� �����������������D!���D��������D�

������������D��%��D����+�D�����+D������������D��������

[\]̂_̀_\abcdefcghbefac

ijWklmnloplqWr�sWtuttsWnvlWklqwxylWmzp{x|vl}W~Wmq�m�|~{WxjWnvlW�l}lq~{W�l�x|nlqWn�W{x|nWnvlWnqxy�{�ql}Wp~nW��lqxo��nx|W|zp�{~wz|�W

~|Wlj}~j�lql}Wzj}lqWnvlW�j}~j�lql}Wkmlyxl|W�ynW��k��	W�vlWklqwxylWv~|WzmWn�Wrt�o�jnv|W�q�oWnvlW}~nlWnvlWmq�m�|~{Wmzp{x|vl}W

n�Wo~�lW~W�xj~{W}lnlqoxj~nx�jsWlxnvlqWn�W{x|nWnvlWnqxy�{�ql}Wp~nWzj}lqWnvlW�ynW�qWn�W�xnv}q~�WnvlWmq�m�|~{	W�vlWklqwxylW}lnlqoxjl}W

nvlWp~nW�~yl|Wl�nxjynx�jWmqxo~qx{�W}zlWn�WnvlWq~j�l�x}lWxom~yn|W��W�vxnl�j�|lW|�j}q�olW���k�sW~W}l~}{�W�zj�~{W}x|l~|lW~��lynxj�W

y~wl�}�l{{xj�Wp~n|W~yq�||W��qnvW�olqxy~	W�ly~z|lWnqxy�{�ql}Wp~nWm�mz{~nx�j|Wv~wlWplljW�ql~n{�Wql}zyl}W}zlWn�W��ksW|zqwxwxj�W

p~nWm�mz{~nx�j|W~qlWj��Wo�qlWwz{jlq~p{lWn�W�nvlqW|nql||�q|W|zyvW~|Wvzo~jW}x|nzqp~jylW~j}Wv~pxn~nW{�||	Wkmlyxl|Wmq�m�|l}W��qW

{x|nxj�W~qlWj�nW~���q}l}Wmq�nlynx�jWzj}lqWnvlW�k��Wv��lwlqsW~|W|��jW~|W~W{x|nxj�Wply�ol|Wl��lynxwlW�n�mxy~{{�W�uW}~�|W~�nlqW

h��̀]̂ef]_�c_�cf�ac�]�èc\�̀ac]�cf�ac�aba\èc�a�]�fa\��cf�ach\_�]�]f]_��ce�e]��fc�a_he\b] ]��c]f�ĉ_�f]��abca¡]�fa�̂ace�bc¢fe£a¤c¥]̀̀c

~mm{�	W�vlql��qlsWx�W��zqW�znzqlW�qWl�x|nxj�Wmq�¦lynWv~|WnvlWm�nljnx~{Wn�W~}wlq|l{�W~��lynWnqxy�{�ql}Wp~n|W~�nlqWnvlWm�nljnx~{Wjl�W

{x|nxj�W��l|Wxjn�Wl��lynsW�lWqly�oolj}Wnv~nWnvlWl��lyn|W��WnvlWmq�¦lynW�jWnqxy�{�ql}Wp~nW~j}WnvlxqWv~pxn~nWplW~j~{�§l}Wn�W}lnlqoxjlW

�vlnvlqW~znv�qx§~nx�jWzj}lqW�k�W|lynx�jẄW�qWruWx|Wjlyl||~q�	W�q�¦lyn|W�xnvW~jWl�x|nxj�W|lynx�jẄWpx�{��xy~{W�mxjx�jWo~�Wql©zxqlW

164

Item 3.



���������� ���

� �

�

�

�

�

	
�����������������������������	��
����������
��������
�������������
����� 
��
	!��!�"�	
#��	
�����!
��!
�����	�$��
�

%&'&()**%+(),-.%(/0*'1.('0&-20*-304)*),-.3('4'(')56-70&(.3(-0%*-022'3)-20*-.55'5(.&3)6--

�
89:;<=><?@9=A;@B?<C;@=DEF=GC9HIH9H;@�

�

JKLMNKOMNPQLMRONSKTLRU�

GV9:B?W:=EB=VBEW;<=X<B9;C9;F=?EF;<=9:;=YEFDEW;<;F=ZX;CH;@=GC9[=\;=D]D<;=9:D9=\DVF=;DWV;@=D<;=X<B9;C9;F=?EF;<=9:;=

D̂VF=DEF=_BVF;E=YDWV;=̀<B9;C9HBE=GC9=DEF=aHW<D9B<b=̂H<F=><;D9b=GC9[=D@=D<;=WBVF;E=;DWV;@c=̀<Bd;C9@=Dee;C9HEW=9:;@;=

@X;CH;@=fDb=<;g?H<;=f;D@?<;@=9B=DIBHF=:D<fHEW=;DWV;@=B<=fDb=<;g?H<;=D=X;<fH9c=he=bB?<=X<Bd;C9=H@=E;D<=DE=;DWV;=E;@9=

B<=]HE9;<=<BB@9=D<;D[=XV;D@;=CBE9DC9=B?<=BeeHC;=eB<=e?<9:;<=CBB<FHED9HBEc=iB<=fB<;=HEeB<fD9HBE=BE=X;<fH9@=DEF=B9:;<=

;DWV;=HEeB<fD9HBE=IH@H9=B?<=];\@H9;=:99X@j��]]]ce]@cWBI�VH\<D<b�CBVV;C9HBE@�\DVFkDEFkWBVF;Ek;DWV;kfDEDW;f;E9c=�

lm�noopmqrnsm�tuvp�quwqmpw�xup�sypmnsmwmz�nwz�mwznw{mpmz�|omqrm|}��~�mn|m�xmm��xpmm�su�quwsnqs�uvp�uxxrqm��rsy�

g?;@9HBE@=B<=eB<=DFFH9HBEDV=HEeB<fD9HBEc

����!
�����

�����������
��
�����

���������������������
��
���
���������������
	�
�

���	��	"���	��

�
�����

���������������������
�������������	�$��
����	��������
�����������
�������
	
����
��
��������������������
�
	
#��	
!
����	��
�
	�����
���
�����	
#�
������
��
�	
�	"�����
���
	��	�����	!�������
�
	�
��"���
��
��������������
���	��	����
���� 
����
��!�"� 
��	
�
������
��	
��������	����
��
������¡

�������
��
����������	�$��
�� "�

¢££¤¥¦¤§̈¢¦©ª«¬¦£¦®¤ª£«̄°±²¤°§«³¤°£́«µ¶¶¤°
���������·������������������
	$��
����
��������

�̧���¹����$

�����
�����º�»º̧¼��»»
�½�¾���̧�¼̧¿��

165

Item 3.



���������� ���

� �

�	
���������	�
�������������  ! "#!$ %"!&
��������'()�� *�(��+�,-�.��#�/(0��,-�.�
��������123�� ��))���-(4�5�6�4�3)�7�
��������5�8��-3�-�7�19��3�������8-���-8�(33��:-)(��42�  #(���8��;�8��<��<�(442�6(�(7��4(7�=�19��

3��3�8�����6�4�3)�7��+-44�-7�4<���(7�(3(��)�7����)34�:=
��������/��(�-�7�
19��(33��:-)(���4��(�-�7��;��9��3��������(7�>��6-�+���-7�?��.4��*(38��9��38�@@�
+++=.��.4�=��)@)(38@AB =CB!""D&BEEEEEECF#E =BD$"&D!" %C&EEF$BG

��<7�-�8�H4(�0�I(+0���<7�2F�J�+(

166

Item 3.



���������� ���

� �

�	


����
�
����
��
�������
��
�
��������������� ��!�"��������#�$%��#$�#&���$%����'�#$�$�����(�'�����#�������(�'���� ���	

)(�'�����#������ �������* $�+��'�#��$���$��#��#��!!�'����#� ,����!���,�*��(��-�'���#$�'�* $��#' *$��
�(�'����������.�����#��#������&��&��(��'�����	�/����.�0( �%�'�����#�!����0�,��((�����#������(�'����
 ����+�'�*�����(��-�'��'�* $��!!�'��$�1#�����0��(�'���	

23�4�$����#���$��( �,� ����$��(�'�������'����'� ���+������*#$��������� ��-*���$�'���#��!�5677�
/��������%����8)/9)�$����#�����:�������*������,�����(��;��#�+��� !��!�5677��#$�����
<�(���0�#���!�4�00��'�	

)�������=4����'� ���+�����=���'���#�+� �1�!���������'����'� ���+����������� ���1��  ,����(�����  ,�
1����#�,�*��(��-�'�������*#$���������!!�'�>��-*���$�'���#	�3 �����'�#��'������$���&#���$�/9)��!!�'��
�!�,�*���:��?*�����#�	

5677�/��������%�� ���;#�1#��������5����#� �@���#��/���������)��:�'��A5@/)B%�����#�
�!!�'���!�����5����#� �6'��#�'��#$�7�0��(����'�7$0�#��������#�1����#�����<�(���0�#���!�
4�00��'�	

CCCD�
57@E )�7�8)

5������#�F�#&G����$�H���IJKLMNONPQLPRLSMKRTUMN
5��'����'� ���+���������+��#�$���&#���$�!���������(�'���	

)(�'����(��!� �V����(�VWW�'��	!1�	&�:W�'(W�(�'���WXYZ"

E#$�#&���$

���'� ���$�H���[PSM\JKLMNON]̂_UT̀]N
5��'����'� ���+���������+��#�$���&#���$�!���������(�'���	

)(�'����(��!� �V����(�VWW�'��	!1�	&�:W�'(W�(�'���W�Y"�"

3��(���$�
E#$�#&���$

���
���
57@E )�7�8)

@�#��'��H*����! ,�aTRT]NOQUPbMQQ]N
5��'����'� ���+���������+��#�$���&#���$�!���������(�'���	

)(�'����(��!� �V����(�VWW�'��	!1�	&�:W�'(W�(�'���WXcZd

4�#$�$���

e*��,�3��'��$�H*0+ ��H���fK\̂]NOT__MRMN
5��'����'� ���+���������+��#�$���&#���$�!���������(�'���	

)(�'����(��!� �V����(�VWW�'��	!1�	&�:W�'(W�(�'���WXdgd

E#$�#&���$

hDij
������D���
57@E )�7�8)

E�����#�3�������/��#&�$�6�'��$�[UTLTRLkPSTOUP]lKQkTPT
5��'����'� ���+���������+��#�$���&#���$�!���������(�'���	

)(�'����(��!� �V����(�VWW�'��	!1�	&�:W�'(W�(�'���WmY�

�������#�$

�

167

Item 3.



���������� ���

� �

�	


	

�	

����������������
�������������������� ���!����"�#������$�%��&��'���������%�(������"��))���*"�
'%��"(������	

$�%�����"��  ���+%���(����(����,�����)�$�%��&��'���-".�,�$���/���))���"�����  �
�!�/�� �"��(�"&����"	

0�12��3���43���2��5��16�61076���35��
�35�1���������6�6�
�89�:;<=>=<9�?@A?ABCD�A8�E:8DB�F:8:GCD�H9�<IC��:<=A8:E�#=EDE=JC��CJKGC�B9B<CF�FKB<�K8DC@GA�:�
*�AF?:<=H=E=<9�(C<C@F=8:<=A8*�;A8DK;<CD�H9�<IC��CJKGC	�&EC:BC�;A8<:;<�<IC�=8D=>=DK:E��CJKGCB�<A�
D=B;KBB�:89�LKCB<=A8B�A@�;A8;C@8B	

���������������)%M�� ��("����)�"�����������"�#������$�%��&��'��������	

N�7��4O���5�
�C@<:=8�H=@DB�:@C�?@A<C;<CD�K8DC@�<IC�,=G@:<A@9�!=@D��@C:<9��;<�:8D�<IC�!:ED�:8D�MAEDC8��:GEC�
&@A<C;<=A8��;<	

�89�?C@BA8�A@�A@G:8=P:<=A8�QIA�?E:8B�A@�;A8DK;<B�:;<=>=<=CB�<I:<�F:9�@CBKE<�=8�=F?:;<B�<A�
F=G@:<A@9�H=@DBR�C:GECBR�:8D�<IC=@�I:H=<:<B�BIAKED�JAEEAQ�:??@A?@=:<C�@CGKE:<=A8B�:8D�;A8B=DC@�
=F?ECFC8<=8G�:??@A?@=:<C�;A8BC@>:<=A8�FC:BK@CBR�:B�DCB;@=HCD�HCEAQ	

�IC�,=G@:<A@9�!=@DB��@C:<9��;<�AJ��S�T	

�IC�!:ED�:8D�MAEDC8��:GEC�&@A<C;<=A8��;<�AJ��SUV	

WV��	)	�	�"C;	��V	�
�:8D��X�%	"	�	�"C;	�XXT-:.

YZ[\]̂_̀a\b̂ac[̀\][bde\f_[\]̂_̀a\dg\hf_ĉijbf_\idki[_k\[̂cZ[_\][ifja[\cZ[l\diij_\dk\cZ[\
mnopn\q̂_̀a\dg\rdka[_sfĉdk\rdki[_k\tqrru\b̂ac\d_\ef__fkc\ah[îfb\fcc[kĉdk\̂k\ldj_\
h_dv[ic\bdifĉdkw��A�EC:@8�FA@C�:HAK<�<IC�EC>CEB�AJ�;A8;C@8�JA@�H=@DB�A8�9AK@�E=B<�:8D�IAQ�<I=B�
E=B<�=B�GC8C@:<CDR�BCC�<IC�)�+�HCEAQ	��I=B�=B�8A<�:�E=B<�AJ�C>C@9�H=@D�9AK�F:9�J=8D�=8�<I=B�EA;:<=A8R�
8A@�:�GK:@:8<CC�<I:<�C>C@9�H=@D�A8�<I=B�E=B<�Q=EE�HC�JAK8D�=8�9AK@�?@AxC;<�:@C:	��A�BCC�Cy:;<�
EA;:<=A8B�AJ�QIC@C�H=@DC@B�:8D�<IC�GC8C@:E�?KHE=;�I:>C�B=GI<CD�H=@DB�=8�:8D�:@AK8D�9AK@�?@AxC;<�
:@C:R�>=B=<�<IC��zH=@D�D:<:�F:??=8G�<AAE�-�=?{�C8<C@�9AK@�EA;:<=A8R�DCB=@CD�D:<C�@:8GC�:8D�:�B?C;=CB�
A8�9AK@�E=B<.	�)A@�?@AxC;<B�<I:<�A;;K@�AJJ�<IC��<E:8<=;��A:B<R�:DD=<=A8:E�F:?B�:8D�FADCEB�DC<:=E=8G�
<IC�@CE:<=>C�A;;K@@C8;C�:8D�:HK8D:8;C�AJ�H=@D�B?C;=CB�A8�9AK@�E=B<�:@C�:>:=E:HEC	� =8|B�<A�
:DD=<=A8:E�=8JA@F:<=A8�:HAK<��<E:8<=;��A:B<�H=@DBR�:8D�A<IC@�=F?A@<:8<�=8JA@F:<=A8�:HAK<�9AK@�
F=G@:<A@9�H=@D�E=B<R�=8;EKD=8G�IAQ�<A�?@A?C@E9�=8<C@?@C<�:8D�KBC�9AK@�F=G@:<A@9�H=@D�@C?A@<R�;:8�HC�
JAK8D�HCEAQ	

)A@�GK=D:8;C�A8�QIC8�<A�B;ICDKEC�:;<=>=<=CB�A@�=F?ECFC8<�:>A=D:8;C�:8D�F=8=F=P:<=A8�FC:BK@CB�
<A�@CDK;C�=F?:;<B�<A�F=G@:<A@9�H=@DB�A8�9AK@�E=B<R�;E=;|�A8�<IC�&��!�!� ��$��)�&��"�����

�




168

Item 3.



���������� ���

� �

��		
������������������������������������������������ �����������������
�������!���������"�#�����$

%
	&
'�&&()%*
�&
�+%

'���&�!��,-./-001234.02565078-.23
9���������'�����:�����;�����:��#���<'::=����������>��������������������

��#���������&�!��
#������������������#�������������������������������#�����������

����;�����������#��;�����$

'�����+#�?@
��
�!A?

'��# B������:�# ��C655DE2340FD18F6718-.G23
9������'�����:�����;�����:��#���<'::=�����!����������!������#������������


���
��� �$

�����HII�#��$���$!�;I�#�I���#���IJAJJ

'�����	��?@
��+#�?K

'������ L6./586MDN46FDE/O6F23
9������'�����:�����;�����:��#���<'::=�����!����������!������#������������


���
��� �$

'�����	��PK
��Q��A?

:�����������C8-012F-470.-R/5-
9������'�����:�����;�����:��#���<'::=�����!����������!������#������������


���
��� �$

'�����	��?@
��
�!P@

&������S���B����B����TM1F6316G234O65/U0F23
9������'�����:�����;�����:��#���<'::=�����!����������!������#������������


���
��� �$

'�����	��?
��
�!PK

V�������������!�WF/MR-4U.-O/703
9������'�����:�����;�����:��#���<'::=�����!����������!������#������������


���
��� �$

�����HII�#��$���$!�;I�#�I���#���IJXYJ

'�����
���������

Z�����������S������[F616M61-F/-45/1F0-
9������'�����:�����;�����:��#���<'::=�����!����������!������#������������


���
��� �$

'�����
��?��
Q��A?

���B������S�����# ��\0.-M0F70340FD18F65078-.23
9������'�����:�����;�����:��#���<'::=�����!����������!������#������������


���
��� �$

'�����	��?K
�����?K

�����'��# ����]278-R2345-F6./M23
9������'�����:�����;�����:��#���<'::=�����������#����'���:�����;�������!����

<':��=�����#������������


'�����
���������

�����B������(����#���̂/GM6_F6G234RF/3023
9������'�����:�����;�����:��#���<'::=�����!����������!������#������������


���
��� �$

�����HII�#��$���$!�;I�#�I���#���IJ̀aK

'�����
���������

���������������b-F1F-G/-4.6MR/5-2_-
9������'�����:�����;�����:��#���<'::=�����������#����'���:�����;�������!����

<':��=�����#������������


�����HII�#��$���$!�;I�#�I���#���IJPJ̀

'�����	��?
��
�!A?

169

Item 3.



���������� ����

� �

��

	�


�

���
���������
������

������������� !"#$#%!&'()*+,!$-&
��.��.��/��.����0�1�2�3�4/5.�2�1�263�2�7�118�5����9���5�.5���/293�.2�5�3�6�25.2325/:�;���

/2���:/�</�

��33���/=��>�
5����9�
�

?@ABCBDEDFGHAIH?@JKJLMJHKNOOC@G
��3�9�/P���Q3:�R�P��4.�3�����Q3�5��2�3��5/2�.29��0�R�32�Q.�����0�6�263�2�/�3�S��5�:.<3:=�5��Q3�
P�3�325�.2�=����P��T365�/�3/����.��.20��S/5.�2�6/2�Q3���3��5��5/.:���/2���6�3��:3�=����P��T365�
/65.4.5.3��5��/4�.�����S.2.S.U3�.SP/65��5��Q.�����V:3/�3�S/<3����3�=����3/��/2���2�3��5/2��5�3�
W�X�YV��P3���253�P�35/5.�2�/2��;�3��0�Z����.9�/5��=��.����3P��5Y�Q30��3���.29����/553SP5.29�
5��.253�P�35�5�.���3P��5�

[\]̂_̂ à̀bcd]ed[\fgfhif�78

�/6��9�332�Q/���3P�3�325��5�3�Q.��j���3:/5.43�P��Q/Q.:.5=��0�P�3�3263�.2�5�3��><S�9�.��63::7�8�=����
P��T365��43�:/P�����.29�/�P/�5.6�:/��R33<��0�5�3�=3/���7��=3/��.���3P�3�3253��/���	�klR33<�
S�25���8���5/::3��Q/��.2�.6/53��/��.9�3��P��Q/Q.:.5=��0��P36.3��P�3�3263����3����43=�300��5�7�33�
Q3:�R8�6/2�Q3���3��5��3�5/Q:.���/�:343:��0�6�20.�3263�.2�5�3�P�3�3263��6��3���23�6/2��/43��.9�3��
6�20.�3263�.2�5�3�P�3�3263��6��3�.0�5�3�6���3�P�2�.29����43=�300��5�.��/:����.9��

m�R�.��5�3�P��Q/Q.:.5=��0�P�3�3263��6��3�6/:6�:/53�n���3�6/:6�:/5.�2�.����23�.2�5��33��53P�o

��3�P��Q/Q.:.5=��0�P�3�3263�0���3/6��R33<�.��6/:6�:/53��/��5�3�2�SQ3���0����43=�34325��.2�
5�3�R33<�R�3�3�5�3��P36.3��R/���353653���.4.�3��Q=�5�3�5�5/:�2�SQ3���0����43=�34325��0���
5�/5�R33<��W���3p/SP:3q�.0�.2�R33<��	�5�3�3�R3�3�	>����43=�34325��/2��5�3��P�553����R�33�
R/��0��2��.2�r��0�5�3Sq�5�3�P��Q/Q.:.5=��0�P�3�3263��0�5�3��P�553����R�33�.2�R33<��	�.��
>�	r�

���P��P3�:=�P�3�325�5�3�P/553�2��0�P�3�3263�/6�����5�3�=3/�q�5�3��3:/5.43�P��Q/Q.:.5=��0�
P�3�3263�.��6/:6�:/53�����.��.��5�3�P��Q/Q.:.5=��0�P�3�3263��.4.�3��Q=�5�3�S/p.S�S�
P��Q/Q.:.5=��0�P�3�3263�/6�����/::�R33<���W���3p/SP:3q�.S/9.23�5�3�P��Q/Q.:.5=��0�P�3�3263�
.2�R33<�	>�0���5�3��P�553����R�33�.��>�>rq�/2��5�/5�5�3�P��Q/Q.:.5=��0�P�3�3263�/5�R33<��	�
7>�	r8�.��5�3�S/p.S�S��0�/2=�R33<��0�5�3�=3/�����3��3:/5.43�P��Q/Q.:.5=��0�P�3�3263��2�
R33<��	�.��>�	rs>�	r�t��u�/5�R33<�	>�.5�.��>�>rs>�	r�t�>�	�

��3��3:/5.43�P��Q/Q.:.5=��0�P�3�3263�6/:6�:/53��.2�5�3�P�34.�����53P��2�3�9�3��/��5/5.�5.6/:�
6�243��.�2����5�/5�/::�P���.Q:3�4/:�3��0/::�Q35R332�>�/2���>q�.26:��.43����.��.��5�3�
P��Q/Q.:.5=��0�P�3�3263��6��3�

v\ffẁhxdyf_g]h�78
Z3::�R�Q/����32�53�/�43�=�:.Q3�/:�3�5.S/53��0�5�3�5.S3l0�/S3�.2�.�3�R�.6��5�3�Q.���Q�33���/6�����
.5��325.�3��/293���0�5�3�3�/�3�2��=3::�R�Q/������R2�0���/�Q.��q�.5���3��2�5�Q�33��.2�=����P��T365�
/�3/�

yz\{fcd|ee]\b�78
}3�5.6/:�Q:/6<�:.23����P3�.SP��3���2�P��Q/Q.:.5=��0�P�3�3263�Q/���.2�.6/53�5�3�2�SQ3���0����43=��
P3�0��S3��0���5�/5��P36.3��.2�5�3��><S�9�.��63::7�8�=����P��T365�/�3/��43�:/P�����3�2�SQ3���0�
���43=��.��3pP�3��3��/��/��/293q�0���3p/SP:3q�

�5��~k����43=��

170

Item 3.



���������� ����

� �

��	�
�������������	�������
������	����	���������	���������

������� !"
# $%%& '( )*+&%, *( -*.'/0 /1 ,*2* '3 2-%+% $%+% /1 (4+.%5 %.%/2( 31+ 2-*2 $%%&6

789:;<�=>?;@9�?;
A4+.%5( 3+1) 1/B5 2-% B*(2 CD 5%*+( *+% 4(%, '/ 1+,%+ 21 %/(4+% ,%B'.%+5 13 E4++%/2B5 +%B%.*/2 
'/31+)*2'1/6 F-% %GE%H2'1/ 21 2-'( '( *+%*( 133 2-% #2B*/2'E E1*(2I $-%+% J'+, +%24+/( *+% J*(%, 1/ 
*BB 5%*+( 13 *.*'B*JB% ,*2*I ('/E% ,*2* '/ 2-%(% *+%*( '( E4++%/2B5 )4E- )1+% (H*+(%6

AKLMNLA O#P QLR S#T #KT S#U OVP OVW #VX ALK YMF PYZ [LM

R*B, L*0B%
P1/\RMM 
Z4B/%+*JB%

RB*E&\J'BB%, 
M4E&11
RMM T*/0%$',% 
!MYP"

R1J1B'/&
RMM T*/0%$',% 
!MYP"

M-')/%5 A$'32
RMM T*/0%$',% 
!MYP"

L*(2%+/ ]-'H\H11+\ 
$'BB
RMM T*/0%$',% 
!MYP"

W%((%+ U%BB1$B%0(
RMM T*/0%$',% 
!MYP"

K+12-1/12*+5 
]*+JB%+
RMM T*/0%$',% 
!MYP"

T%,\-%*,%, 
]11,H%E&%+
RMM T*/0%$',% 
!MYP"

T4(25 RB*E&J'+,
RMM \ RMT

A-1+2\J'BB%, 
[1$'2E-%+
RMM T*/0%$',% 
!MYP"

171

Item 3.



���������� ����

� �

�

�

�

�	
������	�	��
���������

����������
�������������
�� !"

#�$����
���%��&�$����'���(��%����������$���%�

������
��)�*

������%�������+�$�������'�����$$	�*,,���-%��-��+,	�����&,&����$��.�(���,�	�'���

/��������%����+���������&���&�0�����&	�'$��$��(�����$$	�*,,���-%��-��+,
�(���.,�
'�

�'$����,�+���������&���&�0������'���$�
�$�)��&����$��.�(���

!�$�������'�����+�$����&��������%���(�����$$	�*,,���-%��-��+,��$��,�%��
$,%�
��,�
�'�&��$�,��$��������$�����'�����+�$����&�������-	%

1234567489:24;<9=5>
?@AABC@BCDE@BFGDHIBJDKL@EMFINDKBC@FLHE@LBOBJFKBNCPA@C@KIBIDBFMDNQBDEBCNKNCNR@BNCPFJILB
IDBCNSEFIDETBGNEQLU�
!�$�������������+�$����/����������'��(���&��������$��$�'�����
	��+������&���&�0��
�&	�'$��$���

�(�����$���.�
�'�$����.��������-�V&	
�&��$�$�����%�$�����&�����������	��$�'�
��
.�
�&	��$��$������(��������&��$�
�)�
.�$���''������$���	��W�'$�����-������(����&�.�(��(����������
$�������X����$�%.����$���
�'�$������%���.��'$�+�����$������+������$�������$��'$���������+��.�
��
	%�
��&	�'$�&���&�0�$����&������-�������������(��������&��$�
�)�
.�$���''������(��(�������
���.����	��W�'$�����X�+����$���Y��(�(�
�$.��%�Y�����'����&&��.-�#�$����
�&�����������	��&�$��
&�.�(���+���(
���	���������$���$.	���%��'$�+�$.�.�������'���'$�������$���$.	���%�
��%���$��'$�������(����	�'����	�����$����.����	��W�'$���$�-

Z[FIBQD@LBO\F]BHL@BIDBS@K@EFI@BI[@BANLIBD̂BCNSEFIDETBGNEQLBI[FIBPDI@KINFAATBDJJHEBNKBCTB
LP@JN̂N@QBADJFINDK_�
����/����$��.�����������'��̀��$����'�&	������%���a���������%�������+�$�������'����
����"�����$�����	�'����$��$�&�.�������$��	�'��
��$$��$�������.����	��W�'$�
�'�$���-

����&����$��.�(���
��$�������$��%���.����	��W�'$�������+��%��&��$��	��+���(.�$���#+����
b���
����!�$���)��#b!"-�����#b!��$�����(�����������������'�

�'$�����%����+�.X�(�����X�
���'�$�0����'���'���$���$��������c���������%�
$����$����$������
��$��%�$�����(������	��$�����
�''����������$���de)&�����'�

��"����'��.����	��W�'$���$����'$�X����$��$���+��(�������$�%������
������$�����	�'��
��$$��$����(�'�����$��.������������	�'�������$��$�����X�������
���f��
��#'$�
��c����&��$��&�.��		
."X�������	�'����$��$�������	��$�'�
���+�
����(�
�$.�$���%%�������'$�+�$�������
�+�
�	&��$-

#����X�$���/����$��.�����������'��
��$���'
������
.�����(��$��%�(����$��$�&�.��''������.����
	��W�'$�����-�V$������$���	�����$�$�+���%��

�(����$��$�&�.��''������.����	��W�'$�����-������$���
��$�
�%��

�(����	�$��$��

.�	�����$����.����	��W�'$�����X�	
�����+���$�$�����	��#+����V�%��&�$����
�̀'�$�����#V̀"����
-

172

Item 3.



���������� ����

� �

��

	�


�

�������������������������������������������� �������!�������� �������"��������������
������������!!����������"�����!� ������!����#$
%&'$()*+,+-.-/0$*1$()'2'34'$5),(&2$,22*4-,/'6$7-/&$0*8)$9-5),/*)0$+-)6$.-2/$,)'$+,2'6$*3$6,/,$
()*:-6'6$+0$/&'$;:-,3$<3*7.'65'$='/7*)>$?;<=@�$%&-2$6,/,$-2$6')-:'6$1)*9$,$5)*7-35$
4*..'4/-*3$*1$28):'0A$+,36-35A$,36$4-/-B'3$24-'34'$6,/,2'/2�

C)*+,+-.-/0$*1$()'2'34'$6,/,$-2$4*3/-38*82.0$+'-35$8(6,/'6$,2$3'7$,36$+'//')$-31*)9,/-*3$
+'4*9'2$,:,-.,+.'�$%*$.',)3$9*)'$,+*8/$&*7$/&'$()*+,+-.-/0$*1$()'2'34'$5),(&2$,)'$()*684'6$,36$
&*7$/*$-3/')()'/$/&'9A$5*$/&'$C)*+,+-.-/0$*1$C)'2'34'$D899,)0$,36$/&'3$4.-4>$*3$/&'$E%'..$9'$
,+*8/$/&'2'$5),(&2E$.-3>�

F�G������H��G�� ������������������I�G������������"�����������"����#$
%*$2''$7&,/$(,)/$*1$,$(,)/-48.,)$+-)6J2$),35'$0*8)$()*K'4/$,)',$1,..2$7-/&-3$?-�'�$+)''6-35A$
7-3/')-35A$9-5),/-35$*)$0',)L)*836@A$0*8$9,0$M8')0$0*8)$.*4,/-*3$82-35$/&'$N;OP$%**.$,36$.**>$
,/$/&'$),35'$9,(2$()*:-6'6$1*)$+-)62$-3$0*8)$,)',$,/$/&'$+*//*9$*1$/&'$()*1-.'2$()*:-6'6$1*)$',4&$
+-)6$-3$0*8)$)'28./2�$O1$,$+-)6$*3$0*8)$9-5),/*)0$+-)6$2('4-'2$.-2/$&,2$,$+)''6-35$2',2*3$,22*4-,/'6$
7-/&$-/A$-1$/&,/$+-)6$6*'2$*448)$-3$0*8)$()*K'4/$,)',A$/&')'$9,0$+'$3'2/2$()'2'3/$,/$2*9'$(*-3/$
7-/&-3$/&'$/-9'1),9'$2('4-1-'6�$O1$EQ)''62$'.2'7&')'E$-2$-36-4,/'6A$/&'3$/&'$+-)6$.->'.0$6*'2$3*/$
+)''6$-3$0*8)$()*K'4/$,)',�

�������������R����� �!��!���� ���"�������������#$
S-5),/*)0$+-)62$6'.-:')'6$/&)*85&$OC,T$1,..$-3/*$/&'$1*..*7-35$6-2/-34/$4,/'5*)-'2$*1$4*34')3U

EQTT$N,35'7-6'E$+-)62$,)'$Q-)62$*1$T*32'):,/-*3$T*34')3$?QTT@$/&,/$,)'$*1$4*34')3$
/&)*85&*8/$/&'-)$),35'$,307&')'$7-/&-3$/&'$VD;$?-34.86-35$W,7,--A$/&'$C,4-1-4$O2.,362A$
C8')/*$N-4*A$,36$/&'$X-)5-3$O2.,362@Y

EQTT$L$QTNE$+-)62$,)'$QTT2$/&,/$,)'$*1$4*34')3$*3.0$-3$(,)/-48.,)$Q-)6$T*32'):,/-*3$
N'5-*32$?QTN2@$-3$/&'$4*3/-3'3/,.$VD;Y$,36

E=*3LQTT$L$X8.3'),+.'E$+-)62$,)'$3*/$QTT$2('4-'2$-3$0*8)$()*K'4/$,)',A$+8/$,((',)$*3$
0*8)$.-2/$'-/&')$+'4,82'$*1$/&'$Z,5.'$;4/$)'M8-)'9'3/2$?1*)$',5.'2@$*)$?1*)$3*3L',5.'2@$
(*/'3/-,.$2824'(/-+-.-/-'2$-3$*112&*)'$,)',2$1)*9$4')/,-3$/0('2$*1$6':'.*(9'3/$*)$,4/-:-/-'2$
?'�5�$*112&*)'$'3')50$6':'.*(9'3/$*)$.*35.-3'$1-2&-35@�

;./&*85&$-/$-2$-9(*)/,3/$/*$/)0$/*$,:*-6$,36$9-3-9-B'$-9(,4/2$/*$,..$+-)62A$'11*)/2$2&*8.6$+'$9,6'A$
-3$(,)/-48.,)A$/*$,:*-6$,36$9-3-9-B'$-9(,4/2$/*$/&'$+-)62$*3$/&-2$.-2/A$'2('4-,..0$',5.'2$,36$QTT$
2('4-'2$*1$),35'7-6'$4*34')3�$[*)$9*)'$-31*)9,/-*3$*3$4*32'):,/-*3$9',28)'2$0*8$4,3$
-9(.'9'3/$/*$&'.($,:*-6$,36$9-3-9-B'$9-5),/*)0$+-)6$-9(,4/2$,36$)'M8-)'9'3/2$1*)$',5.'2A$
(.',2'$2''$/&'$[;\2$1*)$/&'2'$/*(-42�

]�����������������������������������  �!��������  ���������̂�!��$
[*)$,66-/-*3,.$6'/,-.2$,+*8/$/&'$)'.,/-:'$*448))'34'$,36$,+836,34'$*1$+*/&$-36-:-68,.$+-)6$2('4-'2$
,36$5)*8(2$*1$+-)6$2('4-'2$7-/&-3$0*8)$()*K'4/$,)',$*11$/&'$;/.,3/-4$T*,2/A$(.',2'$:-2-/$/&'$
=*)/&',2/$_4',3$̀,/,$C*)/,.�$%&'$C*)/,.$,.2*$*11')2$6,/,$,36$-31*)9,/-*3$,+*8/$*/&')$/,a,$+'2-6'2$
+-)62$/&,/$9,0$+'$&'.(18.$/*$0*8$-3$0*8)$()*K'4/$)':-'7�$;./')3,/'.0A$0*8$9,0$6*73.*,6$/&'$+-)6$
9*6'.$)'28./2$1-.'2$836').0-35$/&'$(*)/,.$9,(2$/&)*85&$/&'$=_;;$=TT_D$O3/'5),/-:'$D/,/-2/-4,.$
S*6'.-35$,36$C)'6-4/-:'$S,((-35$*1$S,)-3'$Q-)6$̀-2/)-+8/-*32$,36$;+836,34'$*3$/&'$;/.,3/-4$
_8/')$T*3/-3'3/,.$D&'.1$()*K'4/$7'+(,5'�

173

Item 3.



���������� ����

� �

�

	
�������
�����������������
�����
�
��������
�����������������������
������
������������������
�����
���
����
�� !���������
��������������������
��������
�

�"�����
�� #�����
�
����
�"�����
�������
���
�������
�������������$
�
��	
��%����
�����������������
�����������&����%�
������'��(��
�� 

)*+,-./-0-*+12-2+3425-67-89-4.5,:
;"�������<���������������
�����
��������
�������������������������
������
������
�
�
����
�����=����>������������
����������� 

?@6A2@-07,2@A@2,+,.67-+7B-C52-6/-D6E@-F.3@+,6@9-G.@B-H2A6@,
I���
��������
���
�����������
������
���"����
���
��������<��������������������"
�
����"��
��
��������� I�����������������J�����
��
��������������������
���"��

����
"�
��J���������
��������
��������<��������������������#>KLM�������;'�&
�����������������
��������
���������
����������
��
�������
"
�������
��L '�������
�J�����
�����������
������L������
�
���"��������L�"�
���J
��
����NO����
�����P�Q����
��������������<���R��������S������<���"�����
�� T��������������
������������������
����"����������������""���P
��
�������������������
������Q���"������S
�������"���L��
����L
��
�����P�������
U��������Q >�
���������""���
���������������� ;"���������
�""���
��
����������������
�
���"�������������������
�J������������������ ;�
������������J�������""����������������������������"�������������"����������"
�����
�����������������"�������
�� I�
��
��
�������"���R
�
��
����������
����
��"��

����
"�
��J����
����"��������������������
������
��������<��������J��������
���
�����������
"�����
����������
��PJ�
�������������
������������Q I���
����������
���JJ���������"�������"
���������������������
�����
����J
��J�����
��������
���������
���������������
����
�
�
U�������
��
������"����������<������
�
�
���
�������������������"
���� I������������������������
������������
�
����#>KLI���
����������������
����������;���
�������������
����
�
�
U�
���������
�������
�
���L������������"�����
��������
�������������������� 

VWXYZ[\]
;��������̂M;J����������������_���
����
������������<������������
�������%���
��
Ò̀�"���&����M����>����������%����a#�������������� 

#������
�"�����
������������������b���������'�������"��������c % >���&�����"
=��
�����$
���
�� 

'����������������̂M;������
�����J����������"���� M�������������J���
����
���������̂M;������� M����������������
"�������������J
����
���
�
���������
��
����������S�����"J����������
�� 

#b=%dM>I=b=!=be=̂ IM=I(>̂ $

'=!N&

174

Item 3.



���������� ����

� �

�	
����������
���������
����
������������� �!" �#$%&��&#!'��(
)�*�� �+�*!" �� ���
�++��##�,--!./!0&1!.&���&2!.$3&�!4
"3&�� 5�#!4 3��#
.&�&�� '�
637� 8-9-:
;*�3% ��� �� ���<&����� �(� *
=1 ��� 8>8?@@9>A@

175

Item 3.



176

Item 3.



177

Item 3.



178

Item 3.



�

�

�

�

���������	�

�
������

�

�

�

179

Item 3.



�
���������������	����
����������������������������

� ����������
������������
���
������������������

�

���������� !"����#��$#� !"��������� %&'�
�

�
(�����') *+,- ./ 01, 23455647895:3;<=513;< >,2,040+.7 .7 01, 7.301-,50 ?.30+.7 ./ 01, 5+0,@ 

�
(�����A) *+,- ./ 4 5?6+0 03,, 0140 B4C <, 5;+04<6, 14<+040 /.3 01, DEF <405 5?,:+,5@ D1+5 03,, 

-45 6.:40,8 7,43 01, 834+742, /,40;3, .7 01, 7.301-,50 ?.30+.7 ./ 01, 5+0,@ �

180

Item 3.



�
���������������	����
����������������������������

� ����������
������������
���
������������������

�

���������� !"����#��$#� !"��������� %&'�
�

�
(�����)* +,-. /0 12- 34567832567 9-:-1;1,/< 4=/3-5 1/ 12- >5;,<;:- 0-;165- /< 12- </512.-31 

?/51,/< /0 12- 3,1-@  
�

�

(�����A* +,-. /0 1./ >-;> 15--3 12;1 B;C 7- 36,1;7=- 2;7,1;1 0/5 12- DEF 7;1 3?-4,-3@ D2-3- 
15--3 .-5- =/4;1-> /< 12- </51284-<15;= ?/51,/< /0 12- 3,1-@  

�

181

Item 3.



�
���������������	����
����������������������������

� ����������
������������
���
������������������

�

���������� !"����#��$#� !"��������� %&'�
�

�
(�����)* +,-. /0 12- 345667589:6;4<=>624<= ?-3-151,/8 7/;51-9 /8 ;-81457>8/412>;-81457 

@/41,/8 /0 12- 6,1-A   
�

�
(�����B* +,-. /0 6-?-457 -561-48 ;/11/8.//9 14--6:68536 1251 C5D =- 6<,15=7- 25=,151 0/4 

12- EFG =51 6@-;,-6A E2-6- 14--6 .-4- 7/;51-9 /8 12- ;-81457 @/41,/8 /0 12- 6,1-A 
 

182

Item 3.



�
���������������	����
����������������������������

� ����������
������������
���
������������������

�

���������� !"����#��$#� !"��������� %&'�
�

�
(�����)* +,-. /0 12- 345667589 25:,151 /8 12- 6/;12-561 </41,/8 /0 12- 6,1-= 

�

�
(�����>* +,-. /0 5 9-59 14-- 1251 ?5@ :- 6;,15:7- 25:,151 0/4 12- ABC :51 6<-D,-6= A2,6 14-- 

.56 7/D51-9 /8 12- 6/;12-561 </41,/8 /0 12- 6,1-= �

183

Item 3.



�
���������������	����
����������������������������

� ����������
������������
���
������������������

�

���������� !"����#��$#� !"��������� %&'�
�

�

�
(�����)* +,-. /0 12- 345678325679.//:;<=:3 /= 12- 3/61284-=15<; >/51,/= /0 12- 3,1-? 

�

�
(�����@A* +,-. /0 12- 34567832567 B-C-1<1,/= /= 12- 3/612-5=D/31 >/51,/= /0 12- 3,1-? 

�

184

Item 3.



185

Item 3.



186

Item 3.



187

Item 3.



188

Item 3.



189

Item 3.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 

 

 TO: Planning & Zoning Commission 

 FROM: Karen Howard, AICP, Planning & Community Services Manager 

 DATE: November 6, 2024 

 SUBJECT: Renewal of the College Hill Self-Supported Municipal Improvement 

  District (SSMID) 

______________________________________________________________________ 

PETITIONER: College Hill Partnership (Lead Agency) 

LOCATION:   College Hill Commercial District 

______________________________________________________________________ 

Evaluative Report for the Cedar Falls City Council on the Merit and Feasibility of 
Renewing the College Hill Self-Supported Municipal Improvement District 

 
PROPOSAL 
 
In accordance with Iowa Code Chapter 386, the College Hill Partnership has submitted 
a petition to the City of Cedar Falls for the renewal of the College Hill Self-Supported 
Municipal Improvement District (SSMID). The purpose for the creation of the College 
Hill SSMID is to provide funding to pay the ongoing administrative and support costs for 
the services and functioning of the College Hill Partnership, which develops and 
encourages retail businesses by way of promotion and support for existing businesses, 
area improvements, and for healthy growth and development consistent with the long 
term goals for the College Hill business district.  
 
Attached is the memo and petition submitted by the College Hill Partnership. The 
requirement for approval of a SSMID is support by petition from a minimum of 25% of 
the unique property owners representing 25% of the total valuation of the District. The 
Partnership submitted signatures from over 45% of the total number of unique property 
owners, which represent over 45% of the total valuation within the area covered by the 
SSMID, so their petition meets the threshold for renewal of the SSMID. 
 
The self-imposed tax upon property within the SSMID area will remain the same at 
$2.75 per $1000 of net taxable valuation per year, commencing with the levy for tax 
collection in the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2025 and continuing to the fiscal year 

190

Item 4.



ending on June 30, 2030. All tax revenue collected from properties subject to the 
additional tax will be deposited into the College Hill Self-Supported Municipal 
Improvement District Fund for the operational purposes of the College Hill Partnership 
as stated above. It should be noted that residential property within the District is not 
subject to the additional tax.   
 
BACKGROUND AND ANALYSIS 
 
This memorandum serves as the Evaluative Report for City Council the Merit and 
Feasibility of the College Hill Self-Supported Municipal Improvement District. The 
following attachments are supporting documentation used in the development of this 
Evaluative Report:  
 

 A letter from the College Hill Partnership requesting renewal of the SSMID with a 
summary of the necessary signatures of support received to meet the State 
requirements for renewal of the SSMID;  

 

 A spreadsheet that includes all 41 commercial properties and the respective 
owners of those properties that are located within the boundaries of the SSMID 
and subject to the additional tax.  Those deedholders highlighted in the 
spreadsheet are those who have signed the petition of support. The spreadsheet 
indicates both the percentage of unique property owners who have signed the 
petition and the percentage of valuation those properties represent within the 
SSMID; 

  

 Copies of the signed petitions; 
 

 Map illustrating the location and boundaries of the SSMID.  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
Staff recommends the following actions be taken by the Planning & Zoning 
Commission:  
 

1. Approval and endorsement of this Planning & Zoning Commission Evaluative 
Report for the City Council on the Merit and Feasibility of the Renewal of the 
College Hill Self-Supported Municipal Improvement District; and  
 

2. Recommendation of the Planning & Zoning that City Council proceeds to set 
public hearing for consideration of the renewal of the College Hill Self-Supported 
Municipal Improvement District.  
 

PLANNING & ZONING COMMMISSION ACTIONS 
 
11/06/24 Meeting -   
 

191

Item 4.



192

Item 4.



193

Item 4.



194

Item 4.



195

Item 4.



196

Item 4.



197

Item 4.



198

Item 4.



199

Item 4.


	Top
	Item 1.	P&Z minutes
	10-09-2024 P and Z Minutes

	Item 2.	Rezoning - 2.68 Acres located south of 1st Street
	1. PZ Staff Report ME Assoc - PH 10-23-2024
	2. Location Map
	3. Rezoning Request Letter
	4. Legal Description
	5. Rezoning Exhibit
	6. Public Correspondence

	Item 3.	R-P District Master Plan Amendment - Meadow Ridge (MP24-004x)
	1. PZ Staff Report ME Assoc - R-P Plan Amend 10-23
	2. Location Map
	3. Letter to P&Z - Major R-P Site Plan Amendment
	4. 1994 R-P Plan
	5. R-P Revised Plan
	6. PRELIM-BINDER Arch Drawings
	7. Chronological Wetlands Delineations 2
	8. Regional Permit 2023-614 RGP 48
	9. Cedar Falls Thunder Ridge Traffic Report 06 26 2020
	10. Terracon - Threatened and Endangered Review 9-26-23
	11. Public Correspondence

	Item 4.	College Hill SSMID
	1. 2024 College Hill SSMID renewal - memo to PZ
	College Hill SSMID-Materials for PZ and Council2024

	Bottom

